
 

 

 

 
At: Aelodau’r  Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau 

Democrataidd 
Dyddiad: 

 
01 Tachwedd 2021 
 

 Rhif Union: 
 

01824 712589 

 ebost: democrataidd@sirddinbych.gov.uk 

 
 
Annwyl Gynghorydd 
 
Fe’ch gwahoddir i fynychu cyfarfod y PWYLLGOR GWASANAETHAU DEMOCRATAIDD, 
DYDD GWENER, 5 TACHWEDD 2021 am 10.00 am yn TRWY GYNHADLEDD FIDEO. 
 
Yn gywir iawn 
 
 
G Williams 
Pennaeth Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, AD a Democrataidd 
 
 
AGENDA 
 
1 YMDDIHEURIADAU   

 

2 DATGAN CYSYLLTIAD  (Tudalennau 3 - 4) 

 Yr Aelodau i ddatgan unrhyw gysylltiad personol neu gysylltiad sy'n rhagfarnu 
mewn unrhyw fater a nodwyd i'w ystyried yn y cyfarfod hwn. 
 

3 MATERION BRYS   

 Hysbysiad o eitemau y dylid, ym marn y Cadeirydd, eu hystyried yn y cyfarfod 
fel materion brys yn unol ag Adran 100B(4) Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972. 
 

4 COFNODION  (Tudalennau 5 - 10) 

 Derbyn cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a 
gynhaliwyd ar 12 Mawrth 2021 (copi ynghlwm). 
 

5 CYNIGION I AELODAU FABWYSIADU FFYRDD NEWYDD O WEITHIO  
(Tudalennau 11 - 30) 

 Ystyried adroddiad ar y cynigion a grëwyd drwy waith Grŵp Tasg a Gorffen 
Ffyrdd Newydd o Weithio Aelodau ac a fwriedir i fod yn berthnasol i’r Cyngor 
newydd yn dilyn yr etholiadau ym mis Mai 2022 (copi ynghlwm). 
 
 

Pecyn Dogfen Cyhoeddus



 

6 AMRYWIAETH MEWN DEMOCRATIAETH  (Tudalennau 31 - 70) 

 Ystyried adroddiad ar waith Cymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol Cymru (CLlLC) fel 
rhan o’i Raglen Amrywiaeth mewn Democratiaeth (copi ynghlwm). 
 

7 RÔL CEFNOGWR POBL IFANC  (Tudalennau 71 - 84) 

 
Ystyried adroddiad ar gynigion i greu rôl Cefnogwr Pobl Ifanc (copi ynghlwm). 

8 ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL DRAFFT AR BANEL ANNIBYNNOL CYMRU 
AR GYDNABYDDIAETH ARIANNOL 2022-2023  (Tudalennau 85 - 174) 

 Ystyried adroddiad ar adroddiad blynyddol drafft Panel Annibynnol Cymru ar 
Gydnabyddiaeth Ariannol (y Panel) ar gyfer y flwyddyn ddinesig 2022-2023 
(copi ynghlwm).  
 

9 RHAGLEN GWAITH I'R DYFODOL  (Tudalennau 175 - 180) 

 Ystyried Rhaglen Gwaith i'r Dyfodol y Pwyllgor (copi ynghlwm).  
 
 

 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Y Cynghorwyr 
 
Joan Butterfield 
Rachel Flynn 
Hugh Irving 
Gwyneth Kensler 
Christine Marston 
 

Bob Murray 
Andrew Thomas 
Rhys Thomas 
Graham Timms 
Joe Welch 
 

 
COPIAU I’R: 
 
Holl Gynghorwyr er gwybodaeth 
Y Wasg a’r Llyfrgelloedd 
Cynghorau Tref a Chymuned  



 
 
 
DEDDF LLYWODRAETH LEOL 2000 

 

 

 
Cod Ymddygiad Aelodau 
 

DATGELU A CHOFRESTRU BUDDIANNAU 
 
  

Rwyf i, 
(enw) 

  

  

*Aelod /Aelod cyfetholedig o 
(*dileuer un) 

Cyngor Sir Ddinbych   

 
 

 

YN CADARNHAU fy mod wedi datgan buddiant *personol / personol a 
sy’n rhagfarnu nas datgelwyd eisoes yn ôl darpariaeth Rhan III cod 
ymddygiad y Cyngor Sir i Aelodau am y canlynol:- 
(*dileuer un) 

Dyddiad Datgelu:   

   

Pwyllgor (nodwch):   

   

Agenda eitem   

   

Pwnc:   

   

Natur y Buddiant: 

(Gweler y nodyn isod)* 

 

 

 

 
 

 

   

Llofnod    

   

Dyddiad   

 

Noder: Rhowch ddigon o fanylion os gwelwch yn dda, e.e. 'Fi yw perchennog y tir sy’n gyfagos i'r cais 
ar gyfer caniatâd cynllunio a wnaed gan Mr Jones', neu 'Mae fy ngŵr / ngwraig yn un o weithwyr y 
cwmni sydd wedi gwneud cais am gymorth ariannol'. 

Tudalen 3

Eitem Agenda 2



Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



 

PWYLLGOR GWASANAETHAU DEMOCRATAIDD 
 
Cofnodion Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a gynhaliwyd TRWY GYFRWNG 
FIDEO GYNHADLEDD ddydd Gwener, 12 Mawrth 2021 am 10.00am 
 

YN BRESENNOL 
 

Y Cynghorwyr Rachel Flynn, Hugh Irving, Alan James (Cadeirydd), Gwyneth Kensler, 
Christine Marston, Andrew Thomas, Rhys Thomas, Graham Timms a/ac Joe Welch 
 
Arsylwyr: Y Cynghorwyr Meirick Lloyd Davies a Brian Jones. 
 

HEFYD YN BRESENNOL 

 
Pennaeth Y Gyfraith, Adnoddau Dynol a Gwasanaethau Democrataidd (GW), Rheolwr 
Gwasanaethau Democrataidd (SP) a Gweinyddwyr Pwyllgorau (SJ a RTJ) 
 

 
1 YMDDIHEURIADAU  

 
Cafodd y Cadeirydd wybod y byddai'r Cynghorydd Hugh Irving yn ymuno â’r 
cyfarfod yn nes ymlaen oherwydd ymrwymiadau eraill.  
 

2 DATGANIADAU O FUDDIANT  
 
Ni ddatganwyd unrhyw gysylltiad. 
 

3 MATERION BRYS  
 
Ni chodwyd unrhyw fater brys. 
 

4 COFNODION  
 
Cyflwynwyd cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a 
gynhaliwyd ar 02 Hydref 2020 i’w cymeradwyo. 
 
Penderfynwyd: - derbyn a chymeradwyo cofnodion cyfarfod y Pwyllgor 
Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a gynhaliwyd ar 02 Hydref 2020 fel cofnod cywir. 
 

5 CYLCH GORCHWYL GRWP ARDAL AELODAU  
 
Cyflwynodd y Rheolwr Gwasanaethau Democrataidd adroddiad (a ddosbarthwyd 
ymlaen llaw) oedd yn sôn am adolygu a diweddaru’r cylch gorchwyl ar gyfer 
Grwpiau Ardal yr Aelodau. Roedd y mater yn cael ei gyflwyno i’r pwyllgor yn dilyn 
sylwadau gan aelodau yn ddiweddar, gan bod diffyg manylion yn y cylch gorchwyl 
presennol.  
 
Cafodd yr aelodau wybod bod y telerau drafft ynghlwm yn Atodiad Un yr adroddiad. 
Rhoddodd y Rheolwr Gwasanaethau Democrataidd sicrwydd mai fersiwn cynnar 
iawn oedd y drafft, a byddai’n cael ei gyflwyno i'r Uwch Dîm Arweinyddiaeth, gan 

Pecyn Dogfen Cyhoeddus

Tudalen 5

Eitem Agenda 4



bod uwch swyddogion yn chwarae rhan allweddol yng nghyfarfodydd Grŵp Ardal 
Aelodau. Yna byddai’r adroddiad yn mynd i’r Pwyllgor Llywodraethu Corfforaethol 
ac Archwilio, ac yna yn y pendraw, byddai’n mynd i’r Cyngor. Fe awgrymodd y 
pwyllgor y byddai’n syniad da petai’r cylch gorchwyl yn mynd i bob Grŵp Ardal yr 
Aelodau. 
 
Cafodd y mapiau yn yr adroddiad eu hamlinellu, roeddynt yn hen a byddent yn cael 
eu diweddaru er mwyn adlewyrchu ardaloedd y Grwpiau Ardal Aelodau presennol 
maes o law. Atgoffwyd yr aelodau nad oedd y grwpiau yn grwpiau oedd yn gwneud 
penderfyniadau, rôl gynghori ar faterion lleol oedd gan y grwpiau, heb unrhyw 
bwerau dirprwyedig.  
 
Fe aeth y pwyllgor trwy’r Cylch Gorchwyl newydd gan dynnu sylw at feysydd o 
ddiddordeb yn fersiwn ddrafft y Cylch Gorchwyl. 
 

 Aelodaeth – Ar y cyfan roedd y pwyllgor yn teimlo bod aelodaeth yn 
ddryslyd, y rheswm am hyn oedd bod y mapiau'n hen, ond byddai rhai o'r 
pentrefi bychain yn cyfuno â threfi y tu allan i ardal Grŵp Ardal Aelodau. 
Cafodd Grŵp Ardal Aelodau Dyffryn Dyfrdwy ei drafod gan mai tri aelod 
oedd yn mynychu’r cyfarfod ar hyn o bryd, roedd aelodau’n teimlo y byddai’r 
Grŵp Ardal yn elwa trwy gynyddu’r ardal o ddylanwad. Dywedodd Rheolwr 
Gwasanaethau Democrataidd y byddai yna bedwerydd aelod etholedig ar 
gyfer Grŵp Ardal Aelodau Dyffryn Dyfrdwy ac roedd dau aelod o Grŵp Ardal 
Aelodau Rhuthun yn cael eu gwahodd i gyfarfodydd Grŵp Ardal Aelodau 
Dyffryn Dyfrdwy, ond anaml yr oeddynt yn mynychu.  

 Cadeirydd ac Is-gadeirydd – Nid oedd unrhyw sylwadau gan y pwyllgor 
ynghylch penodi Cadeiryddion ac Is-gadeiryddion.  

 Pleidleisio - Croesawodd y pwyllgor yr wybodaeth oedd yn y cylch gorchwyl 
gan fod pleidleisio yng Ngrwpiau Ardal yr Aelodau ar hyn o bryd yn seiliedig 
ar gonsensws cyffredinol. Serch hynny, gan fod niferoedd amrywiol ym mhob 
Grŵp Ardal, roedd aelodau yn teimlo y dylid cyflwyno dull canran o 
bleidleisio er tegwch yn hytrach na dull mwyafrif o bleidleisio.  

 Cworwm – Nid oedd yna sylwadau gan y pwyllgor ynglŷn ag agwedd 
cworwm y cylch gorchwyl. 

 Rhaglenni Gwaith i’r Dyfodol – Dywedodd y Rheolwr Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd ei bod hi’n fanteisiol i gyfleu cymaint o wybodaeth â phosibl 
pan roeddynt eisiau i eitemau gael eu cynnwys yn y rhaglen gwaith i'r 
dyfodol, byddai hyn yn sicrhau bod pob swyddog yn deall beth oedd yn cael 
ei ofyn. 

 Presenoldeb ac Arsylwadau mewn cyfarfodydd Grŵp Ardal Aelodau a 
Chefnogaeth ar gyfer y Grwpiau Ardal Aelodau – Ni drafodwyd mwy ar y 
ddau eitem yn y cylch gorchwyl na’r manylion sydd wedi’u cynnwys yn yr 
adroddiad.  

 Dosbarthu a Mynediad at Ddogfennau – Gofynnodd y pwyllgor a oedd 
modd dosbarthu’r dogfennau ar gyfer Grwpiau Ardal Aelodau gyda phobl y tu 
allan i'r cyfarfodydd. Roedd y pwyllgor yn teimlo y byddai rhai o’r dogfennau 
oedd yn cael eu rhannu gyda’r Grwpiau Ardal Aelodau o fudd i bobl leol. 
Roedd y pwyllgor yn teimlo y dylai dogfennau’r Grŵp Ardal ddynodi a oedd y 
ddogfen yn gyfrinachol. Yna dylai Aelodau’r grŵp allu teimlo bod rhwydd hynt 
iddynt rannu dogfennau sydd heb eu marcio’n gyfrinachol.  

Tudalen 6



 Ffilmio a Defnyddio Cyfryngau Cymdeithasol yn ystod Cyfarfodydd – 
Roedd y pwyllgor yn teimlo na ddylid caniatáu ffilmio a defnyddio Cyfryngau 
Cymdeithasol yn ystod cyfarfodydd Grwpiau Ardal yr Aelodau, yn groes i 
fersiwn ddrafft y cylch gorchwyl oedd yn nodi y dylai’r mwyafrif gytuno gyntaf.  

 
Gofynnodd y pwyllgor a fyddai rhai o gyfarfodydd anffurfiol aelodau Grŵp Ardal yn 
dilyn yr un rheolau o fewn y cylch gorchwyl. Fe eglurodd y Rheolwr Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd na fyddai angen iddynt ddilyn y rheolau gan mai ymgasglu fel 
aelodau eraill Grŵp Ardal Aelodau oeddynt, ac nid cyfarfodydd Grŵp Ardal 
Aelodau.  
 
PENDERFYNWYD  
 

(i) Bod y pwyllgor yn cymeradwyo fersiwn ddrafft y cylch gorchwyl ar gyfer 
ymgynghoriad pellach.  

(ii) Ymgynghori â Grwpiau Ardal yr Aelodau ar fersiwn ddrafft y cylch gorchwyl.  
 

6 ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL PANEL ANNIBYNNOL CYMRU AR 
GYDNABYDDIAETH ARIANNOL 2021 / 2022  
 
Cyflwynodd Rheolwr y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd adroddiad (a ddosbarthwyd 
ymlaen llaw) oedd yn ymwneud ag adroddiad blynyddol Panel Annibynnol Cymru ar 
Gydnabyddiaeth Ariannol (IRPW) 2020/21. Cyhoeddwyd yr adroddiad yma ym mis 
Chwefror 2020. 
 
Sefydlwyd Panel Annibynnol Cymru ar Gydnabyddiaeth Ariannol yn 2008. Cafodd 
cylch gwaith a swyddogaethau’r Panel eu hymestyn ym Mesur Llywodraeth Leol 
(Cymru) 2011. Mae cylch gwaith y Panel yn cynnwys cynghorwyr, aelodau o 
awdurdodau parciau cenedlaethol, awdurdodau tân ac achub Cymru a chynghorau 
tref a chymuned yn ogystal â chynghorau sir a bwrdeistref sirol. Mae'r Panel yn 
gallu pennu’r swm gwirioneddol y taliad y caiff awdurdod ei wneud i aelod a 
dyletswyddau a chyfrifoldebau a all wneud cynghorwyr yn gymwys i dderbyn 
taliadau. 
 
Eleni roedd y Panel wedi penderfynu darparu cynnydd o £150 i £14,368 y flwyddyn 
i gyflog sylfaenol bob Cynghorydd. Byddai uwch gyflogau’n cael eu cynyddu 1.06% 
i’r ffigurau a ddangosir yn nhabl 3 yr Adroddiad Blynyddol.  
 
Mae’r Panel yn bendant o’r farn nad yw cynnal gwerthoedd democrataidd 
llywodraeth leol yn ddigost. Roedd tâl a ariennir yn gyhoeddus ar gael i annog 
amrywiaeth o bobl leol bodlon a medrus i ymgymryd â rôl mewn llywodraeth leol, 
drwy eu swyddogaethau etholedig, penodedig neu gyfetholedig. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD  
 

(i) Bod y Pwyllgor yn nodi penderfyniadau Panel Annibynnol Cymru ar 
Gydnabyddiaeth Ariannol ar gyfer 2021-2022 mewn perthynas â thalu 
cyflogau a thaliadau i aelodau cyfetholedig. 

(ii) Bod y Pwyllgor yn nodi lefel y gefnogaeth a roddir i aelodau i ymgymryd â’u 
dyletswyddau, o ran ‘Penderfyniadau’ 9 a 10 a 40 yr Adroddiad Blynyddol. 

Tudalen 7



 
Ar y pwynt hwn (11.25 am) cafwyd egwyl o 10 munud. 
 
Ailddechreuodd y cyfarfod am 11.35am. 
 
 

7 CANLLAWIAU DIWYGIEDIG DRAFFT AR Y COD YMDDYGIAD  
 
Cyflwynodd y Swyddog Monitro Ymgynghoriad Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau 
Cyhoeddus Cymru – Canllawiau Diwygiedig Drafft ar y Cod Ymddygiad ar gyfer 
Aelodau o Gynghorau Sir, Tref, Dinas a Chymuned (a ddosbarthwyd ymlaen llaw). 
Roedd yr adroddiad yn sôn am ymgynghoriad gan Ombwdsmon Gwasanaethau 
Cyhoeddus Cymru, (yr Ombwdsman) ynghylch canllawiau drafft newydd i aelodau 
etholedig ar y Cod Ymddygiad.  
 
Cyhoeddwyd Canllawiau presennol yr Ombwdsman ar y Cod Ymddygiad i Aelodau 
ym mis Awst 2016. Lluniwyd y canllawiau i gynorthwyo aelodau i ddeall eu 
rhwymedigaethau dan y Cod Ymddygiad. Mae’r pwrpas yn parhau i fod yr un fath ar 
gyfer y drafft diweddaraf hefyd. 
 
Roedd y canllawiau diwygiedig drafft yn destun ymgynghoriad yn dilyn fformat 
tebyg i’r canllawiau blaenorol. Mae’n ymddangos bod y ddogfen wedi’i diwygio i 
gynnwys rhagor o eglurder ac mae rhagor o enghreifftiau wedi’u cynnwys i gefnogi 
hyn, mae’n bosibl y bydd aelodau’n eu hadnabod o fersiynau blaenorol o Lyfr 
Achosion y Cod Ymddygiad.  Mae’r canllawiau diwygiedig drafft yn teimlo’n fwy 
cyfoes na’r canllawiau sydd ar waith ar hyn o bryd ac mae’n debyg y byddant o 
gymorth i gynghorwyr presennol ac aelodau etholedig newydd yn 2022. Mae’n 
debyg y bydd y dogfennau hyn yn cynorthwyo â darparu hyfforddiant yn dilyn 
etholiadau 2022.  
 
Gwrthododd Panel Dyfarnu apêl gan Gynghorydd Cymuned yn erbyn penderfyniad 
pwyllgor safonau lleol ei fod wedi methu â dangos parch ac ystyriaeth o eraill trwy 
bostio sylwadau amrywiol ar-lein yn beirniadu'r aelodau eraill a’r ffordd roedd y 
Cyngor yn cael ei redeg. Casgliad yr Uchel Lys oedd er bod ei sylwadau yn goeglyd 
ac yn wawdiol a bod y tôn yn gwawdio ei gyd aelodau, “mynegiad gwleidyddol” 
oedd ei sylwadau gan fod mwyafrif y sylwadau yn ymwneud â'r ffordd roedd y 
Cyngor yn cael ei redeg, sut roedd ei benderfyniadau'n cael eu cofnodi, a 
chymhwysedd yr aelodau. Yn ôl y dyfarniad, ni roddwyd unrhyw ystyriaeth i’r angen 
bod rhaid i wleidyddion fod yn “groendew”.  
 
Yn yr ail achos, clywodd yr Uchel Lys apêl yn erbyn penderfyniad y Panel Dyfarnu 
bod aelod o gyngor sir wedi torri’r Cod 14 gwaith, trwy fethu â dangos parch ac 
ystyriaeth i swyddogion y Cyngor, defnyddio ymddygiad o fwlio, ceisio cyfaddawdu 
ar ddidueddrwydd swyddogion a dwyn anfri ar swyddfa’r aelod. Digwyddodd yr 
achosion o dorri’r Cod dros gyfnod o ddwy flynedd ac roeddynt yn cynnwys 
sylwadau ac ymddygiad oedd yn feirniadol o uwch swyddogion a swyddogion iau 
ac yn fygythiol tuag atynt. Daeth y Llys i'r casgliad bod y Cod wedi cael ei dorri’n 
fwriadol ym mhob achos a bod rhywfaint o’r camymddwyn yn ddifrifol.  
 

Tudalen 8



Dywedodd y Swyddog Monitro wrth y pwyllgor bod yr adroddiad wedi cael ei drafod 
yn flaenorol yn y Pwyllgor Safonau, roeddynt yn credu bod y canllawiau yn hawdd 
i’w darllen, serch hynny roeddynt yn teimlo y dylai fod yna ganllawiau ychwanegol 
am elfen cyfryngau cymdeithasol o fod yn gynghorydd.  
 
Trafodwyd y pwyntiau canlynol mewn mwy o fanylder -  
 

 Fe dynnodd yr aelodau sylw at yr achos cyntaf y soniwyd amdano, am y 
gwahaniaeth rhwng sylwadau gwleidyddol a phersonol, roeddynt yn teimlo ei 
bod hi’n anodd derbyn bod yn rhaid i’r rhai mewn swydd gyhoeddus fod yn 
“groendew”. Teimlwyd bod yr agwedd hon o fod yn gynghorydd yn lleihau 
awydd pobl rhag bod eisiau sefyll mewn etholiad.  

 Gofynnodd y pwyllgor petaent yn gweld Cynghorydd arall yn torri’r cod 
ymddygiad, a fyddai hawl ganddynt ymyrryd i’w hysbysu eu bod yn torri’r 
rheolau. Fe atebodd y Swyddog Monitro gan ddweud bod yr Ombwdsmon yn 
ffafrio bod mân broblemau lleol rhwng aelodau yn cael eu trin trwy 
weithdrefnau datrysiad lleol lle y bo’n bosibl. Fe ychwanegodd nad oedd yna 
unrhyw beth yn y cod ynglŷn â herio ymddygiad gwael, ond roedd gair tawel 
gan un aelod gydag aelod arall oedd yn cael ei amau o dorri'r cod o fewn rôl 
cynghorwyr.  

 
PENDERFYNWYD bod y pwyllgor yn ystyried Canllawiau Diwygiedig Drafft ar 
God Ymddygiad Aelodau Cynghorau Sir, Tref, Dinas a Chymuned.  
 

8 RHAGLEN GWAITH I'R DYFODOL  
 
Cyflwynodd Rheolwr y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd adroddiad llafar ar raglen 
gwaith i’r dyfodol y Pwyllgor. 
 

 Fe awgrymodd y pwyllgor y gellir trafod hyfforddiant aelodau cyn yr 
etholiadau lleol sydd i ddod, er mwyn sicrhau y bydd unrhyw aelodau 
etholedig newydd yn derbyn hyfforddiant digonol.  

 Cafodd amrywiaeth o fewn y Cyngor ei godi oherwydd pan gafodd yr 
aelodau eu hethol, fe soniwyd y byddai yna brosiect yn ei le, gofynnodd yr 
aelodau am ddiweddariad yng nghyfarfod mis Hydref.  

 
PENDERFYNWYD nodi’r diweddariad ar lafar. 

 
Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 12:10pm. 

 

Tudalen 9



Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag

Tudalen 10



 

Adroddiad i’r Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 

Dyddiad y cyfarfod: 5 Tachwedd 2021 

Aelod Arweiniol / Swyddog: Y Cynghorydd Hugh Evans – 

Arweinydd/y Cynghorydd Julian Thompson-Hill, Aelod 

Arweiniol Cyllid ac Eiddo  

Awdur yr Adroddiad: Alan Smith, Pennaeth Gwella Busnes a Moderneiddio / 

Gary Williams, Pennaeth y Gyfraith, Adnoddau Dynol a 

Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 

Teitl Cynigion i Aelodau fabwysiadu ffyrdd newydd o weithio. 

1. Am beth mae’r adroddiad yn sôn? 

1.1. Mae’r adroddiad hwn yn crynhoi’r cynigion sy’n deillio o waith Grŵp Tasg a 

Gorffen yr Aelodau ar Ffyrdd Newydd o Weithio, y bwriedir eu gweithredu ar 

gyfer y Cyngor newydd yn dilyn yr etholiadau ym mis Mai 2022. Ymdrinnir â 

dwy elfen yn yr adroddiad hwn: Yn gyntaf, sut ddylai Aelodau gynnal 

cyfarfodydd ac yn ail, pa gyfarpar TGCh sydd arnynt ei angen i wneud hynny. 

2. Beth yw'r rheswm dros lunio’r adroddiad hwn? 

2.1. Gofyn i’r Pwyllgor ystyried y cynigion sy’n deillio o waith Grŵp Tasg a Gorffen yr 

Aelodau ar Ffyrdd Newydd o Weithio a gwneud argymhellion i’r Cyngor ynglŷn 

â’r modd y dylid cynnal cyfarfodydd yn y dyfodol a pha gyfarpar TGCh y dylid ei 

ddarparu i’r Aelodau i’w cynorthwyo â hynny. 

3. Beth yw’r Argymhellion? 

3.1. Bod y Pwyllgor yn gwneud argymhelliad i’r Cyngor ynglŷn â’r dull mwyaf priodol o 

gynnal gwahanol fathau o gyfarfodydd ar sail y cynigion a gyflwynir yn yr adroddiad 

a gyflwynwyd i Grŵp Tasg a Gorffen yr Aelodau ar Ffyrdd Newydd o Weithio ac 

sydd ynghlwm wrth yr adroddiad hwn yn Atodiad 1. 

Tudalen 11

Eitem Agenda 5



 
 

3.2. Bod y Pwyllgor yn gwneud argymhelliad i’r Cyngor ynglŷn â pha gyfarpar TGCh y 

dylid ei ddarparu i Aelodau’r Cyngor newydd fel y nodir yn Adran 2 o’r adroddiad a 

gyflwynwyd i’r Grŵp ac sydd ynghlwm wrth yr adroddiad hwn yn Atodiad 1. 

 

3.3. Bod y Pwyllgor yn gwneud argymhelliad i’r Cyngor y dylid mabwysiadu Protocol ar 

gyfer cynnal cyfarfodydd hybrid ar yr un telerau i bob pwrpas â’r rhai a nodir yn 

Atodiad 5 i’r adroddiad hwn. 

4. Manylion yr Adroddiad 

4.1. Ar 19 Hydref 2021 cyfarfu Grŵp Tasg a Gorffen yr Aelodau ar Ffyrdd Newydd o 

Weithio er mwyn trafod adroddiad ynglŷn â chynigion ar gyfer cynnal 

cyfarfodydd y Cyngor newydd a’r cyfarpar TGCh y dylid ei ddarparu i’r Aelodau 

i’w cynorthwyo yn eu gwaith. 

4.2. Lluniwyd y cynigion hyn mewn ymateb i’r dyhead i adael i fwy o bobl weithio ar-

lein a thrwy drefniadau hybrid a fynegwyd yn un o gyfarfodydd blaenorol y grŵp. 

4.3. Cyflwynwyd adroddiad i’r Grŵp, sydd ynghlwm wrth yr adroddiad hwn yn 

Atodiad 1. Mae’r ddogfen honno’n rhoi cefndir manwl i’r mater. 

4.4. Cymeradwyodd y Grŵp y cynigion a nodir yn Atodiad 1 ynglŷn â’r ffyrdd y dylid 

cynnal cyfarfodydd a’r cyfarpar y dylid ei ddarparu i Aelodau. 

4.5. Ceir cyfeiriad at brotocol hefyd yn Atodiad 1. Yn anffodus ni fu modd llunio’r 

Protocol erbyn cyfarfod y Grŵp ond mae Protocol drafft wedi’i lunio bellach sydd 

ynghlwm wrth yr adroddiad hwn yn Atodiad 2. 

4.6. Gofynnir i’r Aelodau ystyried manylion y cynigion a nodir yn Atodiad 1 i’r 

adroddiad hwn ynghyd â’r argymhellion y dylai’r Pwyllgor eu gwneud i’r Cyngor. 

 

5. Sut mae’r penderfyniad yn cyfrannu at y Blaenoriaethau 
Corfforaethol? 

5.1. Gallai’r penderfyniad gael effaith gadarnhaol ar y flaenoriaeth sydd a wnelo â’r 

amgylchedd. 

 

Tudalen 12



 
 

6. Faint fydd hyn yn ei gostio a sut y bydd yn effeithio ar 
wasanaethau eraill? 

6.1. Gan fod gliniaduron yr aelodau’n gymharol newydd mae’n annhebygol y bydd 

llawer o gostau’n deillio o ddarparu’r rhain. Darperir ffonau symudol drwy’r 

ddarpariaeth dan gontract ffonau symudol presennol y Cyngor, ac mae hynny’n 

debygol o fod yn niwtral o ran cost. 

 

7. Beth yw prif gasgliadau’r Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Les? 

7.1. Ni chynhaliwyd asesiad effaith yng nghyswllt yr adroddiad hwn. 

 

8. Pa ymgynghoriadau sydd wedi’u cynnal gyda Chraffu ac 
eraill? 

8.1. Ni chynhaliwyd ymgynghoriad gyda Chraffu. Ymgynghorwyd â’r Grŵp Tasg a 

Gorffen sydd wedi cymeradwyo’r cynigion i’w hystyried gan y Pwyllgor. 

9. Datganiad y Prif Swyddog Cyllid 

9.1. Fel y nodir yn adran 5, rhagwelir y bydd modd gweithredu’r newidiadau heb 

newid yn y cyllidebau presennol, ond bydd angen cadw golwg fanwl ar hynny 

yn y misoedd i ddod. 

10. Pa risgiau sydd ac a oes unrhyw beth y gallwn ei wneud i'w 
lleihau? 

10.1. Ceir risg y gellid colli manteision y datblygiadau diweddar mewn technoleg ac 

arferion cyfarfodydd ar-lein heb fod yno ddull strwythuredig o gynnal 

cyfarfodydd ar-lein a rhai hybrid, a heb ddarparu cyfarpar digonol i hwyluso’r 

fath gyfarfodydd. 

11. Pŵer i wneud y penderfyniad 

11.1. Adran 111 o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972  

11.2. Adran 47 o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol ac Etholiadau (Cymru) 2021 

Tudalen 13



Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



 

Report to Members New Ways of Working Task & Finish Group 

Date of meeting 19th October 2021 

Lead Member / Officer Cllr Hugh Evans – Leader/Cllr Julian Thompson-Hill, Lead 

Member for Finance & Property Gary Williams, Head of 

Democratic Services & HR Alan Smith – Head of Business 

Improvement & Modernisation  

Report author Gary Williams/Alan Smith 

Title Proposals for Members to adopt new Ways of Working 

1. What is the report about? 

This report summarises proposals generated by the work of the New Ways of  

Working Task & Finish Group, and which are intended to apply to the new Council 

following the elections in May 2022. The report considers two elements: Firstly, how 

Members should conduct meetings and secondly, what ICT equipment do they need 

to do so. 

2. What is the reason for making this report? 

To provide Members with clear recommendations on how to respond to the move 

towards greater use of virtual and hybrid working following an initial task and Finish 

Group meeting where this aspiration was set out. 

3. What are the Recommendations? 

It is recommended that members consider the information contained within this 

Report and attached Appendices and recommend that: 

3.1. A meeting protocol be drawn up setting out the most appropriate method by 

which to hold different categories of meeting on the basis of the proposals set 

Tudalen 15



 
 

out in the report. This protocol should also set out the expectations of both 

officers and members in their conduct of such meetings. 

3.2. ICT equipment provided to Members in the new Council should be as set out in 

Section 2 of the report 

3.3. These proposals should be taken forward as recommendations to the 

Democratic Services Committee. 

4. Report details 

4.1    Section 1: How should Members conduct meetings in the new Council? 

Background 

4.1.1 The Covid-19 pandemic brought the formal democratic meetings of local authorities 

to a stop in March 2020 as the national lockdown prevented officers and members 

from meeting in the traditional way, and the existing legislation governing the 

meetings and proceedings of local authorities did not allow for fully remote 

attendance. 

4.1.2 Emergency legislation in the form of the Coronavirus Act 2020 was passed in April 

2020 which empowered Welsh Minsters to make regulations to allow local authority 

meetings to be conducted virtually. The Local Authorities (Coronavirus) (Meetings) 

(Wales) Regulations 2020 were made at the end of April 2020 and provided that 

meetings could be held without the need for any member to be present at a specific 

location as long as everyone attending the meeting was able to hear the 

proceedings and could be heard by those attending. The rights of the press and 

public to attend meetings were suspended, however, we provided access to the 

local democracy reporter to all of our virtual meetings. 

4.1.3 Members will recall that formal meetings of Cabinet began in May 2020 with a 

gradual resumption of meetings of all committees by virtual means leading to the 

full suite of democratic meetings being conducted virtually from September 2020. 

By December 2020 the Council had progressed to running fully bilingual virtual 

meetings which were being simultaneously broadcast to the public. This has 

remained the position to date. 

Tudalen 16



 
 

4.1.4 In January 2021 the Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 was 

granted Royal Assent and included provisions governing the conduct of local 

authority meetings in Wales. There are two main changes brought about by this Act: 

4.1.5 The first is that all public meetings of Council, Cabinet and formal committees must 

be broadcast live and made available for later viewing. 

4.1.6 The second is that the Council must make arrangements to ensure that meetings 

are able to be held by virtual means and that any person who wishes to attend can 

do so remotely. 

 

4.2. The range of meetings that elected members attend 

 

4.2.1 This group has been tasked with considering the arrangements that should be 

made for the meetings which involve elected members in the new Council following 

the local government elections to be held in May 2022. There are different 

categories of meetings that are held by the Council in which members are involved. 

4.2.2 The first of these is the formal statutory meetings of the Council, Cabinet and 

various committees which are required to give access to the press and the public. A 

full list of these is set out in Appendix 1 to this report. 

4.2.3 There are other formal meetings to which the press and public have access but 

which are meetings that involve external partners such as joint committees. A non-

exhaustive list of these is contained in Appendix 2 to this report. 

4.2.4 There are other meetings of bodies which are not statutory committees of the 

Council but are internal meetings to which the press and public are not required to 

have access. A non-exhaustive list of these meetings is contained in Appendix 3 

 

4.3. The possible methods by which meetings may be conducted            

4.3.1 There are three main methods by which meetings may be conducted. 

 Virtual – this would involve all of the participants attending the meeting by 

virtual means with no specified location for the meeting. 

 Face to face – this would involve all of the participants attending at a specified 

location in order that the meeting can be conducted in one place. 

 Hybrid – a specified location is identified for a meeting and participants choose 

whether to attend in person at that location, or, alternatively, to attend remotely 

Tudalen 17



 
 

in such a way that they are able to fully participate in the meeting howsoever 

they attend. 

4.3.2 In considering which of these methods is the most appropriate for the 

conduct of a particular meeting, a number of factors will need to be 

considered and balanced. 

4.3.3 The Council has declared a Climate Change and Ecological Emergency. The 

use of virtual means by which to conduct meetings has resulted in a 

reduction in the amount of travel undertaken, by both officers and members, 

to and from council buildings (predominantly in Ruthin) to attend meetings. 

The vast majority of this travel would have been undertaken in vehicles that 

would be emitting carbon. The reduction to a minimum of such travel is 

therefore an important consideration in assessing the method by which 

certain meetings should be conducted. 

4.3.4 As well as reducing carbon emissions, this reduction in travel will have 

resulted in a reduction in the amount of money spent on the reimbursement 

of travel expenses to both officers and members. 

4.3.5 A further benefit of virtual meetings is the reduction in the amount of time 

spent travelling to and from meetings, both by members and officers. It is 

clearly a more efficient use of the valuable and limited time of both officers 

and members to reduce to a minimum the amount of time spent travelling. 

4.3.6 There are other benefits of virtual meetings. Members will be aware of the 

commitment made by Council to the Diversity in Democracy Declaration 

adopted at Full Council in September 2021. A key part of this declaration is 

that the Council commits to a collaborative and inclusive culture which 

makes possible the participation of as many people as possible in the 

democratic process. The Democratic Services Committee will be working on 

an action plan for how the Council will achieve greater diversity. An important 

part of this work will be having a system of meetings which encourage 

people to stand for election who might otherwise find the process 

inaccessible. This will include holding meetings at times of the day and by 

means which enable those in full time employment, those who are disabled, 

or those who have caring responsibilities for example to participate fully. It is 

important that these benefits are not lost when current work from home 

guidance is removed by Welsh Government. 

Tudalen 18



 
 

4.3.7 It is also true that despite the many benefits of virtual meetings, some 

members feel that face to face meetings enable them to engage better in 

debate and to be able to interpret the atmosphere of a meeting, or the body 

language of participants. It is also true that some members miss the social 

benefits of interacting directly with their peers in the same location. 

 

4.4. Proposals for new ways of conducting Council business 

 

4.4.1 It is likely that not every type of meeting set out in the three appendices to this 

report will be most effectively conducted by just one of the three methods of 

conducting meetings that have been identified. In particular, it will not be 

possible to require that the public meetings of the Council’s formal committees 

be held in a purely face to face manner. This is because the law will require that 

any member who wishes to attend remotely must be able to do so.  

Formal decision making committees 

4.4.2 In terms of the meetings listed in Appendices 1 and 2 there are therefore only 2 

options, Virtual meetings or Hybrid meetings. In terms of the meetings listed in 

Appendix 1 it would seem appropriate to sub divide these meetings as they will 

attract varied levels of interest from the public and elected members. 

4.4.3 It is suggested that the bodies which are formal decision making bodies of the 

Council should meet by means of the Hybrid method. This would mean that 

members who wished to attend the physical location of a meeting could choose 

to do so but that equally they could attend by remote means from another 

location. This would enable members who feel better able to debate and engage 

with the meeting in person to do so when important decisions are to be made. 

4.4.4 The formal decision making bodies are Council, Cabinet, Planning Committee 

and Licensing Committee. It may be particularly important for members of the 

public who need to address either Planning or Licensing Committee sitting in a 

quasi-judicial capacity to be able to do so either physically or remotely, 

whichever suits their circumstances best. 

4.4.5 The meetings that are listed in Appendix 2 are those involving partners from 

other local authorities or public bodies within the region. It will not therefore be 

solely the decision of this Council as to the method by which these meetings 

should be conducted. However, it is suggested that for reasons of efficiency and 

Tudalen 19



 
 

environmental responsibility that these meetings should be conducted remotely 

to avoid officers and members criss-crossing the region to attend face to face 

meetings. 

4.4.6 It is not yet known when health and safety risk assessments will allow the 

attendance of all members who may wish to attend one of the larger bodies 

such as Council. The Council will have to continue to abide by the guidance 

issued by Government and the conclusions of any risk assessments that are 

carried out in accordance with that guidance. 

Scrutiny and Regulatory Committees 

4.4.7 The Council’s three Scrutiny Committees and the Governance and Audit 

Committee are not, for the most part bodies which make formal decisions on 

behalf of the Council. They do however play an important part in the process of 

holding the Executive to account and in accordance with the principles behind 

the establishment of executive arrangements, Scrutiny committees should have 

parity of esteem with Cabinet. 

4.4.8 This parity of esteem does not preclude the holding of these meetings by purely 

virtual means but there is an argument that these too should be conducted by 

Hybrid means in order that members have the option of choosing the method of 

attendance that best suits their circumstances. 

4.4.9 The Standards Committee is made up of predominantly independent lay 

members whose views would need to be consulted upon. This Committee’s 

meetings consist of both routine meetings which may lend themselves to Virtual 

meetings and hearings which can involve the examination and cross-

examination of witnesses which would be likely to be better suited to Hybrid 

meetings. 

 

Other formal Committees 

 

4.4.10 The remaining formal committees of the Council listed in Appendix 1 are 

meetings which it is suggested should be conducted by Virtual means. Indeed, 

the Joint Consultative Committee has often found itself inquorate due to the 

difficulties encountered by the trade unions to have sufficient representatives 

available to attend. Virtual meetings would assist with travelling time 

Tudalen 20



 
 

commitments and may well enable the meetings to be quorate on a more 

consistent basis. 

Internal meetings  

4.4.11 The meetings listed in Appendix 3 are internal meetings of groups that are not 

statutory committees and to which the public do not have access. It is suggested 

that these meetings should be held as Virtual meetings as they are internal 

business meetings and do not require physical attendance. This does not mean 

that in exceptional circumstances they could not meet by Hybrid means but their 

proceedings lend themselves to remote attendance. 

4.4.12 The Member Area Groups (MAGs) are included in this group of meetings. It is 

suggested that these be held as Virtual meetings, particularly because these 

meetings have in the past been held in their own localities and we do not have 

the technological equipment installed in these localities to be able to run Hybrid 

meetings. The capability to run Hybrid meetings is, at present, confined to the 

Council Chamber in Ruthin. This means that MAGs would either have to meet 

entirely face to face or virtually. For all the reasons of efficiency and 

environmental considerations it is suggested that these meetings should be 

Virtual meetings.  

 

4.5. Protocols 

 

4.5.1 In moving to the suggested new ways of working it is proposed that there be a 

protocol drawn up to provide some guidance to chairs, members and officers on 

the conduct of both Virtual and Hybrid meetings. See Appendix 4 for draft 

guidance. 

 

4.6. Training 

 

4.6.1 The chairing of Hybrid or Virtual meetings can be challenging. It is proposed that 

early in the new Council there be specific training provided to chairs on the skills 

required to chair such meetings, to include the key elements of the protocol 

outlined above. 

 

 

Tudalen 21



 
 

 

 

 

Section 2:  What ICT equipment do Members need? 

4.7. Background and the rationale for change 

 

4.7.1 ICT & Digital Services underpin all council services both internal and public 

facing as well as interoperability across partners, regionally and nationally 

including both Welsh and UK governments. 

4.7.2 The demand on the Service has grown significantly in recent years and the 

pandemic has impacted that demand still further.  Although it was recommended 

by the Service that elected members migrate from iPads to laptops in the lead 

up to the current council the members working group at that time decided to 

continue with iPads as standard for elected members.  However, this situation is 

no longer sustainable and the Council now needs to ensure that ICT equipment 

available to members meets today’s need is appropriate for future need 

wherever possible. 

 

4.8. Current Members ICT provision 

 

4.8.1 The Covid Pandemic has significantly changed the way in which the Council 

now operates with most staff working from home, the impact for members has 

also been significant, with online meetings being the default during the 

pandemic and the expectation is that this will continue alongside hybrid and face 

to face meetings.   

4.8.2 At the beginning of the pandemic it became clear that the iPads were no longer 

fit for purpose and all Members were issued with laptops (in addition to their 

iPads) to enable them to attend and follow meetings (on WebEx initially, but 

then via both Teams and Zoom for public meetings).   

4.8.3 As members are now much more reliant on ICT their support needs have 

significantly grown too and there have been frustrations at times when members 

have been unable to join online meetings for a variety of reasons.  This 

frustration has only been compounded by ICT support staff not being able to 

Tudalen 22



 
 

effectively support members using iPads remotely because iPads are not fully 

integrated into the Council’s network. In addition, many Members still have poor 

quality broadband provision as well as the technology being implemented was 

new and at times problematic itself.  

 

4.9. Proposed Members ICT provision 

 

4.9.1 It is proposed that the Council withdraws the iPads for members in time for the 

upcoming elections, (SLT iPad users have already committed to do this by the 

end of March 2022), and that members of the new council be issued with a 

council owned mobile phone and a laptop (for business use only).   

4.9.2 The mobile phones will provide access to email and calendar information and 

the laptops will be the default device for members when attending meetings 

online or hybrid meetings.  Members will be expected to access good quality 

broadband provision wherever possible to enable them to carry out their duties. 

If this is not possible then there will be the option to travel to a local council 

building to facilitate connectivity.   

4.9.3 This adoption of laptops by default and decommissioning iPads will mean that 

ICT staff will be able to directly control Members’ laptops with Members full 

permission and visibility. This will enable ICT staff to address any issues 

immediately, thus reducing the occurrences when members are unable to join 

meetings and in turn reducing frustrations Members may have when trying to go 

about Council business. 

4.9.4 As a result of the proposed changes it is acknowledged that some Members will 

be disappointed to no longer have a DCC iPad, but the ability to have prompt 

and effective support remotely will deliver more efficiency and less frustration. 

Coupled with the introduction of e-mail capable mobile phones for Members little 

if any of the functionality of the iPads will be lost.  A full package of training will 

be available to Members and in addition to the laptops, external monitors, 

keyboards and mice could be provided as options to members if required. All 

ICT technical support for iPads would therefore cease at the end of the current 

administration. 

Tudalen 23



 
 

5. How does the decision contribute to the Corporate 
Priorities? 

This decision will have a potentially positive impact upon the priority related to the 

environment. 

6. What will it cost and how will it affect other services? 

As all Members’ laptops are relatively new it’s unlikely that there will be any 

significant cost incurred in their provision. Mobile phones will be sourced under the 

Council’s existing mobile telephony contract and by utilising existing provision within 

the contract this is likely to be cost neutral. 

7. What are the main conclusions of the Well-being Impact 
Assessment? 

A Well-being impact assessment has not been prepared in respect of this report. 

8. What consultations have been carried out with Scrutiny 
and others? 

There have been no consultations with Scrutiny. This report is seeking the views of 

the Task and Finish Group in order that a recommendation may be made to 

Democratic Services Committee 

9. Chief Finance Officer Statement 

As highlighted in section 5 it is anticipated that the changes will be able to be 

maintained within existing budgets, however this will need to be monitored closely 

over the coming months. 

10. What risks are there and is there anything we can do to 
reduce them? 

There is a risk that the benefits of the advances in remote meeting technology and 

practice are lost without a structured approach to the use of remote and hybrid 

meetings and the provision of adequate equipment to enable such meetings. 

11. Power to make the decision 

s111 Local Government Act 1972 

Tudalen 24



Appendix 2 

 

DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

HYBRID COMMITTEE MEETINGS PROTOCOL  

1. PURPOSE OF THE PROTOCOL 

 

1.1 The purpose of this protocol is to provide guidance to Members and the public 

as to the processes to be undertaken by the Council when conducting hybrid 

committee meetings. 

 

1.2 Hybrid meetings are a combination of face to face meetings and virtual 

meetings, whereby some Members, officers and the public attend the Council 

Chamber and some members attend remotely.  

 

1.3 During Hybrid meetings, all participants will be able to see and hear each 

other and translation facilities will be available for all. 

 

 

2. GENERAL PRINCIPLES 

 

2.1. The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 requires the Council 

to make and publish arrangements that enable persons who are not in the 

same place to attend meetings of the Council. This provision in effect requires 

hybrid meetings.  

                                                                                                         
2.2. To continue to ensure the public and press have access to public meetings of 

Council and to ensure transparency of decision-making, principal meetings 

will be live streamed simultaneously. Recordings will be uploaded to the 

Council’s website for public record and be available for viewing for 6 months 

from the date of the meeting.  

 

2.3. All voting will be carried out either by affirmation of the meeting, by using the 

electronic voting system within the Council Chamber and on the virtual 

meeting platform in use, or by means of a roll-call of all Members present both 

remotely and in person.  

 

2.4. All voting results will be announced by the Chair before moving to the next 

item of business. 

 

2.5. Underpinning this Protocol are the fundamental principles that conduct shall 

be compliant with the Code of Conduct for Members and that the integrity and 

security of any confidential information is maintained. 

 

Tudalen 25



2.6. Hybrid meetings will follow the Council’s usual meetings practice in terms of 

publication of agendas and reports, and they will follow normal procedural 

rules in the Constitution where possible.  

 

2.7. A fundamental principle is that the attendance of a Member or an Officer is 

equally valid irrespective of whether they are attending in the Council 

Chamber or from a remote location. It will not be appropriate for any Member 

to make any adverse comment or inference in respect of any other Member or 

Officer’s chosen location for attendance.  

 

3. PROTOCOL FOR HYBRID MEETINGS 

3.1. Council will operate hybrid meetings using the video conferencing and 

webcasting facilities within the Council Chamber to enable both remote 

attendance and physical attendance at meetings.  

 

3.2. Prior to the meeting, Democratic Services will ensure that all Members, 

relevant officers and any other relevant participating individual have been 

invited to join the meeting and have been informed as to how they must 

connect to the meeting. 

 

3.3. Any Member wishing to attend in person will need to give prior notice to 

Democratic Services as soon as possible that s/he wishes to attend in person 

 

3.4. Members attending remotely will be expected to join the meeting at least ten 

minutes before the proposed start time for the meeting to ensure that they are 

able to connect and that the translation channel may be tested. 

 

3.5. If a quorum is achieved the meeting will proceed in any event, notwithstanding 

a Member’s or Members’ failure to achieve a connection. If a Member joins 

the meeting at a later time they must make themselves known immediately to 

the Chairman and comment and vote only on those complete agenda items 

remaining. 

 

3.6. When attending remotely, Members need to ensure that they are able to 

remain on-line throughout debates and during voting in order to maintain the 

integrity of the decision-making process and to reduce the opportunity for 

legal challenge of any decision. 

 

    

3.7. When attending remotely, Members and any participants must ensure that the 

room from which they are accessing the remote meeting is suitable in terms of 

privacy and that no disturbance occurs during the course of the meeting as it 

is important to ensure a degree of formality in the proceedings. It must be 

remembered that as proceedings will be live, viewers will effectively be able to 

view you working in your home. 

Tudalen 26



 

 

3.9. When attending remotely, Members must access the meeting individually via 

their Council issued equipment and ensure a suitable background. Members 

are able to make use of other Council facilities to ensure a stable internet 

connection but they must liaise with Democratic Services in advance of the 

meeting giving sufficient time for such arrangements to be made.   

 

3.10. If remote attendees declare a personal and prejudicial interest in a particular 

item, in order to continue to comply with the Code of Conduct for Members, 

they will be removed from the meeting by the Democratic Services Officer and 

placed in the ‘waiting room’ for the duration of the relevant item. The 

Democratic Services Officer as moderator can also add and remove other 

attendees such as public speakers. If attendees are in the chamber, they will 

physically leave the chamber for the duration of the item. 

 

3.11. During the meeting whilst a Member is not speaking, their microphone should 

be set to mute and this should be clicked to un-mute (sound) when s/he is 

invited to speak by the Chairman. Members should avoid setting their devices 

to the highest volume, sit too close to the microphone, have other electronic 

devices operating or shuffle papers in front of the microphone as this is likely 

to cause feedback. Committee Members are encouraged to keep their 

cameras on at all times in order that they may be seen by members of the 

public throughout debates and voting. However, it is recognised that if a 

Member is experiencing poor connectivity it may be necessary to turn their 

video off.  

 

3.12. Members recognise and accept that their microphones may be switched off 

remotely by Democratic Services Officers if they have been left on 

inadvertently when the Member is not speaking. 

 

3.13. Members should ensure that the name that appears on screen in connection 

with their image should be their full name and include the title Councillor in 

order that the public can identify elected members.  

 

3.14. It is accepted that the Chair plays a vital role in the orderly conduct of the 

committee meeting. Chairs will be fully supported by Democratic Services 

Officers and the Monitoring Officer to enable the Chair to conduct the meeting 

in accordance with the Rules of Procedure and the principles of this Protocol 

 

3.15. At the start of the meeting, the Chair will ensure that the system allows 

everyone to participate. The Chair will make an introduction to the meeting, 

and provide a reminder of the meeting arrangements. 

 

3.16. Given the nature of hybrid meetings the Chair will ensure that every member 

has the opportunity to participate in the meeting and that members are called 

Tudalen 27



to speak in the order that they indicate their wish to do so wherever they are 

attending the meeting from. Members who are attending remotely should use 

the ‘raise hand’ function to indicate that they wish to speak. Democratic 

Services officers will assist the Chair in monitoring the requests to speak. The 

Chair must allow officers to speak if they indicate that they wish to do so. 

 

3.17. Members use of the ‘chat’ function should be restricted to issues such as 

informing the meeting that they are leaving temporarily or permanently, or that 

they are having connectivity issues. The ‘chat’ function should not be used to 

make contributions to the debate or to send informal messages to other 

attendees. Members are reminded that ‘chat’ messages will be visible to 

viewers of the meeting. 

 

  

 

3.18. In relation to reports that are presented that are deemed exempt from 

publication, Members will be reminded that the item is an exempt report and 

asked to vote to recognise this accordingly. If the debate then proceeds in 

‘Part II’, Members must ensure that they are able to strictly maintain the 

privacy of the proceedings at their location. The live link will cease before the 

item commences and therefore there may be a hiatus in proceedings to 

ensure that no recording is taking place. Individuals who are not entitled to be 

present during the item will physically leave the meeting in the chamber, and 

will be removed from the virtual meeting by the Democratic Services Officer.  

 

3.19. If connectivity is lost for any remote attendee during the proceedings so that 

the quorum is not met, the Chairman will require the meeting to be paused in 

order to allow re-establishment of connectivity if at all possible. If it proves 

impossible to re-establish connection for a sufficient number of Members to 

reach a quorum, the meeting will be adjourned to a later date. The Chairman 

will make every effort as is reasonable to enable those Members experiencing 

connectivity problems to take part in the debate.  

 

3.20. Public speakers will be contacted by Democratic Services in advance of the 

committee meeting to establish whether they wish to attend in person or 

remotely.  Remote attendees will be provided with a link to the meeting. All 

remote public speakers will be invited to join the meeting when they enter the 

‘waiting room’ but must remain in mute mode and not speak unless invited by 

the Chair to do so. The Chair will invite each speaker to begin their 

presentation at the appropriate time. Speakers are requested to provide their 

presentation in writing to the Chair in advance of the meeting. In the event of 

issues with connectivity, the Chair will read the speaker’s presentation on their 

behalf. Speakers will then ‘leave’ the meeting following the relevant agenda 

item, if necessary with support from the meeting host.   

 

3.21. Members of the press will be able to view the livestream of the meeting. 

Tudalen 28



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 29



Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



 

Adroddiad i’r Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 

Dyddiad y cyfarfod 5 Tachwedd 2021 

Aelod Arweiniol / Swyddog Y Cynghorydd Hugh Evans, Arweinydd y Cyngor  

Awdur yr adroddiad Gary Williams, Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, 

Adnoddau Dynol a Democrataidd 

Teitl Amrywiaeth mewn Democratiaeth 

 

1. Am beth mae’r adroddiad yn sôn? 

1.1. Mae’r adroddiad yn sôn am waith Cymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol Cymru (CLlLC) 

fel rhan o’i Raglen Amrywiaeth mewn Democratiaeth. 

2. Beth yw'r rheswm dros lunio’r adroddiad hwn? 

2.1. Ar 7 Medi 2021, fe gymeradwyodd y Cyngor y datganiad a nodwyd yn Atodiad 3 

yr adroddiad hwn a dirprwyodd y dasg o baratoi cynllun gweithredu i gefnogi’r 

datganiad i’r Pwyllgor hwn. Diben yr adroddiad hwn yw ceisio cael safbwyntiau’r 

Pwyllgor ar faterion a allai gael eu cynnwys mewn cynllun gweithredu o’r fath. 

3. Beth yw’r Argymhellion? 

3.1 Fod y Pwyllgor yn ystyried y materion a allai gael eu cynnwys mewn Cynllun 

Gweithredu Cyngor Amrywiol er mwyn i gynllun drafft manwl gael ei baratoi i’w 

ystyried. 

4. Manylion yr adroddiad 

4.1. Mae gan CLlLC Raglen Amrywiaeth mewn Democratiaeth uchelgeisiol i geisio 

sicrhau bod siambrau cynghorau yn fwy cynrychioliadol o’r cymunedau maent 

yn eu gwasanaethu. Maent wedi bod yn ystyried ffyrdd o sicrhau mwy o 

amrywiaeth ar ôl yr etholiadau llywodraeth leol ym mis Mai 2022. 

Tudalen 31

Eitem Agenda 6



 
 

4.2. Ym Medi 2018 cytunodd Cyngor CLlLC i gymryd camau i gynyddu 

cydraddoldeb rhywiol ac amrywiaeth mewn Cynghorau cyn etholiadau 2022. 

Roedd hyn er mwyn cydnabod y diffyg amrywiaeth sydd yng Nghynghorau 

Cymru. Sefydlwyd gweithgor trawsbleidiol er mwyn edrych ar dangynrychiolaeth 

ehangach mewn democratiaeth. Mewn cyfarfod arbennig ym mis Mawrth eleni, 

cafodd Cyngor CLlLC adroddiad gan y gweithgor trawsbleidiol hwnnw gyda 

chynigion wedi’u cynllunio i gyflawni newid sylweddol mewn amrywiaeth ar ôl 

etholiadau 2022. Mae’r adroddiad hwn wedi ei atodi fel Atodiad 1.  

4.3. Mae’r adroddiad yn nodi rhwystrau i gyfranogiad a gellid eu crynhoi’n fras fel: 

• Ymrwymiad amser ac amseroedd cyfarfodydd;  

• Diwylliant gwleidyddol a sefydliadol;  

• Cyfrifoldebau gofal plant a chyfrifoldebau gofalu eraill;  

• Beirniadaeth gan y cyhoedd a chamdriniaeth ar-lein;  

• Tâl ac effaith ar gyflogaeth; a  

• Diffyg modelau rôl amrywiol a chyfnod mewn swydd  

4.4. Cytunodd Cyngor CLlLC yn unfrydol bod angen ymdrech unedig a chyfun ar 

draws teulu llywodraeth leol a phleidiau gwleidyddol. O ganlyniad i’r cyfarfod 

hwnnw, anfonwyd llythyr at bob Awdurdod Lleol yng Nghymru, wedi’i lofnodi 

gan bob un o arweinwyr y grwpiau gwleidyddol a gaiff eu cynrychioli ar Gyngor 

CLlLC. Mae copi o’r llythyr hwnnw wedi ei atodi fel Atodiad 2 i’r adroddiad hwn. 

4.5. Cytunodd Cyngor CLlLC i annog yr holl bleidiau gwleidyddol, trwy Grwpiau 

Gwleidyddol CLlLC, i ymrwymo i weithgareddau rhagweithiol a chydlynol er mwyn 

gwella amrywiaeth mewn democratiaeth llywodraeth leol. Hefyd cytunwyd ar 

safbwynt ffurfiol gan alw am gyflwyno ‘grantiau adsefydlu’ i bob cynghorydd a 

deiliaid cyflogau uwch, ac annog pob cynghorydd i hawlio unrhyw lwfansau neu 

dreuliau angenrheidiol, er mwyn sicrhau bod cyfranogiad ar gael i bawb, nid dim 

ond y rhai a allai fforddio hynny. 

4.6. Penderfynodd Cyngor CLlLC hefyd y byddent yn cefnogi defnyddio cwotâu 

gwirfoddol ar gyfer etholiadau lleol Cymru ac y dylai Cynghorau osod targedau i 

fod yn gynrychioliadol o’r cymunedau maent yn eu gwasanaethu yn etholiadau 

2022. 

Tudalen 32



 
 

4.7. Cytunodd Cyngor CLlLC hefyd i annog datganiad gan gynghorau yng Nghymru, ar 

fod yn ‘Gynghorau Amrywiol’, er mwyn: 

 Darparu ymrwymiad clir, cyhoeddus i wella amrywiaeth; 

 Dangos diwylliant agored a chroesawgar i bawb; 

 Ystyried gwasgaru amseroedd cyfarfodydd y cyngor a chytuno ar gyfnodau 

o egwyl er mwyn cefnogi cynghorwyr sydd ag ymrwymiadau eraill; a 

 Gosod cynllun gweithredu ar gyfer gweithgareddau cyn etholiadau lleol 

2022. 

4.8. Ar 7 Medi 2021 fe benderfynodd Cyngor Sir Ddinbych i ymrwymo i fod yn Gyngor 

Amrywiol a chymeradwyodd y datganiad a nodir yn Atodiad 3 i’r adroddiad hwn. Fe 

ddirprwyodd y Cyngor y dasg o baratoi cynllun gweithredu i gefnogi’r ymrwymiad 

hwn i’r Pwyllgor Democrataidd. 

4.9. Mae’r Arweinydd wedi gwahodd holl gynghorwyr benywaidd Cyngor Sir Ddinbych 

ar 9 Tachwedd fel y gellir cael trafodaeth am eu profiadau o’r rhwystrau y gall 

merched eu hwynebu wrth sefyll etholiad ac unrhyw welliannau y gellir eu gwneud 

yn y ffordd y mae’r Cyngor yn gweithio a all ddangos diwylliant agored a 

chynhwysol a’r camau ymarferol y gellir eu cymryd i wella profiad cynghorwyr 

benywaidd. 

4.10. Mae nifer o gynghorau eisoes wedi mabwysiadu cynlluniau 

gweithredu i gefnogi eu hymrwymiad i ddod yn gynghorau amrywiol. Nodweddion 

cyffredin o’r cynlluniau hyn yw camau i gynyddu ymgysylltiad gyda’r cyhoedd a 

chodi ymwybyddiaeth o rôl cynghorydd a’r cyfraniad cadarnhaol y mae cynghorwyr 

yn ei wneud. Mae CLlLC wedi lansio gwefan ‘Byddwch yn Gynghorydd’ sy’n 

cynnwys gwybodaeth am rôl cynghorydd a’r gefnogaeth a’r cyfleoedd i ddatblygu 

sydd ar gael. Mae’r wefan ar gael yma https://www.byddwchyngynghorydd.cymru/. 

Gellir hyrwyddo hyn i sicrhau fod ymgeiswyr posibl yn cael eu hysbysu’n llawn am 

y rôl. 

4.11. Nodweddion cyffredin eraill y cynlluniau gweithredu hyn yw 

cydnabyddiaeth o bwysigrwydd iechyd a diogelwch cynghorwyr a’r camau i sicrhau 

fod aelodau yn derbyn yr hyfforddiant priodol a’r ymwybyddiaeth i’w cynorthwyo 

Tudalen 33

https://www.beacouncillor.wales/


 
 

gyda’u lles, gan ei gwneud yn glir na fydd y cyngor yn goddef bwlio na bygwth 

cynghorwyr, gan gynnwys ar y cyfryngau cymdeithasol. 

4.12. Mae’r cynlluniau gweithredu hefyd yn cynnwys camau i wella’r 

modd y caiff cyfarfodydd eu cynnal i sicrhau y gall pobl a allai fod mewn cyflogaeth 

llawn amser, sy’n rhedeg eu busnesau eu hunain, neu sydd ag anabledd neu â 

chyfrifoldebau gofalu, gymryd rhan mewn democratiaeth leol. Fe fydd canlyniad y 

gwaith, a gaiff ei gynnwys yn yr adroddiad ar raglen y Pwyllgor yn ymwneud â’r 

Ffyrdd Newydd o Weithio, yn hysbysu cynllun gweithredu’r Cyngor i’r perwyl hwn. 

4.13. Fe fydd y Pwyllgor hefyd yn ystyried adroddiad drafft Panel 

Annibynnol Cymru ar Gydnabyddiaeth Ariannol sy’n nodi penderfyniadau’r Panel 

mewn perthynas â chydnabyddiaeth ariannol i aelodau ar gyfer y flwyddyn ddinesig 

2022-2023. Mae’r Panel yn ymwybodol iawn y gall un o’r rhwystrau i gyfranogiad 

fod yn ariannol ac yn ei adroddiad drafft mae’n gofyn i Gynghorau annog aelodau i 

gymryd eu cyflogau yn llawn ac i hawlio lwfansau, fel y rhai sydd ar gael i aelodau 

gyda chyfrifoldebau gofalu i annog cyfranogiad ehangach gan grwpiau sy’n cael eu 

tangynrychioli. 

4.14. Gofynnir i’r Pwyllgor ystyried a thrafod y materion a godwyd yn 

adroddiad CLlLC ac i ystyried y camau all gael eu cynnwys mewn cynllun 

gweithredu i gefnogi datganiad y Cyngor fel gaiff ei nodi yn Atodiad 3. 

5. Sut mae’r penderfyniad yn cyfrannu at y Blaenoriaethau 
Corfforaethol? 

5.1. Mae Cynllun Corfforaethol y Cyngor yn cynnwys ymrwymiad i ymgysylltu, herio 

a, lle bo modd, cael gwared ar rwystrau i gyfleoedd ar gyfer y rhai hynny sydd â 

nodweddion a ddiogelir.  

6. Faint fydd hyn yn ei gostio a sut y bydd yn effeithio ar 
wasanaethau eraill? 

6.1. Caiff unrhyw gostau sy’n gysylltiedig â’r cynllun gweithredu eu nodi yn ystod y 

broses o ddatblygu’r cynllun hwnnw. 

7. Beth yw prif gasgliadau’r Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Les? 

7.1. Nid oes gofyniad am asesiad o’r effaith ar les ar gyfer yr adroddiad hwn. 

Tudalen 34



 
 

8. Pa ymgynghoriadau sydd wedi’u cynnal gyda Chraffu ac 
eraill? 

8.1. Nid yw’r adroddiad hwn wedi’i ystyried gan y Pwyllgor Craffu. 

9. Datganiad y Prif Swyddog Cyllid 

9.1. Fel y nodir yn adran 6 nid oes goblygiadau ariannol uniongyrchol i’r adroddiad 

hwn. Byddai angen i’r arian at raid presennol gael ei ddefnyddio i ymdrin ag 

unrhyw bwysau net o’r cynllun gweithredu yn ystod y flwyddyn a bydd yn cael ei 

ffactoreiddio i broses y gyllideb ar gyfer 2022/23. 

10. Pa risgiau sydd ac a oes unrhyw beth y gallwn ei wneud i'w 
lleihau? 

10.1. Mae risg y bydd methu â mynd i’r afael â rhai o’r materion sy’n rhwystr i rai 

grwpiau mewn cymdeithas rhag cyfranogi yn y broses ddemocrataidd yn cymell 

rhai aelodau o’r cyhoedd i beidio â sefyll fel ymgeiswyr mewn etholiadau, ac 

felly bydd hyn yn cyfyngu ar amrywiaeth cynrychiolaeth. 

11. Pŵer i wneud y Penderfyniad 

11.1. a2 Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 2000  

11.2. a111 Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972  

Tudalen 35



Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



1 
 

WLGA COUNCIL SPEACIAL MEETING                                                         
5th March 2021 

WLGA WORKING GROUP ON DIVERSITY IN LOCAL 
DEMOCRACY 
 

Purpose 

1. To report on the work undertaken by the WLGA Cross Party Working Group on 
Diversity in Local Democracy and seek Council’s endorsement of proposals to 
achieve a ‘step change’ at the 2022 local elections.  

Summary  

2. WLGA Council agreed in September 2018 to take steps to advance gender 
equality and diversity in Councils before the 2022 elections. This was in 
recognition of the lack of diversity in Welsh Councils .   A cross party working 
group was set up to explore broader underrepresentation in democracy.   
 

3. It is now widely acknowledged that equal representation is not only an issue of 
representational fairness but essential for the quality of policy development and 
decision making. Decisions will be better when they are taken by people with 
lived experience of an issue. The ‘right person for the job’ of councillor needs to 
be a member of the community they serve, in order to fully and consistently 
understand the lives and needs of that community.  Councils also need to 
demonstrate to underrepresented communities that they are valued and included 
in local democracy. 
 

4. Much work has been undertaken in the last decade in Wales to measure and 
improve the diversity of councils. More work is in the pipeline in preparation for 
the 2022 elections. There is a national communications campaign to encourage 
people from underrepresented groups to vote, engage with local democracy and 
stand for office. New mentoring programmes are being delivered with the 
Womens’ Equality Network Wales and  the Ethnic Minorities and Youth Support 
Team Wales.   Stonewall Cymru and Disability Wales will also soon be offering 
mentoring programmes. The Welsh Government and Senedd Commission are 
working with Councils, schools and youth councils and developing resources to 
encourage 16 and 17 yr olds to get involved and vote. The WLGA has a new Be a 
Councillor website and, is part of the Pan UK civility in public life campaign and 
are working with Councils to continue to improve the range of support and 
development provided to members.   
 

Page 19Tudalen 37



2 
 

5. In previous elections councils have worked hard to encourage underrepresented 
groups to stand with their own outreach, mentoring schemes and information 
days. They have done much to improve the support provided for serving 
councillors and provide them with guidance, development and better working 
conditions.  More recently we have worked together as a local government family 
to support members suffering abuse and harassment.  
 

6. The Working Group found, and national and international research shows, that 
this comprehensive activity will not be enough to make change at the pace 
required.  This report outlines the additional activities that could make a 
difference.  
 

7. There are three main areas for action:  
 
• Encouraging councils to ensure all councillors receive their full entitlement 

to allowances and salaries, and encouraging the introduction of 
resettlement grants, so that all members receive fair remuneration for 
their work and that the role of member is not limited to those who can 
afford it 

• An agreement by councils to undertake new or developed work in this 
area and visibly commit to this by signing up to becoming Diverse 
Councils.  

• To discuss positions and making representation to political parties and 
acting locally to set quotas and/or voluntary targets for the election of 
councillors from underrepresented groups.  

 

Background 

8. WLGA Council first received this report at its meeting on 27th November 2020.  
Given the significance of the report and the issues considered and due to the 
congested agenda at the November Council, members agreed to defer the report 
to a later and dedicated meeting in early 2021.  
 

9. At its meeting on 28th September 2018, WLGA Council committed to advance 
gender equality and diversity in local democracy ahead of the 2022 local 
elections.  

10. WLGA Council agreed to establish a cross party working group to develop an 
action plan and to identify possible actions for consideration by WLGA Council. 
The Membership of the Group is at Annex A. Not all members were able to 
attend all meetings, however, contributed to the work via discussions with 
officers. The WLGA Equalities Cabinet Members Network has also fed into the 
work of the group. 

Page 20Tudalen 38



3 
 

11. The working group did not commission additional research or evidence gathering 
as there have been several reviews in recent years. The working group 
considered recommendations which have emerged from research undertaken in 
2018-19 by the Women’s Equalities Network, Chwarae Teg, the Senedd’s 
Equality, Local Government and Communities Committee, the Welsh Government 
including the review of its Diversity in Democracy programme, the Fawcett 
Society, the Electoral Reform Society, and the British Council. Further research 
and reports, including engagement and research through the Welsh 
Government’s developing Race Equality Action Plan and Race Alliance Wales’ ‘Do 
the Right Thing’ report (January 2021)1, have informed this report.  

12. The evidence base, barriers and challenges to attracting more diverse councillors 
were referenced in the WLGA’s submission to the Senedd’s Equality, Local 
Government and Communities Committee Inquiry into diversity in local 
government in September 20182. The barriers and challenges can broadly be 
summarised as:  

• Time-commitment and meeting times; 
• Political and organisational culture; 
• Childcare and other caring responsibilities; 
• Public criticism and online abuse; 
• Remuneration and impact on employment; and 
• Lack of diverse role models and incumbency 

 
13. The working group also considered the legislation proposed in the Local 

Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 and considered the views from 
various groups through the Diversity in Democracy roundtables of stakeholders, 
convened by the Minister for Housing and Local Government, where the WLGA 
was previously represented by Cllr Debbie Wilcox and, subsequently, by Cllr Mary 
Sherwood.  

14. The WLGA supported and participated in regional diversity in democracy 
stakeholder events held by the Welsh Government in the autumn of 2019 which 
sought views from under-represented groups from across Wales.  

15. Senior WLGA and local government members also participated in an Electoral 
Reform Society ‘Equal Power Equal Voice’ Roundtable debate in October 2020 
which sought to explore some of the barriers around diversity, including quotas.  

 

 
1Race Alliance Wales ‘Do The Right Thing’ research report on racialised representation in public and 
political life (January 2021) - Full research paper (https://bit.ly/3qpU4Rm) Executive summary 
(https://bit.ly/3bPtfCk) 

 
2 https://www.wlga.wales/SharedFiles/Download.aspx?pageid=62&fileid=1852&mid=665 

Page 21Tudalen 39

https://bit.ly/3qpU4Rm
https://bit.ly/3bPtfCk


4 
 

Progress remains slow 

16. Data shows that there remains a significant lack of diversity in Welsh councils. In 
Wales’ local authorities: 

• 28% of councillors and 29% of Cabinet members are women.  
• Councillors are proportionately older than the general adult population (47% 

of councillors were aged 60 years or older) and a higher proportion of 
councillors were retired (31%).  

• Only about 1.8% of councillors are Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 
compared to 4.7% for the Welsh population and few hold senior positions.  

• 11% of councillors stated that they had a disability, and there remain a range 
of challenges for disabled people participating in the democratic process. 
 

17. There has been some small progress, however, the leadership of Welsh local 
government is more diverse than ever before, though we recognise it is not fully 
reflective of wider society; there are 6 women leaders (up from 2 in 2017) and 6 
women Deputy Leaders, a quarter of leaders are below the age of 45 and 2 
leaders and several senior councillors have featured in Pride Cymru’s ‘Pinc List’ in 
recent years.  

18. The Black Lives Matter movement and wider Welsh Government commissioned 
working groups on the impact of COVID-19 on BAME people has demonstrated 
the barriers and challenges faced by of a significant proportion of society and 
highlighted the need to make visible progress in policy, leadership and, in 
particular, political representation.  

19. The Report of the Welsh Government’s BAME Covid-19 Socioeconomic Subgroup, 
chaired by Professor Emmanuel Ogbonna observed: 

“The overall theme that ran through the factors discussed in this report is the 
impact of longstanding racism and disadvantage and lack of BAME 
representation within decision making to effect better socio-economic 
outcomes. Although many of the issues highlighted have been identified and 
discussed previously, they have not been addressed in any systematic and 
sustained way. The coronavirus pandemic is, in some respects, revealing the 
consequences of such inaction on race equality.” 

20. The Socioeconomic Subgroup recommended that: 

“Welsh Government to encourage the political engagement of BAME 
communities by raising awareness and understanding of Welsh and UK 
democratic institutions and processes, with the overall aim of encouraging the 
increase of political representation of BAME communities by also encouraging 
voter registration from BAME communities.”The Welsh Government is also 
developing a Race Equality Action Plan, which will be published for 
consultation in the Spring 2021. This Plan will outline a vision, goals and 
actions to make Wales an anti-racist nation and will prioritise anti-racism and 
greater diversity in leadership and representation.  

Page 22Tudalen 40



5 
 

21. In advance of the Race Equality Action Plan, the actions and proposals in this 
report have been informed by WLGA engagement and participation in the Welsh 
Government’s stakeholder and working groups and other race equality 
workstreams. Race Alliance Wales’ ‘Do the Right Thing’ report outlines a range of 
cultural and institutional barriers around participation of racialised people (it uses 
this term as it is argued that BAME people are racialised because of their 
ethnicity) and outlines several recommended actions and commitments for public 
bodies. 

22. Local authorities are also undertaking local reviews or actions in response to 
the issues raised through Black Lives Matter and COVID-19 work reflecting the 
issues. The WLGA leadership has committed to building on local authorities’ work 
and the WLGA will respond to the Race Equality Action Plan when it is published 
for consultation. 

23. The lack of diverse representation in local authorities is a problem that has 
been recognised for decades. A more diverse democracy and elected 
representatives who are more reflective and understanding of their communities 
leads to better engagement with individuals and communities, in turn leading to 
greater levels of confidence and trust and better decision-making informed by a 
wider range of perspectives and lived experiences.  

24. Prominent decision-makers from under-represented groups can be influential 
role models, empowering and encouraging others to aspire to follow in their 
footsteps and to contribute to public life. Similarly, more diverse senior political 
leaders who are more representative of an organisation’s workforce can lead to 
improved workforce engagement, trust in leadership and a more confident 
organisational culture. 

Diversity in Democracy 2017 

25.  Local authorities, the WLGA, Welsh Government and political parties have 
employed a range of measures to encourage greater diversity in candidates and 
councillors. The WLGA supported the Welsh Government-led Diversity in 
Democracy programme ahead of the 2017 elections.  

26. The Diversity in Democracy programme was the biggest and most well-resourced 
programme of its type and was supported by a range of national partners 
including the main political parties. The programme included an awareness and 
promotional campaign, production of literature and online videos for candidates, 
businesses and mentees, working with employers to encourage them to 
encourage and support staff to be councillors and the roll-out of a mentoring 
scheme for people from under-represented groups.  

27. A range of online materials were produced to provide information to candidates 
and councillors, including the WLGA’s Be a Councillor guide and Councillor’s 
Guide and the Welsh Government’s Diversity in Democracy materials which 

Page 23Tudalen 41



6 
 

included specific leaflets to encourage businesses to support staff in becoming 
councillors.  

28. The Welsh Government produced a series of online videos with councillors as 
part of the Diversity in Democracy programme and several councils, including 
Gwynedd, Monmouthshire and Powys also produced excellent videos to explain 
the role of councillors and to encourage candidates to stand.  

29. Several councils ran ‘open days’ ahead of the elections and mentoring and 
shadowing programmes are widely regarded as being beneficial, particularly in 
supporting people from under-represented groups to come forward to stand.  

30. A mentoring campaign was the central project within the Diversity in Democracy 
programme and participants received extensive support, advice, training and 
access to serving councillors who acted as mentors. Of the 51 mentees who 
participated, only 16 stood for election and only 4 were elected. However, such a 
‘conversion rate’ suggests that, in future, mentoring and support programmes 
may be a more effective use of resources if they are provided to people who had 
already committed to standing as a candidate. 

Diversity in Democracy 2022 

31. The cross party WLGA working group met three times to consider evidence and 
develop recommendations for consideration by WLGA Council. The working group 
has reviewed the existing evidence, considered what activities councils and the 
WLGA could do to improve diversity in democracy and the role of the Welsh 
Government and political parties.  

32. The Minister for Housing and Local Government also convened a Diversity in 
Democracy roundtable of stakeholders which met twice. During the autumn of 
2019, the Welsh Government organised 4 regional stakeholder events with 95 
people attending, including councillors and officers from town and community 
councils and unitary authorities and third sector including charities, support 
organisations for the disabled, BAME, young people and religious organisations. 
WLGA Officials facilitated roundtable discussions. Key messages were: 

• There was a general lack of awareness of the role and contribution made by 
councillors. 

• Social media abuse directed at councillors is getting worse.  The abuse is 
predominately, but not exclusively aimed at women which has a direct effect 
on diversity in the role.  There was increasing concern the abuse could be 
directed at members of the councillors’ family, which was evidenced by some 
of the experiences of attendees.  

• Training and development are fundamental, but people were not always 
aware of what is available. 

Page 24Tudalen 42



7 
 

• Time commitment was a barrier for many people, particularly people with 
family commitments or jobs.  

• Providing help with costs to support individuals stand for election was a 
recurring theme, particularly for disabled people and other individuals from 
protected characteristics groups. Childcare costs were also seen as a barrier 
to campaigning. 

• There was confusion about whether and what councillors are paid and on 
what basis.  There were concerns about the determinations made and how 
individuals were impacted as a result of the interplay between the HMRC, the 
benefits system and the remuneration levels.  Many attendees at the 
workshops felt remuneration of the councillor role does not cover the costs 
associated with the role particularly in town and community councils.  

 

 Action Plan 2020-22  
33. A range of actions emerged from the Ministerial roundtable and the WLGA’s 

working group which are being implemented or planned. These include the 
following (specific WLGA or local authority activity is included in italics): 

Awareness/Value of Role 

34. Councils and councillors have played a critical, central and prominent role during 
the COVID 19 pandemic during 2020. Councils have demonstrated that they are 
uniquely placed at the heart of their communities and public service delivery and 
councils and councillors have invariably been the first port of call for the most 
vulnerable or those in need of support or assurance. The crisis has demonstrated 
councils’ ability to respond irrespective of scale and reaffirmed the importance of 
subsidiarity and localism, with elected members rooted in their local 
communities.  

35. A broad-based communication campaign is in development with the Welsh 
Government and Senedd Commission. This will start with messages about the 
value of democracy and voting aimed at primarily at the newly enfranchised for 
the 2021 Senedd elections. This will develop to focus on the value and 
contribution made by councillors and encouraging participation in local 
democracy.  

36. In parallel to the development of the national campaign Welsh Government will 
work with partners to identify key points/events throughout 2020 to promote 
positive stories about councillors’ contributions and achievements.  

37. Councils and WLGA to develop a consistent and coordinated campaign 
demonstrating how much councillors are valued, developed and supported. 

Page 25Tudalen 43



8 
 

38. WLGA has launched a Be a Councillor website https://www.beacouncillor.wales/ 
which will be further developed in 2021 with pen portraits and ‘day in the life’ 
case study videos of councillors from a cross-section of characteristics. It will also 
include an e learning module for people interested in standing to enable them to 
understand the role in more detail and “hit the ground running” should they be 
elected.  

39. Coordinated activity between authorities, including information and awareness 
campaigns and open days, linked to key events such as Local Democracy Week, 
International Women’s Day, Black History Month, Disability Awareness Day, LGBT 
History Month etc.  

40. Targeted WLGA promotional work through Welsh political party conferences in 
2021 

41. Targeted engagement work with third sector organisations to encourage 
discussion and interest in volunteers translating their informal community role 
into an elected community role. The COVID 19 Pandemic has increased the levels 
of voluntary and community-based work. The WLGA will engage with individuals 
and groups who may now wish to continue this work by standing for office.  

Candidate/Councillor Abuse 

42. The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 will facilitate a change in 
the requirement to use personal addresses on ballot papers.  The Act will also 
place a duty on political group leaders to promote high standards of conduct. It 
will also require councils to publish official rather than personal addresses for 
councillors. 

43. The WLGA, in partnership with their colleagues in England, Scotland and 
Northern Ireland, are involved in developing the Civility in Public Life campaign to 
promote mutual respect and promote high standards of conduct. The WLGA, 
working with the LGA, has produced an online Councillors guide for handling 
intimidation https://www.local.gov.uk/councillors-guide-handling-intimidation . 

44. The WLGA is working with authorities to encourage an informal but 
comprehensive duty of care for members.  

45. The WLGA is also contacting and providing advice and support to individual 
councillors who receive online abuse and, where appropriate, issuing supportive 
messages challenging online abuse via social media. 

Training and Development 

46. The WLGA, with authorities, will continue to review current and future training 
provision. This will include a focus on new ways of delivering support and 
development post COVID 19.  

Page 26Tudalen 44

https://www.beacouncillor.wales/
https://www.beacouncillor.wales/
https://www.local.gov.uk/councillors-guide-handling-intimidation


9 
 

47. Work will be undertaken to identify ways in which ex councillors can use their 
experience and skills to enhance their CVs or continue to use their skills and 
experience through involvement with training / support mechanisms.  

48. The National “curriculum” for member induction is being updated. This overview 
of what members would find useful to learn is agreed with councils and includes 
subjects considered mandatory. As well as traditional subjects like Ethics and 
Standards, The Well-being of Future Generations and Scrutiny skills, this will now 
include unconscious bias, personal safety and remote working skills.  

49. A new online Councillors Guide will be developed for Councillors for the 2022 
elections. 

50. The suite of National e Learning modules specifically developed for members 
which is freely available via the NHS learning@wales website will be updated for 
the 2022 elections. This work is being undertaken by authorities working 
together with the WLGA and is particularly important as a result of the changes 
to working and learning practice as a result of the Pandemic.    

51. The national Competency framework for elected members is now being 
developed prior to the 2022 elections to include new requirements such as the 
understanding of unconscious bias, civility, remote meeting attendance and ICT 
skills.  

52. Councils undertake personal development review with members to personalise 
training support. WLGA offers guidance and training in how to conduct PDRs  

53. The Leadership programme for elected members developed and delivered with 
LGA and Academi Wales is being re commissioned and refreshed. There are 
challenges associated with delivering the programme in the current climate which 
will be addressed as part of the commission.   

Mentoring 

54. Welsh Government officials are working with disability and equality organisations 
such as the Ethnic Minorities and Youth Support Team Wales, Disability Wales 
and Stonewall Cymru to scope the requirement for a Wales wide mentoring 
scheme which includes all protected characteristics. Several mentoring schemes 
are already organised by a range of third sector organisations, these will be 
aligned and coordinated, with resources and learning shared. 

55. Work will be undertaken to explore work shadowing/apprenticeships and other 
opportunities to expose individuals to the work of councils which taken together 
will form a pathway to participation. 

56. The WLGA has promoted and is supporting mentoring schemes run by EYST and 
the Women’s Equality Network Wales. Several councillors have participated as 
mentors in these programmes.  

Page 27Tudalen 45



10 
 

57. Newly elected members are offered mentors when they join the council (WLGA 
provides guidance and training for member mentors). 

58. There are opportunities for individual councils/councillors to provide shadowing 
and mentoring opportunities for people interested in standing for office ahead of 
the 2022 local elections. 

Flexibility  

59. The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 includes a range of 
provisions to support flexible ways of working including making provision for job 
sharing and strengthening the remote attendance arrangements.  

60. Welsh Government Officials are now working with WLGA and LA officials to 
consider how the legislation and arrangements made for meetings to be held 
remotely could be extended to improve flexibility and access for a wider range of 
councillors.  

61. Local authorities’ rapid adoption of virtual meetings via platforms such as Teams, 
Webex or Zoom during COVID 19 has transformed the way councils do business. 
Meetings are more accessible for many members, significantly reducing travel 
commitments and time, allowing members to attend meetings from work and, in 
the main, from home. Whilst there are potential impacts on ‘work-life’ balance 
and setting boundaries between council work and home-life, this approach has 
provided greater flexibility for members with caring responsibilities. Virtual 
meetings have also encouraged a less formal and flexible approach to meetings. 
Councils have bid for WG funding to facilitate digital engagement through the 
Digital Democracy Fund. 

62. The LGA have produced a tool to enable women, parents and carers to become 
councillors and has a range of ideas that could be adopted in councils including a 
way of assessing the councils support for diverse councillors. 
https://www.local.gov.uk/twenty-first-century-councils 

Supporting individuals with protected characteristics  

63. The Welsh Government plans to introduce an Access to Elected Office fund to 
assist disabled people to stand for elected office in Wales at the 2021 Senedd 
and 2022 local elections.. 

64. The Welsh Government recently consulted on this proposal and the WLGA and 
several authorities were supportive. The Working Group also suggested that 
learning from this initiative could be used to inform any future access funds such 
as for childcare for candidates. 

Education  

65. Welsh Government and Senedd Commission has developed a set of educational 
resources to accompany the extension of the franchise to 16- and 17-year-olds in 

Page 28Tudalen 46

https://www.local.gov.uk/twenty-first-century-councils


11 
 

Wales which will focus on knowledge of and participation in democracy in Wales. 
This is freely available to schools and other education settings via an online 
resource Hwb 

66. Work is being undertaken to identify ways in which schools in Wales can use the 
new curriculum to highlight and promote participation and engagement with local 
democracy.  

67. Councils will continue to engage with schools, including links with school councils 
and Youth Councils. 

68. Councils are also using the Electoral Reform Support Grant to engage with newly 
enfranchised groups to help them understand the democratic process and 
encourage them to register and vote. 

Remuneration  

69. In response to concerns raised by WLGA Leaders, the Independent 
Remuneration Panel is identifying the key issues in relation to taxation and 
benefits applying to members and will prepare a paper for Welsh Government. 

70. The Minister for Housing and Local Government has raised the tax issues with 
the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales to explore potential solutions. 

71. The Welsh Government has committed to explore with the Independent 
Remuneration Panel for Wales the case for payments in respect of councillors 
who lose their seats at election and present options to Ministers. This is an issue 
that has been raised as a concern by leaders, as councillors (and in particular 
full-time senior councillors), are at significant personal, financial risk if they lose 
their seat.  

Making a Step Change in 2022 

72. The above proposed work programme outlines a range of awareness raising, 
engagement and support activities. Many similar activities were delivered during 
the Diversity in Democracy programme ahead of the 2017 elections.  

73. However, despite some progress, improvement was marginal at the at the 2017 
elections: 

• the number of candidates increased by 5.6% (3,463 candidates compared 
to 3,279 in 2012 (including Anglesey candidates in 2013). 

• 29% of all candidates were women (up by 1% from 2012).  
• 28% of councillors elected were women (up 2% from 2012). 
• 32% of all newly elected members were women). 

 

Page 29Tudalen 47



12 
 

74. Uncontested seats at the 2017 elections remained high at 92 (7%) seats 
uncontested. This was fewer than in 2012, when there were 99 (8%) seats 
uncontested, but this continues to undermine local democracy. 

75. Compared to the 2017 programme, Diversity in Democracy 2022 will include 
refinements and more targeted activity based on evaluations and lessons 
learned, along with some new, additional work such as the Civility in Public Life 
campaign. 

76. The WLGA working group has shaped and is supportive of the proposed 
programme of activities outlined above, however it concluded that the 
programme on its own is unlikely to see significant improvements, 
particularly without clear leadership, commitment and coordinated 
actions from the main political parties.  

77. The working group has considered several more significant proposals 
which might have a more positive impact on diversity and the number 
of candidates in 2022.  

78. The views of Council are therefore sought on the following additional 
actions. 

The Role of Political Parties 

79. The working group recognised that independent councillors were a key feature of 
Welsh local government. It also recognised that political parties provided the 
majority of candidates at local elections and therefore play a key role and have 
significant responsibility in encouraging a more diverse range of candidates. 

80. The working group noted that political parties have different policies and views 
about the introduction of quotas, all women shortlists, selection of diverse 
candidates in winnable seats or other positive-action initiatives.  

81. There are, however, a range of good practice initiatives that political parties 
could undertake to encourage and support more diverse candidates both locally 
and nationally: 

• Review party selection criteria e.g. reducing the length of membership before 
members can stand for office. 

• Local parties can establish fora and run events/socials/training sessions for 
underrepresented groups. Helping these groups understand what the role of 
councillor is about, that their participation is required and how to stand plus 
the support that will be available once in office. 

• Parties could establish ‘Diversity Grants’ to support people from 
underrepresented groups (who will not benefit from the Access to elected 
office fund) to stand.  

Page 30Tudalen 48



13 
 

• Existing councillors from underrepresented groups can be put forward for 
public events on panels, as speakers or as chairs to raise the profile of 
members from underrepresented groups and enable them to be role models 
for their communities. 

• Talent spotting and engaging with communities working with community 
leaders from underrepresented groups, encouraging people shadow, be 
mentored and stand for election. 

• Promoting and signposting of information and materials, such as those 
available via parties or national bodies such as the WLGA. 

• Establish respect protocols for behaviour within the Group reflecting that 
required in councils and for the Code of Conduct with sanctions for people not 
meeting standards or undertaking training in respect. 

• Encourage political parties and local groups, including officials those with a 
responsibility in the selection process to undertake unconscious bias training. 

• Encourage political parties to provide by-stander training for candidates and 
party members, to understand how to provide support to diverse candidates 
and challenge any abuse, such as disability hate crime or racism, that may be 
experienced on the doorstep (this was a proposal that emerged from the 
Electoral Reform Society roundtable in October 2020), 

82. It is recommended that WLGA Council agrees to encourage all political parties, 
through the WLGA Political Groups, to commit to proactive and coordinated 
activities such as those listed at paragraph 74 above to improve diversity in local 
government democracy.  

Resettlement grants or ‘parachute payments’  
83. Councillors are one of the only paid public roles that do not have financial 

protection and are not entitled to receive a ‘redundancy’ payment if they lose 
office at an election. Members of the Senedd and Members of Parliament receive 
a significant resettlement grant should they lose office at an election. 
Redundancy payments are also a protected right for public sector employees.  

84. In particular, senior councillors tend to be full-time, often have to give up careers 
to focus on their councillor role and many have family as well as other financial 
commitments; the personal risk of a sudden and significant loss of a salary is 
inconsistent and unfair compared to other public roles. It is also a disincentive for 
more diverse people with careers or family responsibilities to consider taking on 
the most senior roles in local government.  

85. The Independent Remuneration Panel has committed to consider this matter and 
explore whether the Welsh Government would need to introduce any legislative 
amendment to empower the Panel to introduce any such payments in future. 

Page 31Tudalen 49



14 
 

86. The ‘cost of politics’ and councillors’ remuneration is a controversial matter and is 
subject to significant media and public scrutiny and political pressure. Any 
proposals would therefore have to carefully balance equality, fairness and costs 
and public acceptability. 

87. WLGA leaders have previously raised the matter with the Independent 
Remuneration Panel previously, however the WLGA does not have a formal 
position on resettlement grants for senior salary holders.  

88. It is recommended that WLGA Council adopts a formal position calling 
for the introduction of resettlement grants for senior salary holders. 

Councillors’ allowances and expenses 

89. The Independent Remuneration Panel and some WLGA Leaders have previously 
expressed concern that many members entitled to receive specific expenses, 
such as travel allowances, or reimbursements of costs of care do not make 
claims. Several councillors also decide to forgo parts of their salaries; the 
Independent Remuneration Panel recently wrote to the WLGA noting “…that it is 
an individual’s right to decide that they can take a lesser amount than that 
prescribed as long as there is no pressure applied either directly or subliminally”, 
noting concern, however, that 12% of councillors decided to forgo last year’s 
salary increases. There are concerns that this is partly to do with austerity, public 
and media perception but anecdotally, it is clear that there is also local peer or 
political group pressure or organisational cultural norms. 

90. These allowances are provided to meet councillors’ legitimate costs incurred in 
undertaking their duties and also play a role in encouraging greater diversity; 
some councillors can be disproportionately affected if they are on low income or 
have caring responsibilities. The Independent Remuneration Panel and several 
leaders have expressed concerns about this practice as it may disadvantage 
members who cannot afford to forgo expenses and acts as a disincentive to 
stand/re-stand.  

91. As noted above, the ‘cost of politics’ and councillors’ remuneration is subject to 
significant media and public scrutiny. 

92. It is recommended that the WLGA Council agrees to encourage all 
councillors to claim any necessary allowances or expenses incurred.  

Diverse Councils  

93. The Welsh Government has committed to making Wales a Gender Equal Wales 
and the Cabinet to becoming a Feminist Government, which is a government that 
is: 

• Committed to equality of outcome for all women, men and nonbinary 
people and actively works to drive cultural and structural change  

Page 32Tudalen 50



15 
 

• Pro-actively works to advance equality and remove the barriers against all 
women’s participation in the economy, public and social life  

• Puts a gender perspective at the heart of decision-making, resource and 
budget allocation  

• Takes an intersectional approach to all of its work and ensures diversity of 
representation, participation and voice  

• Is people-focused and collaborative, ensuring that all communities are 
meaningfully engaged in its work  

• Is open, transparent and accountable and welcomes scrutiny through a 
gender lens  

• Makes use of policy development and analysis tools to embed gender 
equality into all of its work and actively monitors progress towards equality 
using a robust evidence base  

• Leads by example and supports other public bodies to take action to 
deliver equality. 

94. The Black Lives Matter movement has highlighted global concerns about racism 
and COVID-19 pandemic has exposed the health and socio-economic impacts of 
inequality. Increased representation from BAME people on councils is essential to 
ensure that BAME people are represented and contribute their lived experiences 
to the decision-making process. 

95. Councils’ Strategic Equality Plans outline objectives which demonstrate their 
commitments and planned actions to promote equality and diversity, including as 
employers and representative bodies. Many councils will also undertake a range 
of activities in promoting diversity in democracy ahead of the 2022 local 
elections, as outlined above.  

96. The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 will introduce a new 
‘public participation’ duty on local authorities which will include encouraging 
people to participate in decision-making and promoting awareness of how to 
become a member of the council. Further details of the aspects of the Act 2021 
which contribute to diversity can be found in Annex C 

97. Council meeting times are regularly highlighted as an issue for many serving 
councillors and, occasionally, as a disincentive for some people to stand. Councils 
review their meeting times at least once per term and several allow committees 
to have more flexibility to suit the committee members.  

98. Councillors however have diverse backgrounds and varying personal, caring and 
professional commitments; it is therefore unlikely that council meeting times are 
ever going to be convenient for all members. For example, a councillor who has a 
young child might find it easier to meet during the day, whereas another may 

Page 33Tudalen 51



16 
 

prefer to meet in the evening, depending on work commitments, schooling 
arrangements or childcare availability. 

99. An option suggested at the Equality Cabinet Members Network, was that 
meetings of any one committee should be varied over the year between day and 
evening so that members were not always having to take the same time off work 
or arrange childcare.  It was also noted that people should be advised before 
standing that meeting times may vary and could be changed, depending on the 
views of the newly elected councillors. 

100. The potential permanent changes to meeting arrangements so that they can 
be held remotely may reduce the time required for travelling to meetings, 
however members with caring responsibilities may still require staggered meeting 
times as it is still not possible to provide care and attend a meeting 
simultaneously. 

101. The Senedd and Parliament traditionally have recess periods, including a long 
Summer Recess. Approaches to the scheduling of meetings and official council 
business vary across authorities. Some councils have an official Summer recess, 
some do not schedule or scale down council meetings during school holidays. 
Councillors with children in school may be disadvantaged if council meetings are 
scheduled in the holidays, which may also prove to be a disincentive to stand.  

102. The working group have suggested that Councils might, in addition to their 
Strategic Equality Plans commit to becoming Diverse Councils, publishing a 
‘Diversity Declaration’ or a Council Motion outlining their intentions to secure 
equal outcomes for all by working actively to drive cultural and structural change 
and pro-actively working to advance equality and remove the barriers to any 
individual’s participation in the economy, public and social life.  This commitment 
would focus on ensuring that under-represented groups are more active 
participants in engagement and decision making. Demonstrating a public 
commitment to improving diversity and an open and welcoming culture to all in 
advance of the 2022 elections.  

103. A commitment by each local authority to becoming a Diverse Council could 
include  

• Establishing ‘Diversity Ambassadors’ for each political group in the council 
who, working with each other and their local party associations could 
encourage recruitment of members from underrepresented groups.  

• Encouraging and supporting Heads of Democratic Services, Elections 
officers/ Communications teams and /or Democratic Services Committees 
to undertake democratic outreach to promote the role of local councillor 
in, for example, schools or with underrepresented communities.  

104. A draft example of what could be included in a Diverse Council 
Declaration is included at Annex D. It is proposed a draft Declaration, 

Page 34Tudalen 52



17 
 

to be adapted and adopted locally, is developed in consultation with 
local authorities and partner organisations.   
 

105. It is recommended that Council  

106. Agrees to encourage a declaration by July 2021 from councils in 
Wales, on becoming ‘Diverse Councils’; to commit to: 

 provide a clear, public commitment to improving diversity; 
 demonstrate an open and welcoming culture to all; 
 consider staggering council meeting times and agreeing recess 

periods to support councillors with other commitments; and 
 set out an action plan of activity ahead of the 2022 local elections. 

 

Diversity Targets 

107. Political parties were encouraged, through the Diversity in Democracy 
programme, to commit to gender targets at the 2017 elections and Welsh 
Labour, for example, committed to fielding women in 40% of winnable seats.  

108. Other initiatives, such as 50-50 by 2020 have previously adopted targets and 
the Welsh Government’s recently published ‘Diversity and inclusion strategy for 
public appointments3’ includes an action for:  

‘Welsh Government to consult and if desired set overall targets across all 
Boards in Wales for BAME, disabled, LGBT+ and young people and 
socioeconomic groups, recognising that individual Boards have varying 
specific requirements.’ 

109. Targets could be included in any ‘Diversity Declaration’ (if such an approach is 
agreed).  

110. There are however mixed views on the value of targets. Targets provide a 
focus, demonstrate an organisation’s ambition and commitment and provide a 
useful ‘hook’ for promotional and public relations purposes. However, targets 
need to be realistic and, as we are starting from a low base in terms of diversity 
of candidates and councillors, such targets may not appear ambitious enough.  

111. Furthermore, whilst councils and the WLGA may seek to set targets to 
demonstrate ambition and commitment and can deliver a range of activities and 
reforms to encourage more candidates, other organisations notably political 
parties have the biggest influence over whether those targets can be achieved. 

 
3 https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-02/diversity-and-inclusion-strategy-for-
public-appointments-action-plan-year1-2020-21_0.pdf  

Page 35Tudalen 53

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-02/diversity-and-inclusion-strategy-for-public-appointments-action-plan-year1-2020-21_0.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-02/diversity-and-inclusion-strategy-for-public-appointments-action-plan-year1-2020-21_0.pdf


18 
 

Should councils determine local targets, they could therefore be criticized for not 
meeting targets which are largely not in their control.  

112. At a recent meeting of WLGA Group Leaders it was suggested that whilst 
targets at Ward level are difficult, due to recruitment challenges, global targets 
for a whole authority area might be achievable.  

113. It is recommended WLGA Council provides views on the adoption of 
local or national diversity targets. 

Quotas or Reserved Seats 

114. The Local Government Commission in 2017 concluded that “Incumbency in 
local councils disproportionately benefits men…[and]…the slow pace of change is 
significantly driven by incumbency.” According to the Elections Centre, in Wales’ 
local elections in 2017, 895 incumbents stood for election (across 71% of seats) 
with 693 or 77% being successfully re‐elected. In summary, incumbents are 
more likely to be re‐elected than other candidates due to their profile, reputation, 
or track‐record and, as most councillors are older, white men, most successful 
incumbents are therefore older white men. The impact of incumbency has 
therefore led some campaigners to call for term‐limits, quotas, or all‐women 
shortlists. 

115. The Welsh Government has previously controversially sought to tackle the 
issue of incumbency with the Golden Goodbye Scheme in 2002 and the 2015 
White Paper proposal to introduce term limits for councillors, a proposal which 
was roundly rejected by local government. 

116. According to the International Institute for Democracy and Electoral 
Assistance, there are four types of quota in use across the world today. Legal or 
voluntary candidate quotas and legal or voluntary reserved seats, reserved seats 
can be used for example to regulate the number of women elected. These can be 
introduced as a temporary measure and can be used at local and national level.  

117. The WLGA has never proposed the adoption of quotas as a formal WLGA 
policy, although gender quotas were supported by the WLGA’s former Leader, 
Baroness Wilcox of Newport, and the WLGA has previously outlined two 
‘Reserved Seats’ models for discussion: 

a. localised and targeted All Women Reserved Seats for all by‐elections 
during a municipal term. If such vacancies were targeted through a 
voluntary agreement between the main political parties to field only all 
women candidate lists, gender balance could improve by up to 5% during 
a municipal term.    

b. A wider approach, which might require some changes to electoral law 
regarding the nomination process, could see a similar approach adopted 
for ‘vacant’ seats, where councillors had decided to stand down or retire 
at the election. If such councillors were able to commit to or notify of 

Page 36Tudalen 54



19 
 

their intention to stand‐down by an early‐enough deadline, political 
parties could agree to voluntarily field all‐women candidate lists in such 
‘vacancies’, which could see as much as a 10‐15% swing in terms of 
gender balance at an election. With such an immediate electoral impact, 
gender balance could potentially be achieved in local government over a 
5‐year period over the course of 2 elections.  

118. Proposals such as quotas are controversial and there remain uncertainties 
regarding the legal basis for statutory quotas and political appetite fo rvoluntary 
quotas.  The Welsh Government plans to consider whether gender quotas should 
be introduced in Wales. The Ministerial Round-table has been informed that there 
may be legal limitations around the Senedd’s competence which may prevent 
statutory quotas being introduced, even if the Welsh Government adopted quotas 
as a policy. Race Alliance Wales’ ‘Do the Right Thing’ concludes that ‘…it is illegal 
to reserve all places for any particular characteristic, with exception made for 
women, and that quotas can legally only be made in regard to women, not other 
protected characteristic.’ 

119. More formal voluntary or statutory quotas have traditionally been 
recommended as a method of rapidly addressing imbalances in diversity and the 
effects of incumbency in perpetuating a lack of diversity. The Electoral Reform 
Society, Fawcett Society and British Council, call for legislation to be introduced 
for quotas (about 40-45%) for women candidates at elections.  Others, such as 
the Women’s Equality Network Wales, Chwarae Teg and the Expert Group on 
Diversity in Local Government also call for this but do not stipulate that it should 
be established in legislation.  

120. Extensive research undertaken by the above organisations and the Senedd 
committee, all point to some of the causes of underrepresentation being about 
how candidates are selected and elected and call for direct action to level the 
playing field so that women initially can be better represented.  

121. The issues they describe are selectorate bias and processes, electorate bias 
and party group culture. The playing field is not level for some, due to conscious 
or unconscious bias, fostered by the image of incumbents and the culture of 
political groups and parties. The image of the best person for the job is often, 
whether consciously or not assumed to be a white middle class, middle aged man 
because this traditionally has been what a typical councillor looks like. The routes 
to and process of selection traditionally support this position.   

122. Research undertaken by the Women’s Equality Network Wales (Annex B 
indicates that – 

• “Among the twenty Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe 
(OSCE) countries registering the sharpest growth in the proportion of 
women in parliament during the last decade...half had introduced legal 
quotas. By contrast, among the twenty OSCE countries lagging behind in 
growth...none had implemented legal quotas. 

Page 37Tudalen 55



20 
 

• 100 Countries world-wide now have some form of gender quotas in place 
and 40 also use them for intersectional groups such as BAME women.”  

123. The International Institute for Democracy and Electoral Assistance has 
outlined several ‘pros and cons’ of quotas: 

Cons: 
• Quotas are against the principle of equal opportunity for all, since women are 

given preference over men. 
• Quotas are undemocratic, because voters should be able to decide who is 

elected. 
• Quotas imply that politicians are elected because of their gender, not because 

of their qualifications and that more qualified candidates are pushed aside. 
• Many women do not want to get elected just because they are women. 
• Introducing quotas creates significant conflicts within the party organization. 
• Quotas violate the principles of liberal democracy. 
Pros: 
• Quotas for women do not discriminate but compensate for actual barriers that 

prevent women from their fair share of the political seats. 
• Quotas imply that there are several women together in a committee or 

assembly, thus minimizing the stress often experienced by the token women. 
• Women have the right as citizens to equal representation. 
• Women's experiences are needed in political life. 
• Election is about representation, not educational qualifications. 
• Women are just as qualified as men, but women's qualifications are 

downgraded and minimized in a male-dominated political system. 
• It is in fact the political parties that control the nominations, not primarily the 

voters who decide who gets elected; therefore, quotas are not violations of 
voters' rights. 

• Introducing quotas may cause conflicts but may be only temporary. 
• Quotas can contribute to a process of democratisation by making the 

nomination process more transparent and formalised. 
124. The main arguments for introducing quotas are not just about ensuring 

equality and to better reflect wider society, but because more diverse life 
experiences lead to better, more rounded decision-making; it would not just 
amplify the voice of women but also impact on the nature of debate and the 
decisions taken. Several organisations argue that quotas are the only way to see 
a step-change in diversity based on the evidence of impact where they have 
been introduced, but also the slow progress in changing local government 
diversity and diversity in UK politics generally. Quotas however remain a 
contested concept and have not been universally supported when previously 

Page 38Tudalen 56



21 
 

considered in a Welsh context. There were mixed views among the working 
group members and several leaders expressed reservations about the 
introduction of quotas during the Electoral Reform Society ‘Equal Power Equal 
Voice’ Roundtable debate in October 2020.  

125. The Equality Cabinet Members network also considered the risk around the 
language of ‘quotas’, particularly in terms of public perception as diverse 
candidates could be perceived as being tokenistic, undermining the credibility of 
high-caliber candidates.  

126. It is recommended that Council provides views on the introduction 
of statutory or voluntary quotas for Welsh local elections. 

 

Diversity of the WLGA  

127. Representation on the WLGA Council is one area where local authorities could 
make a positive difference and signal their commitment to change. It is not 
possible to state with certainty the percentage of underrepresented groups on 
the Council as this should be identified by each person themselves and this 
exercise has not been done, however, although there are more women leaders 
than ever before, the Council does not have proportionate representation of 
women or BAME councillors. 
 

128. Some local authorities have delegations of only two or three members to the 
Council and it will therefore be challenging for them to significantly change their 
membership, however, members may consider that there is an opportunity for 
authorities to proactively nominate more diverse members to the WLGA Council. 
The WLGA Council could also seek to appoint more diverse members as role 
models in Spokesperson or Deputy Spokesperson roles or involve wider 
councillors as Champions in the work of the WLGA. 

 

129. Recommendations  
  
It is recommended that WLGA Council: 

 
127.1  Recognises the work of the WLGA’s Cross-Party Working Group 

 on Diversity in Democracy;  
127.2  Agrees to encourage all political parties, through the WLGA 

 Political Groups, to commit to proactive and coordinated 
 activities such as those listed at paragraph 74 above to improve 
 diversity in local government democracy;  

127.3  Adopts a formal position calling for the introduction of 
 resettlement grants for senior salary holders; 

Page 39Tudalen 57



22 
 

127.4  Agrees to encourage all councillors to claim any necessary 
 allowances or expenses incurred;  

127.5  Agrees to encourage a declaration by July 2021 from councils in 
 Wales, on becoming ‘Diverse Councils’; to: 

127.6  Provide a clear, public commitment to improving diversity; 
127.7  Demonstrate an open and welcoming culture to all; 
127.8  Consider staggering council meeting times and agreeing recess 

 periods to support councillors with other commitments; and 
127.9  Set out an action plan of activity ahead of the 2022 local 

 elections. 
127.10 Provides views on the adoption of local or national diversity 

 targets; and  
127.11 Provides views on the introduction of statutory or voluntary 

 quotas for Welsh local elections.  
 

Report cleared by: 

Cllr Mary Sherwood, Joint WLGA Spokesperson for Equalities, Welfare Reform and 
Anti-Poverty & Co-Chair of Working Group 
Cllr Susan Elsmore, Joint WLGA Spokesperson for Equalities, Welfare Reform and 
Anti-poverty & Co-Chair of Working Group 
 
Authors:  Daniel Hurford   Sarah Titcombe   
  Head of Policy   Policy and Improvement Officer 
E-mail:  daniel.hurford@wlga.gov.uk  sarah.titcombe@wlga.gov.uk  
 
 

  

Page 40Tudalen 58

mailto:daniel.hurford@wlga.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.titcombe@wlga.gov.uk


23 
 

ANNEX A 

WLGA working group on Diversity in Local Democracy  
Members who have fed into the working group: 

• Co-Chair - Cllr Mary Sherwood (Labour), WLGA spokesperson for Equalities, 
Welfare Reform and Anti-Poverty, City and County of Swansea 

• Co-Chair - Cllr Susan Elsmore (Labour), WLGA Spokesperson for Equalities, 
Welfare Reform and Anti-poverty, Cabinet Member for Social Care, Health and 
Well-being, Cardiff Council  

• Cllr Cheryl Green (Liberal Democrat), Chair Corporate Overview Scrutiny 
Committee, Bridgend CBC 

• Cllr Daniel De’Ath (Labour) Lord Mayor, Cardiff Council 
• Cllr Lisa Mytton (Independent) Deputy Leader, Merthyr Tydfil CBC 
• Cllr Sara Jones (Conservative), Cabinet Member for Social Justice and Community 

Development, Monmouthshire County Council  
• Cllr Cefin Campbell (Plaid Cymru), Executive Board Member for Communities and 

Rural Affairs, Carmarthenshire County Council 
• Cllr Nicola Roberts (Plaid Cymru) Chair Licensing and Planning Committee, Isle of 

Anglesey Council 
• Cllr Dhanisha Patel (Labour) Cabinet Member for Wellbeing and Future 

Generations, Bridgend County Borough Council 
• Cllr Ann McCaffrey (Independent), Conwy County Borough Council 
• Cllr Jayne Cowan (Conservative) Cardiff Council 
• Cllr Bablin Molik (Liberal Democrat) Cardiff Council 
• Baroness Wilcox of Newport (Labour), Newport Council who chaired the working 

group initially in her capacity as WLGA Leader  
 

Views have also been provided through discussions with members and officers in: 

• Equalities Cabinet Members’ Network 
• Chairs of Democratic Services Network  
• Heads of Democratic Services Network 

 

Officer Support 

• Daniel Hurford, Head of Policy (Improvement and Governance) WLGA 
• Sarah Titcombe, Policy and Improvement officer (Democratic Services) WLGA  
• Dilwyn Jones Communication Officer, WLGA 
• Huw Evans, Head of Democratic Services, City and County of Swansea 
 
 

 

Page 41Tudalen 59



24 
 

ANNEX B 

EXTRACT FROM A WOMENS EQUALITY NETWORK (WEN) WALES 
BRIEFING PAPER                                                            

The case for quotas to deliver equal and diverse representation  

February 2020 

Evidence supporting quotas  

• Research shows that quotas are the “single most effective tool for ‘fast 
tracking’ women’s representation in elected bodies for government.”  
4 

• Among the twenty Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe 
(OSCE) countries registering the sharpest growth in the proportion of women 
in parliament during the last decade...half had introduced legal quotas. 
By contrast, among the twenty OSCE countries lagging behind in 
growth...none had implemented legal quotas.5 

• There is international backing for gender quotas. Various international 
institutions, including the United Nations Committee on the Elimination of 
Discrimination (CEDAW), the Beijing Platform for Action, the EU and the 
Council of Europe support their use. 

• Ireland has successfully used quotas requiring that at least 30 per cent of 
the candidates each party stands nationally are female (rising to 40 per cent 
after seven years). The percentage of women candidates increased 90 
per cent at the 2016 election compared to the 2011 election, with a 
corresponding 40 per cent increase in the number of women elected—
35 in 2016 compared with 25 in 2011.6 

• 100 Countries world-wide now have some form of gender quotas in place 
and 40 also use them for intersectional groups such as BAME women.  

• A report published by the United Nations in 2012 found that out of the 59 
countries that held elections in 2011, 17 of them had quotas. In those 
countries, women gained 27% of parliamentary seats compared to 
16% in those without.7 
 

 

 

 

 
4 Drude Dahlerup et al., Atlas of Electoral Gender Quotas, International Institute for Democracy and Electoral 
Assistance [IDEA], IPU and Stockholm University, 2013. 
5 Norris, P. and Krook, M. for OSCE, Gender equality in elected office: a six-step action plan, 2011 
6 Brennan, M. and Buckley, F. ‘The Irish legislative gender quota: the first election’, Administration, vol 65(2), 
May 2017 
7 https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2013/aug/20/quotas-women-parliament-authors-edinburgh-book-
festival  

Page 42Tudalen 60

https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2013/aug/20/quotas-women-parliament-authors-edinburgh-book-festival
https://www.theguardian.com/politics/2013/aug/20/quotas-women-parliament-authors-edinburgh-book-festival


25 
 

Types of Quota 
Different types of gender quota have been used in different countries, depending on 
the electoral system and local circumstances. The Expert Panel on Electoral reform8 
describes the three main types as:  

• Candidate quotas which introduce a ‘floor’ for the proportion of male or 
female candidates a party stands for election. These could be applied in the 
form of constituency twinning for First Past The Post (FPTP) seats. They could 
also be applied to multimember systems such as STV or Flexible List at a 
constituency or a national level. Parties in Scandinavia, Spain and Austria 
have voluntarily adopted similar quotas, ranging from 33 per cent to 50 per 
cent.  

• Requirements for the ordering of candidates on any list element of the 
system. Voluntary quotas of this nature have been used by parties in Wales in 
Assembly elections, for example zipping of regional candidate lists. (I.e. listing 
candidates alternately according to their gender) 

• ‘Reserved seats’ to which only female candidates could be elected. This 
type of quota is widely used in South Asia, the Arab region and sub Saharan 
Africa. 

 

Examples of Incentives used: 
• Croatia has legally binding quotas and uses incentives - for each MP 

representing an underrepresented gender, political parties receive an 
additional 10 per cent of the amount envisaged per individual MP;  

• Bosnia and Herzegovina: where 10 per cent of the funding provided to 
political parties is distributed to parties in proportion to the number of seats 
held by MPs of the gender which is less represented in the legislature, 
 

• Two for the price of one deposits for two candidates of different genders 
could be used in Wales —this would appear to us to be proportionate in the 
context of seeking to ensure that the gender balance in the Assembly reflects 
the gender balance in the communities it serves.9 

 
www.wenwales.org.uk / @wenwales   

 

 

 
8 A Parliament that works for Wales, Report of the Expert Panel on Assembly Electoral Reform, November 2017  
9 A Parliament that works for Wales, Report of the Expert Panel on Assembly Electoral Reform, November 2017  
 
 
 

Page 43Tudalen 61

http://www.wenwales.org.uk/


26 
 

ANNEX  C 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT AND ELECTIONS (WALES) ACT 2021 

The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Act 2021 includes provisions which will 
contribute to diversity in local government democracy. These are:  

 

• Entitlement to Job sharing for executive members and committee chairs 
• A duty on principal councils to produce a Public Participation Strategy and for 

it to be reviewed regularly. This will include encouraging people to participate 
in decision making and promoting awareness of how to become a member of 
the council.  

• A duty on political group leaders to promote and maintain high standards of 
conduct by members of their group. 

• Electronic broadcasting of full Council meetings initially, and other meetings 
to be announced later, following ongoing consultation by WG with Councils. 

• The provision of multi-location attendance at council meetings including 
physical, hybrid and remote attendance.  

• Provisions enabling the maximum period of absence for each type of family 
absence for members of local authorities to be specified within regulations 
and for adoptive leave to reflect that which is available to employees. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44Tudalen 62



27 
 

ANNEX D  
 

(DRAFT) DIVERSE COUNCIL DECLARATION 
The following provides a draft declaration. It is proposed that this is further 
developed in consultation with authorities, representative organisations and will be 
informed by emerging priorities from councils’ own diversity and equality action 
plans and emerging priorities from the Welsh Government’s Race Equality Action 
Plan. 

This Council commits to being a Diverse Council. We agree to: 

• Provide a clear public commitment to improving diversity in democracy 
• Demonstrate an open and welcoming culture to all, promoting the highest 

standards of behaviour and conduct 
• Set out a local Diverse Council Action Plan ahead of the 2022 local elections.  

o Appoint Diversity Ambassadors for each political group on the council 
to work with each other and local party associations to encourage 
recruitment of candidates from underrepresented groups.  

o Encourage and enable people from underrepresented groups to stand 
for office through the provision of activities such as mentoring and 
shadowing programmes and information and learning events for 
people interested in standing and official candidates. 

o Proactive engagement and involvement with local community groups 
and partner organisations supporting and representing under-
represented groups  

o Ensure that all members and candidates complete the Welsh 
Government candidates’ and councillors’ survey distributed at election 
time.  

o Sets targets ambitious targets for candidates from under-represented 
groups at the 2022 local elections 
 

• Work towards the standards for member support and Development set out in 
the Wales Charter for Member Support and Development.  

• Demonstrate a commitment to a duty of care for Councillors by: 
o providing access to counselling services for all councillors 
o having regard for the safety and wellbeing of councillors whenever 

they are performing their role as councillors.  
o taking a zero-tolerance approach to bullying and harassment by 

members including through social networks.  
• Provide flexibility in council business by  

o regularly reviewing and staggering meeting times  
o encouraging and supporting remote attendance at meetings and  
o agreeing recess periods to support councillors with caring or work 

commitments.  
• Ensure that all members take up the allowances and salaries to which they 

are entitled, particularly any reimbursement for costs of care, so that all 

Page 45Tudalen 63



28 
 

members receive fair remuneration for their work and that the role of 
member is not limited to those who can afford it.   

• Ensure that councillors from under-represented groups are represented 
whenever possible in high profile, high influence roles.  
 

 

Page 46Tudalen 64



 

Croesawn ohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg a byddwn yn ymateb i ohebiaeth yn yr un iaith. 
Ni fydd defnyddio’r naill iaith na’r llall yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English and will respond to correspondence in the same language. 
Use of either language will not lead to a delay.  

 

 

Dyddiad /Date:    15 Ebrill 2021 
Gofynnwch am/Please ask for:  Daniel Hurford 
Llinell uniongyrchol/Direct line:  029 20468615 
Ebost/Email:    daniel.hurford@wlga.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 
 

At:   
Arweinwyr Grwpiau 
Cadeiryddion Cynghorau  
Cadeiryddion Pwyllgorau Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
 
cc Cyngor CLlLC, Prif Weithredwyr a Phenaethiaid Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd 
 
 
 
Annwyl gydweithwyr, 
 

Amrywiaeth mewn Democratiaeth  
 
Wrth i’r sylw yn amlwg ganolbwyntio ar etholiadau’r Senedd mewn 
ychydig dros fis, mae’n bwysig ein bod yn edrych ymlaen ac yn 
dechrau cynllunio ar gyfer etholiadau lleol ym mis Mai 2022. 
 
Un o negeseuon allweddol Academi Arweinyddiaeth CLlLC yw ‘rydych 
angen bod yn ddigon cyffredin i fod yn gynghorydd, ond hefyd yn 
ddigon arbennig i fod yn gynghorydd.’  
 
Does dim amheuaeth bod cynghorwyr wedi bod yn arbennig yn ystod 
y deuddeg mis diwethaf o’r pandemig coronafeirws. Ond i fod yn 
‘gyffredin’, mae cynghorwyr hefyd angen bod fel y bobl maent yn eu 
cynrychioli ac adlewyrchu amrywiaeth y cymunedau a wasanaethir 
ganddynt. Er gwaethaf camau ac ymgyrchoedd blaenorol, mae 
cynnydd wedi bod yn araf ac rydym i gyd yn cydnabod bod yna 
ddiffyg amrywiaeth yn ein cynghorau.  
 
Rydym angen mwy o ferched, mwy o bobl ifanc, mwy o bobl Dduon, 
Asiaidd a Lleiafrif Ethnig, mwy o ymgeiswyr anabl a LGBTQ+ yn sefyll 
yn 2022.  
   

Felly, mae CLlLC wedi ymrwymo i wneud newid sylweddol mewn 
amrywiaeth llywodraeth leol yn etholiadau lleol 2022. Roedd Cyngor 
CLlLC wedi cymeradwyo’r adroddiad Amrywiaeth a Democratiaeth 
sydd wedi’i amgau mewn cyfarfod arbennig yn gynharach y mis hwn.  
Mae’r gwaith yn gwblhad gwaith gweithgor trawsbleidiol ac yn 
adeiladu ar y cynlluniau gweithredu ac uchelgeisiau cynghorau a 
phartneriaid.  
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 
Dr Chris Llewelyn 
Prif Weithredwr 
Chief Executive 
 
Cymdeithas Llywodraeth 
Leol Cymru 
Tŷ Llywodraeth Leol 
Rhodfa Drake 
CAERDYDD CF10 4LG 
Ffôn: 029 2046 8600 
 
Welsh Local Government 
Association 
Local Government House 
Drake Walk 
CARDIFF CF10 4LG 
Tel: 029 2046 8600 
 
wlga.cymru 
wlga.wales 
 
@WelshLGA 

 

 

Tudalen 65



 

Croesawn ohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg a byddwn yn ymateb i ohebiaeth yn yr un iaith. 
Ni fydd defnyddio’r naill iaith na’r llall yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English and will respond to correspondence in the same language. 
Use of either language will not lead to a delay.  

 

 

Roedd trafodaeth Cyngor CLlLC yn angerddol ac yn flaengar ac roedd yna gefnogaeth 

unfrydol ar gyfer camau cydweithredu chyfunol ar draws y teulu llywodraeth leol ac o fewn 

pleidiau gwleidyddol.  

 

Bydd CLlLC yn bwrw ymlaen gyda nifer o gamau yn genedlaethol ac rydym eisoes wedi 

lansio gwefan https://www.byddwchyngynghorydd.cymru/. Fel Arweinwyr Grŵp, byddwn 

yn gwneud sylwadau i bleidiau gwleidyddol i gymryd camau a gwneud cynnydd a byddwn 

hefyd yn cyflwyno’r achos i Lywodraeth Cymru a’r Panel Taliad Cydnabyddiaeth Annibynnol 

y dylai cynghorwyr gael hawl i ‘grantiau ailsefydlu’ (a elwir yn daliadau dileu swydd) os 

byddant yn colli eu sedd mewn etholiad.   

Roedd y Cyngor yn cydnabod y gwaith amrywiaeth sydd eisoes ar y gweill yn lleol ond 
roedd yn galw am gamau lleol ar y cyd ac uchelgeisiol. Felly, byddem yn ddiolchgar os 
gallech weithio gyda’ch cydweithwyr gwleidyddol a blaenoriaethu camau lleol, gan hybu’r 
lwfansau a dderbynnir gan aelodau a datblygu datganiadau ‘Cyngor Amrywiol’ erbyn yr haf. 

Mae lwfans Aelodau yn chwarae rôl ganolog i annog mwy o amrywiaeth; gall rhai 

cynghorwyr gael eu heffeithio yn anghyfartal os ydynt ar incwm isel neu â chyfrifoldebau 

gofalu. Mae llawer o gynghorwyr yn cael eu anghymell rhag hawlio eu hawl llawn i 

lwfansau, fel ad-daliad costau gofal neu deithio, oherwydd pwysau gan gyfoedion neu’r 

cyhoedd. Felly, roedd Cyngor CLlLC yn unfryd ein bod angen mabwysiadu diwylliant ble 

mae holl gynghorwyr yn cael eu hannog a’u cefnogi i hawlio unrhyw lwfans neu dreuliau 

angenrheidiol sydd ganddynt hawl iddynt, ac rydym yn gofyn i chi arwain ac annog y 

diwylliant hwn yn lleol.   

  

Roedd Cyngor CLlLC hefyd yn cytuno’n unfrydol y dylai holl gynghorau ymrwymo i 

ddatganiad erbyn Gorffennaf 2021 ar ddod yn ‘Gynghorau Amrywiol’ yn 2022, i ddarparu 

ymrwymiad clir, cyhoeddus i wella amrywiaeth. Mae’r adroddiad yn cynnwys Datganiad 

‘amlinellol’ i: 

 Ddarparu ymrwymiad clir, cyhoeddus i wella amrywiaeth; 
 Dangos diwylliant agored a chroesawgar i bawb; 
 Ystyried amrywio amseroedd cyfarfodydd y cyngor a chytuno ar gyfnodau toriad i 

gefnogi cynghorwyr gydag ymrwymiadau eraill; a  
 Paratoi cynllun gweithredu gweithgaredd cyn etholiadau lleol 2022. 

Fodd bynnag, mae’n bosibl y bydd Cynghorau yn dymuno cynnal camau neu ymrwymiadau 

pellach o fewn eu Datganiadau yn unol â blaenoriaethau lleol.  

Roedd Cyngor CLlLC wedi trafod rhinwedd camau cadarnhaol ac roedd yna gefnogaeth i 
ddefnyddio cwotas gwirfoddol mewn etholiadau lleol; mae hyn yn fater i grwpiau a 
phleidiau lleol, ond ble mae camau gwirfoddol wedi eu mabwysiadu yn y gorffennol, bu 
cynnydd sylweddol o ran cydbwysedd rhwng y rhywiau.  Roedd CLlLC hefyd yn unfryd 
gytûn  y dylai cynghorau osod targedau i gynrychioli’r cymunedau a wasanaethir ganddynt 
yn yr etholiadau nesaf.  

Bydd gwaith amrywiaeth lleol Cynghorau yn cael ei gefnogi gan godi ymwybyddiaeth yn 

genedlaethol, cyhoeddusrwydd a chefnogaeth drwy CLlLC a Llywodraeth Cymru. Bydd 

Tudalen 66

https://www.byddwchyngynghorydd.cymru/


 

Croesawn ohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg a’r Saesneg a byddwn yn ymateb i ohebiaeth yn yr un iaith. 
Ni fydd defnyddio’r naill iaith na’r llall yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome correspondence in Welsh and English and will respond to correspondence in the same language. 
Use of either language will not lead to a delay.  

 

 

swyddogion CLlLC yn cyfarfod Penaethiaid Gwasanaethau Democrataidd ym mis Ebrill i 

rannu syniadau a dulliau ar gyfer datblygu Datganiadau Cyngor Amrywiol lleol.  

 

Rydym yn hyderus y byddwch yn rhannu ymrwymiad Cyngor CLlLC ac yn edrych ymlaen at 

weithio gyda chi i hybu Amrywiaeth a Democratiaeth a chyflawni ein huchelgais a rennir i 

sicrhau bod siambrau ein cynghorau yn adlewyrchu amrywiaeth y cymunedau a 

wasanaethir ganddynt yn well yn dilyn etholiadau lleol 2022.  

 

 
Yn ddiffuant, 
 

  
Cyng Huw David 
Swyddog Llywyddu 
CLlLC  
 
 
 

 
 
Cyng Andrew Morgan  
Arweinydd CLlLC  
 
 

 
Cyng Peter Fox  
Arweinydd Grŵp 
Ceidwadwyr CLlLC 
 

  
 

Cyng Mary Sherwood  

Cydlefarydd Cydraddoldeb 
CLlLC a Chydgadeirydd 
Gweithgor 

 

 

 

 

 

Cyng Hugh Evans  

Arweinydd Grŵp 
Annibynnol CLlLC 

 

  
 

Cyng Susan Elsmore 

Cydlefarydd 
Cydraddoldeb CLlLC a 
Chydgadeirydd 
Gweithgor 

 

 

Cyng Emlyn Dole 

Arweinydd Grŵp Plaid 
Cymru CLlLC 

 

   

 
 

Tudalen 67



Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



Appendix 3 
 
Diverse Council Declaration  
 
This Council commits to being a Diverse Council.  
 
We agree to: 
 

 Provide a clear public commitment to improving diversity in democracy 
 

 Demonstrate an open and welcoming culture to all, promoting the highest standards of 

 behaviour and conduct 
 

 Set out a local Diverse Council Action Plan ahead of the 2022 local elections 
 

 Demonstrate a commitment to a duty of care for Councillors  
 

 Provide flexibility in council business by reviewing our practical arrangements for the holding 
of meetings 

 

 Ensure that all members are aware of the allowances and salaries to which they are entitled, 
particularly any reimbursement for costs of care, so that all members receive fair 
remuneration for their work and that the role of member is not limited to those who can 
afford it. 

Tudalen 69



Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



 

Adroddiad i’r: Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 

Dyddiad y cyfarfod: 5 Tachwedd 2021 

   Aelod / Swyddog Arweiniol:     Gary Williams, Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol,  

Adnoddau Dynol a Democrataidd 

Awdur yr Adroddiad: Gary Williams, Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol,   

Adnoddau Dynol a Democrataidd 

Teitl:          Rôl  Cefnogwr Pobl Ifanc 

1. Am beth mae’r adroddiad yn sôn? 

1.1. Mae’r adroddiad yn ymwneud â chynnig i greu rôl Cefnogwr Pobl Ifanc 

2. Beth yw'r rheswm dros lunio’r adroddiad hwn? 

2.1. Ceisio safbwyntiau ac argymhellion ynglŷn â chreu rôl Cefnogwr Pobl Ifanc. 

3. Beth yw’r Argymhellion? 

3.1  Bod y Pwyllgor yn ystyried y diffiniad o rôl Cefnogwr Pobl Ifanc yn unol â  

       phenderfyniad y Cyngor ar 7 Medi 2021. 

4. Manylion yr Adroddiad 

4.1. Ym mis Tachwedd 2012 penderfynodd y Cyngor y dylid bod â phedwar aelod 

gefnogwr, sef:  

 Cefnogwr Pobl Hŷn 

 Cefnogwr Atal Digartrefedd 

 Cefnogwr Gofalwyr 

 Cefnogwr Anableddau Dysgu 

Tudalen 71

Eitem Agenda 7



 
 

4.2. Mabwysiadodd y Cyngor ddisgrifiadau o'r rolau cefnogi hyn ac mae copïau 

ohonynt ynghlwm fel Atodiadau 1- 4 i'r adroddiad hwn. 

4.3. Ym mis Ebrill 2013 derbyniodd y Cyngor argymhelliad y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu 

ac Archwilio (a oedd yn cael ei alw bryd hynny’n Bwyllgor Llywodraethu 

Corfforaethol) na ddylai fod unrhyw aelod gefnogwyr unigol ychwanegol ac y 

byddai unrhyw rolau ‘cefnogi’ eraill a argymhellwyd naill ai’n genedlaethol neu’n 

lleol yn cael eu hymgymryd â hwy gan yr Aelod Arweiniol perthnasol. 

4.4. Ar 7 Medi 2021 ystyriodd y Cyngor y rhybudd o gynnig canlynol:  

“Bod Cyngor Sir Ddinbych yn penodi Cefnogwr Pobl Ifanc ar gyfer plant  a 

phobl ifanc o bob oed hyd at 18.” 

4.5. Penderfynodd y Cyngor y byddai adroddiad ar y rôl Cefnogwr Pobl Ifanc yn cael 

ei roi gerbron y Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd i ddiffinio'r rôl ac y 

byddai adroddiad pellach yn cael ei roi gerbron y Cyngor Llawn. 

4.6. Mae disgrifiad o'r rôl wedi'i ddrafftio ac wedi'i atodi yn Atodiad 5 i'r adroddiad 

hwn. Mae’r disgrifiad wedi’i ddrafftio i ddilyn yr un ffurf a’r disgrifiadau rôl a 

fabwysiadwyd ar gyfer y cefnogwyr eraill ac sydd i'w gweld yn atodiadau 1- 4. 

4.7. Gofynnir i'r Pwyllgor hefyd ystyried cynnwys y disgrifiad rôl drafft hwn, a ddylai’r 

rôl gael eu llenwi gan yr Aelod Arweiniol perthnasol neu aelod heb fod ar y 

Cabinet, ac argymell i'r Cyngor a ddylid mabwysiadu'r disgrifiad rôl fel y'i 

drafftiwyd neu fel y bydd y Pwyllgor yn ei ddiwygio. 

5. Sut mae’r penderfyniad yn cyfrannu at y Blaenoriaethau 
Corfforaethol? 

5.1. Bydda’r rôl Cefnogwr Pobl Ifanc yn cyd-fynd â’r flaenoriaeth gorfforaethol bod 

Sir Ddinbych yn rhywle y mae pobl ifanc yn dymuno byw a gweithio a 

chanddynt y sgiliau angenrheidiol i wneud hynny. 

  

Tudalen 72



 
 

6. Faint fydd hyn yn ei gostio a sut y bydd yn effeithio ar 
wasanaethau eraill? 

6.1  Fe allai costau teithio achlysurol godi os bydd aelod gefnogwr yn mynychu 

cyfarfodydd neu ddigwyddiadau sy’n berthnasol i’w rôl fel cefnogwr. Bydd y 

rhain yn cael eu cynnwys o fewn y cyllidebau presennol a glustnodir ar gyfer 

teithio gan aelodau 

7. Beth yw prif gasgliadau’r Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Les? 

7.1. Nid oes angen asesiad ar gyfer yr adroddiad hwn. 

8. Pa ymgynghoriadau sydd wedi’u cynnal gyda Chraffu ac 
eraill? 

8.1. Ni chynhaliwyd ymgynghoriad gydag Archwilio. Cyfeiriwyd y mater yn 

uniongyrchol i'r Pwyllgor gan y Cyngor. 

9. Datganiad y Prif Swyddog Cyllid 

9.1. Mae’r adroddiad yn cadarnhau y bydd unrhyw gostau bach ychwanegol yn cael 

eu cynnwys yn y cyllidebau presennol a glustnodwyd ar gyfer teithio gan 

aelodau Nid yw’n ymddangos bod unrhyw ystyriaethau ariannol ehangach. 

10. Pa risgiau sydd yna ac a oes unrhyw beth y gallwn ei 
wneud i'w lleihau? 

10.1. Mae risg y bydd dryswch neu ddyblygu’n digwydd rhwng rôl Aelod Gefnogwr a 

rôl yr Aelod Arweiniol perthnasol os nad y Cefnogwr yw'r Aelod Arweiniol hefyd. 

Bydd yn bosibl lliniaru hyn drwy fod â disgrifiad rôl clir a pherthynas weithio dda 

rhwng yr Aelod Arweiniol a'r Cefnogwr. 

11. Pŵer i wneud y Penderfyniad 

11.1 a111 Deddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972  

Tudalen 73



Mae tudalen hwn yn fwriadol wag



 

 

Denbighshire County Council 
 
 

Role Description – Homelessness Champion  
 

 Accountability  
  
 To the Full Council  
 
 Role, purpose and activities  
 
 

1. To act as a strong strategic leader on homelessness and raising 
and promoting homelessness issues.  

2. To gain an understanding of homelessness, its’ causes and the 
Council’s statutory obligations and where required to explain the 
duties.  

3. To advocate the importance of prevention and responding 
proactively to homelessness; including advocating realistic funding 
regimes to provide efficient and effective services for vulnerable 
families and individuals at risk of homelessness.  

4. To gain an understanding of the work of the teams in Housing 
services including the Homelessness unit and the Supporting 
People team, promoting these internally and externally.  To reflect 
back to the teams, via appropriate channels, how the service is 
perceived in the community.  

5. To consider and highlight the role of public, private and third sectors 
in bringing forward solutions.  

6. To attend training and regular briefings from the Homelessness 
team.  

7. To visit projects run by the voluntary sector.  
8. To keep abreast of the evolving impact of national and legislative 

changes.  
9. As a spokesperson to keep issues at the forefront of debate; raising 

awareness amongst fellow elected members of homelessness 
issues and the implications of these for the Council.  

10. Where required, in conjunction with the Lead Member and the 
Councils’ Communications team, to engage with the media.  

 
 
 
 

Person Specification  
 

 Within the Council  
 Understanding of the area of interest being championed in terms of 
 council strategies and policy, good practice, improvement and national 
 agendas and the needs of the client group  
 Ability to engage with a range of members and officers around the area of 
 interest and listening to requirements  

Page 299Tudalen 75



 

 

 Ability to advocate on behalf of the area of interest within the council  
 
 In the Community  
 Understanding of the needs of the community in relation to the interest  
 Ability to engage with citizens and community groups in matters related to 
 the interest.  
 Ability to lead and support local initiatives related to the interest.  
 Ability to represent the position of the council to the community in relation 
 to the interest.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
September 2012  

Page 300Tudalen 76



 

 

Denbighshire County Council 
 

Role Description – Older People’s Champion  
 
 

 Accountability  
  
 To the Full Council  
 
 
 Role, purpose and activities  
 

1. To act as a strong strategic leader on raising and promoting older 
people’s issues.   

2. To argue, support and defend the concerns, issues and needs of 
older people in the Councils’ area.  

3. To establish good working relationships with officers and others 
driving forward the strategies, polices and plans.  

4. To gain an understanding of older people’s issues and the Council’s 
statutory obligations to them and where required to explain the 
duties.  

5. To commit to attending nationally facilitated events (such as 
provided by the WLGA) and to consider making your own regional, 
cross border and national links as are necessary such as health 
and equalities champions in local health structures.  

6. In addition to health and social care, to contribute to the shift in 
focus towards the economic contribution of older people, the 
opportunities to encourage an active life and the benefits of 
maintaining independence; promoting a positive image for older 
people.  

7. To ensure that older people are and remain a priority in the 
Councils’ work.  As a spokesperson to keep issues at the forefront 
of debate; raising awareness amongst fellow elected members on 
older people’s issues and the implications of these for the Council.  

8. To promote the wider local democracy in the involvement, 
participation and engagement of older people in the planning and 
reviewing of all aspects of a local authority’s work, including service 
delivery and policy development.  

9. To consider and highlight the role of public, private and third sectors 
in bringing forward solutions.  

10. To attend training and regular briefings.   
11. To visit projects run by the voluntary and third sector and to learn 

from the experience and knowledge of older people’s organizations.  
12. To keep abreast of the evolving impact of national and legislative 

changes.  
13. Where required, in conjunction with the Lead Member (if relevant) 

and the Councils’ Communications team, to engage with the media.  
14. To consider the role of Carer’s Champion and its impact on this role 

and whether to work together where appropriate.  
 

Page 301Tudalen 77



 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Person Specification  
 

 Within the Council  
 Understanding of the area of interest being championed in terms of 
 council strategies and policy, good practice, improvement and national 
 agendas and the needs of the client group  
 Ability to engage with a range of members and officers around the area of 
 interest and listening to requirements  
 Ability to advocate on behalf of the area of interest within the council  
 
 In the Community  
 Understanding of the needs of the community in relation to the interest  
 Ability to engage with citizens and community groups in matters related to 
 the interest.  
 Ability to lead and support local initiatives related to the interest.  
 Ability to represent the position of the council to the community in relation 
 to the interest.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
September 2012  

Page 302Tudalen 78



 

 

Denbighshire County Council 
 
 

 Role Description - Carers Champion 
 
 

 Accountability 
 
 To the Full Council  

 
 Role, purpose and activities  

 
1. To act as a strong strategic leader on raising and promoting issues 

affecting Carers.   
2. To argue, support and defend the concerns, issues and needs of 

Carers in the Councils’ area.  
3. To gain an understanding of the needs of Carers across all service 

user groups, and to share this with Member colleagues.  This may 
necessitate regular contact with Carers. 

4. To raise awareness (amongst fellow Elected Members) of the 
issues facing Carers, and the implications of these for Social 
Services. 

5. Wherever possible, in conjunction with the relevant Lead Member, 
highlight the needs of Carers, and to act as a Champion within the 
Council with a view to ensuring that the Council responds to these 
needs appropriately. 

6. To familiarise him/herself with the range of services and 
organisations available to support Carers locally. 

7. To ensure the needs of Carers are and remain a priority in the 
Councils’ work.  As a spokesperson to keep issues at the forefront 
of debate; raising awareness amongst fellow elected members on 
such issues and the implications of these for the Council.  

8. To promote the wider local democracy in the involvement, 
participation and engagement of  Carers in the planning and 
reviewing of all aspects of a local authority’s work, including service 
delivery and policy development.  

9. To keep up to date with developments in local, regional  and 
national strategies, and any legislative changes in regard to Carers, 
as they occur. 

10. To keep up to date with any changes to policy or procedures 
relating to Carers and to attend relevant training.  

11. To become a standing member of the multi-agency Denbighshire 
Carers Strategy Group.  

12. To attend local key events for Carers, eg Carers Rights Day  Carers 
week events and conferences. 

13. To attend regional and national events in relation to Carers, where 
possible, eg conferences, meetings and forums.  

14. Where required, in conjunction with the Lead Member (if relevant) 
and the Councils’ Communications team, to engage with the media.  

Page 303Tudalen 79



 

 

15. To consider the roles of Older People’s Champion and Learning 
Disability Champion and its impact on this role and whether to work 
together where appropriate.  

 
 
 
 
 

Person Specification  
 

 Within the Council  
 Understanding of the area of interest being championed in terms of 
 council strategies and policy, good practice, improvement and national 
 agendas and the needs of the client group  
 Ability to engage with a range of members and officers around the area 
 of interest and listening to requirements  
 Ability to advocate on behalf of the area of interest within the council  
 
 In the Community  
 Understanding of the needs of the community in relation to the interest  
 Ability to engage with citizens and community groups in matters related 
 to the interest.  
 Ability to lead and support local initiatives related to the interest.  
 Ability to represent the position of the council to the community in 
 relation to the interest.  
 
 
 
 
 
October 2012  
 

Page 304Tudalen 80



 

 

Denbighshire County Council 
 

Role Description – Learning Disabilities Champion  
 
 
 

Accountabilities  
 

  To Full Council  

 
  Role Purpose and Activities  

 
 

1. To act as a strong strategic leader on raising and promoting issues 
affecting persons with a learning disability.   

2. To argue, support and defend the concerns, issues and needs of 
the Learning Disabled in the Councils’ area.  

3. To establish good working relationships with officers and others 
driving forward the strategies, polices and plans.  

4. To gain an understanding of the issues and the Council’s statutory 
obligations to them and where required to explain the duties.  

5. To commit to attending nationally facilitated events (such as 
provided by the WLGA) and to consider making your own regional, 
cross border and national links as are necessary such as health 
and equalities champions in local health structures.  

6. In addition to health and social care, to contribute to the shift in 
focus towards the economic contribution of the Learning Disabled 
community, the opportunities for an active and social life,  and the 
benefits of maintaining independence with or without support.  

7. To ensure that persons with a learning disability are and remain a 
priority in the Councils’ work.  As a spokesperson to keep issues at 
the forefront of debate; raising awareness amongst fellow elected 
members on such issues and the implications of these for the 
Council.  

8. To promote the wider local democracy in the involvement, 
participation and engagement of persons with a learning disability 
and carers in the planning and reviewing of all aspects of a local 
authority’s work, including service delivery and policy development.  

9. To consider and highlight the role of public, private and third sectors 
in bringing forward solutions.  

10. To attend training and regular briefings.   
11. To visit projects run by the voluntary and third sector and to learn 

from the experience and knowledge of learning disabled 
organizations.  

12. To keep abreast of the evolving impact of national and legislative 
changes.  

13. Where required, in conjunction with the Lead Member (if relevant) 
and the Councils’ Communications team, to engage with the media.  

14. To consider the role of Carer’s Champion and its impact on this role 
and whether to work together where appropriate.  

Page 305Tudalen 81



 

 

 
Person Specification  

 
 Within the Council  
 Understanding of the area of interest being championed in terms of 
 council strategies and policy, good practice, improvement and national 
 agendas and the needs of the client group  
 Ability to engage with a range of members and officers around the area of 
 interest and listening to requirements  
 Ability to advocate on behalf of the area of interest within the council  
 
 In the Community  
 Understanding of the needs of the community in relation to the interest  
 Ability to engage with citizens and community groups in matters related to 
 the interest.  
 Ability to lead and support local initiatives related to the interest.  
 Ability to represent the position of the council to the community in relation 
 to the interest.  
 
 
 
 
 
October 2012  

 
 

Page 306Tudalen 82



Denbighshire County Council 

Role Description – Young Person’s Champion 

Accountability 

To the Full Council 

Role, purpose and activities 

1. To act as a strong strategic leader on raising and promoting young people’s issues. 

2. To argue, support and defend the concerns, issues and needs of young people in the Councils’ 

area. 

3. To establish good working relationships with officers and others driving forward strategies, polices 

and plans. 

4. To gain an understanding of young people’s issues and the Council’s statutory obligations to them 

and where required to explain the duties. 

5. To commit to attending nationally facilitated events (such as provided by the WLGA) and to 

consider making your own regional, cross border and national links as are necessary. 

6. To ensure that young people are and remain a priority in the Councils’ work. As a spokesperson to 

keep issues at the forefront of debate; raising awareness amongst fellow elected members on young 

people’s issues and the implications of these for the Council. 

7. To promote the wider local democracy in the involvement, participation and engagement of 

young people in the planning and reviewing of all aspects of a local authority’s work, including 

service delivery and policy development. 

8. To consider and highlight the role of public, private and third sectors in bringing forward solutions. 

9. To attend training and regular briefings. 

10. To visit projects run by the voluntary and third sector and to learn from the experience and 

knowledge of young people’s organizations. 

11. To keep abreast of the evolving impact of national and legislative changes. 

12. Where required, in conjunction with the Lead Member (if relevant) and the Councils’ 

Communications team, to engage with the media. 

13. To consider the role of other Champion and their impact on this role and whether to work 

together where appropriate. 

Person Specification 

Within the Council 

Understanding of the area of interest being championed in terms of council strategies and policy, 

good practice, improvement and national agendas and the needs of the client group 

Ability to engage with a range of members and officers around the area of interest and listening to 

requirements 

Ability to advocate on behalf of the area of interest within the council 

Tudalen 83



In the Community 

Understanding of the needs of the community in relation to the interest 

Ability to engage with citizens and community groups in matters related to the interest. 

Ability to lead and support local initiatives related to the interest. 

Ability to represent the position of the council to the community in relation to the interest. 

Tudalen 84



 

Adroddiad i’r Pwyllgor Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 

Dyddiad y cyfarfod: 5 Tachwedd 2021 

Aelod Arweiniol / Swyddog: Gary Williams, Pennaeth y 

Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, Adnoddau Dynol a Democrataidd 

Awdur yr Adroddiad: Gary Williams, Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, 

Adnoddau Dynol a Democrataidd 

Teitl Adroddiad Blynyddol drafft Panel Annibynnol Cymru ar 

Gydnabyddiaeth Ariannol 2022-2023 

 

1. Am beth mae’r adroddiad yn sôn? 

1.1. Mae a wnelo’r adroddiad hwn ag adroddiad blynyddol drafft Panel Annibynnol 

Cymru ar Gydnabyddiaeth Ariannol (y Panel) ar gyfer blwyddyn ddinesig 2022-

2023. 

2. Beth yw'r rheswm dros lunio’r adroddiad hwn? 

2.1. Er mwyn hysbysu’r Pwyllgor o benderfyniadau cychwynnol y Panel ynglŷn â 

chyflogau sylfaenol, dinesig ac uwch, a cheisio barn y Pwyllgor er mwyn llunio 

ymateb i’r ymgynghoriad y mae’r Panel yn ei gynnal ynglŷn â’i adroddiad 

blynyddol drafft. 

3. Beth yw’r Argymhellion? 

3.1. Bod y Pwyllgor yn ystyried cynnwys adroddiad blynyddol drafft y Panel sydd 

ynghlwm wrth yr adroddiad hwn yn Atodiad 1, ac yn gwneud unrhyw sylwadau y 

dymuna eu gwneud mewn ymateb i’r Ymgynghoriad y mae’r Panel yn ei gynnal. 

Tudalen 85

Eitem Agenda 8



 
 

4. Manylion yr Adroddiad 

4.1. Sefydlwyd Panel Annibynnol Cymru ar Gydnabyddiaeth Ariannol yn 2008. 

Ehangwyd cylch gwaith a swyddogaethau’r Panel ym Mesur Llywodraeth Leol 

(Cymru) 2011. Mae cylch gwaith y Panel yn cynnwys cynghorwyr, aelodau o 

awdurdodau parciau cenedlaethol, awdurdodau tân ac achub Cymru a 

chynghorau tref a chymuned yn ogystal â chynghorau sir a bwrdeistref sirol. 

Gall y Panel bennu swm gwirioneddol y tâl y caiff awdurdod ei roi i aelodau, a’r 

dyletswyddau a chyfrifoldebau a all wneud cynghorwyr yn gymwys i dderbyn 

taliadau. 

4.2. Mae'n ofynnol i'r Panel gynhyrchu adroddiad blynyddol yn nodi lefelau tâl yr 

aelodau ar gyfer gwahanol ddyletswyddau a chyfrifoldebau ar gyfer blwyddyn y 

Cyngor i ddod. Mae Mesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2011 yn ei gwneud yn 

ofynnol i awdurdodau lleol weithredu argymhellion y Panel. Mae’r adroddiad 

blynyddol drafft ar gyfer 2022-2023 ynghlwm yn Atodiad 1. 

4.3. O’r cychwyn cyntaf mae’r Panel wedi bod yn bendant a chyson wrth ddatgan 

nad yw democratiaeth leol a llywodraethu gwasanaethau cyhoeddus yn dod 

heb gostau, a bod angen eu gwerthfawrogi er mwyn galluogi pawb i gymryd 

rhan. Mae’n rhaid pennu cyflogau digonol er mwyn annog amrywiaeth o bobl 

leol sydd â’r ewyllys a’r gallu i gyflawni swyddogaethau llywodraethu lleol mewn 

swyddi etholedig, penodedig neu gyfetholedig. Mae’n bwysig hyrwyddo 

diwylliant sy’n annog pobl i hawlio eu cyflogau er mwyn sicrhau y gall pobl o 

bob cefndir gymryd rhan yn ein democratiaeth yn hyderus. 

4.4. Yn ôl y Panel, nid yw cyflogau aelodau etholedig llywodraeth leol yng Nghymru 

wedi cadw’n gyson â chwyddiant a llinynnau mesur tebyg ers 2009. Yn y 

cyfamser, yn ôl y Panel, mae penderfyniadau a’r drefn lywodraethu leol wedi 

mynd yn fwy cymhleth ac mae yno gyfrifoldebau ychwanegol yn deillio o 

newidiadau cyfreithiol, cymdeithasol, economaidd, diwylliannol a thechnolegol. 

4.5. Dywed y Panel na fu modd cynnal y cysylltiad rhwng cyflogau aelodau a 

chyflogau cyfartalog yng Nghymru mewn blynyddoedd diweddar ac y dylid 

mynd ati i’w adfer. 

4.6. Mae’r Panel yn pryderu ynglŷn â nifer isel yr aelodau etholedig sy’n hawlio’r 

taliadau sydd ar gael ar gyfer gofal i’w galluogi i gyflawni eu dyletswyddau, ac 

Tudalen 86



 
 

yn galw ar Bwyllgorau Gwasanaethau Democrataidd i annog aelodau â 

chyfrifoldebau gofalu i fanteisio ar y cymorth fel nad ydynt ar eu colled.  

4.7. Mae yno gysylltiad pendant rhwng casgliadau’r Panel a’r agenda Amrywiaeth 

mewn Democratiaeth o ran sicrhau y gall pobl o bob cefndir fforddio cymryd 

rhan mewn democratiaeth leol.  

4.8. Yn Atodiad 2 i’r adroddiad hwn cyflwynir Tabl 4 o’r adroddiad blynyddol drafft 

sy’n nodi’r cyflogau a argymhellir ar gyfer gwahanol swyddi yn y Cyngor. Bydd y 

cyflogau hynny’n daladwy ym mis Mai 2022. 

4.9. Bydd y drefn o osod awdurdodau lleol mewn bandiau A, B ac C yn parhau. 

Mae’r Panel o’r farn bod maint y boblogaeth yn elfen arwyddocaol ac mae’r 

cyflogau uwch ar gyfer rhai o’r swyddi’n amrywio yn ôl maint y Cyngor dan sylw. 

Mae Sir Ddinbych ym Mand C sy’n cynnwys y Cynghorau lleiaf yng Nghymru yn 

ôl eu poblogaeth, ac felly mae’r cyflogau ar gyfer swyddi uwch a nodir uchod yn 

llai na’r rhai cyfatebol mewn cynghorau mwy. 

4.10. Gwelir yn Atodiad 2 yr argymhellir talu cyflog sylfaenol o £16,800 y flwyddyn i 

bob aelod. Mae’n ofynnol yn ôl y gyfraith i’r Cyngor dalu’r cyflog hwn i bob aelod 

unigol. Gall aelod unigol ddewis peidio â derbyn y cyflog sy’n ddyledus iddynt, 

neu ran ohono, ond nid yw’r Cyngor yn medru penderfynu peidio â thalu’r swm 

cyflawn i unrhyw aelod neu aelodau. 

4.11. Cyflogau uwch yw’r rhai hynny sy’n daladwy i ddeiliaid swyddi penodol ymhob 

Cyngor. Yn Atodiad 2 nodir y cyflogau yr argymhellir eu talu yn 2022-2023. 

Mae’r symiau hyn yn cynnwys y cyflog sylfaenol ac nid yn ychwanegol iddo. Nid 

yw’n orfodol i dalu cyflog uwch i ddeiliad pob swydd. Yr unig gyflog uwch y 

mae’n rhaid ei dalu yn ôl y gyfraith yw cyflog Arweinydd yr Wrthblaid Fwyaf. 

Mae pob cyflog uwch arall yn ddewisol, ond os yw’r Cyngor yn penderfynu talu 

cyflog uwch mae’n rhaid ei dalu ar y gyfradd a bennir gan y Panel, oni bai fod 

aelod unigol yn dewis peidio â derbyn y cyflog neu ran ohono. Ni chaniateir talu 

mwy nag un cyflog uwch i unrhyw aelod. 

4.12. Mae’r Panel yn pennu uchafswm i bob Cyngor ynglŷn â nifer y cyflogau uwch y 

mae’n gallu eu talu. Yr uchafswm i Sir Ddinbych yw dau ar bymtheg o gyflogau 

uwch. Nid yw’r Cyngor yn cyrraedd yr uchafswm, ac ar hyn o bryd yn talu 

pymtheg o gyflogau uwch. 

Tudalen 87



 
 

4.13. Y rhain yw’r cyflogau uwch y mae’r Cyngor yn eu talu: 

 Yr Arweinydd 

 Dirprwy Arweinydd 

 Aelodau’r Cabinet (6) 

 Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Cynllunio 

 Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Trwyddedu 

 Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Llywodraethu ac Archwilio  

 Cadeiryddion Pwyllgorau Craffu (3) 

 Arweinydd yr Wrthblaid Fwyaf. 

4.14. Wrth bennu lefelau cyflogau uwch am flwyddyn y Cyngor sydd i ddod, mae’r 

Panel yn esbonio yn yr adroddiad ei fod yn pryderu nad yw’r cyflogau presennol 

yn aml iawn yn ddigon deniadol yn ariannol, a bod canfyddiad eu bod yn 

rhwystro pobl rhag cyfranogi. Ym marn y Panel, nid yw hynny’n gydnaws ag 

ysbryd amrywiaeth, cynhwysiad na democratiaeth, ac nid yw’n effeithlon 

chwaith ar gyfer rheoli prif gynghorau’n effeithiol. 

4.15. Mae’r Panel yn cydnabod y gall swyddogaethau a chyfrifoldebau Cadeiryddion 

Pwyllgorau amrywio. Dylai pob Cyngor benderfynu pa rai o’i Gadeiryddion y 

dylid talu cyflogau uwch iddynt, ac os penderfynir gwneud mae’n rhaid eu talu 

ym Mand 3. Yn ei adroddiad diwethaf fe leihaodd y Panel y gwahaniaeth rhwng 

cyflogau a delir i Gadeiryddion Pwyllgorau a chyflogau uwch eraill. Eleni, felly, 

mae wedi penderfynu peidio â chynyddu’r gyfradd ar gyfer yr elfen hon. 

4.16. Y Panel sydd hefyd yn pennu lefelau’r Cyflogau Dinesig y gellir eu talu i 

Gadeirydd ac Is-gadeirydd y Cyngor. Nid yw’r rhain yn cyfrif tua’r uchafswm o 

gyflogau uwch. Mater i bob Cyngor yw penderfynu a ddylid talu Cyflogau 

Dinesig neu beidio, ond os penderfynir gwneud mae’n rhaid eu talu ar y gyfradd 

a nodir yn yr adroddiad. Mae’r Cyngor hwn yn talu Cyflogau Dinesig ac yn 

2022-2023 mae’r Panel yn argymell y dylai’r cyflog sy’n daladwy i’r Cadeirydd 

fod ym Mand 3, a’r cyflog sy’n daladwy i Is-gadeirydd y Cyngor ym Mand 5. 

4.17. O dan Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol ac Etholiadau (Cymru) 2021 mae’n bosib 

rhannu swyddi gweithredol a gall Arweinwyr benodi pobl mewn swyddi 

cynorthwyol. Yn yr adroddiad mae’r Panel yn gosod fframwaith lle gall 

cynghorau wneud cais i dalu cyflogau uwch ychwanegol i ddeiliaid swyddi felly, 

Tudalen 88



 
 

ar yr amod nad oes mwy na 50% o aelodau’r Cyngor yn derbyn cyflogau uwch. 

Dywed y Panel y caiff unrhyw geisiadau felly eu hystyried yn ôl eu rhinweddau 

unigol. 

4.18. Mae adroddiad y Panel yn sôn am gyflogau cyrff cyhoeddus eraill gan gynnwys 

Cynghorau Dinas, Tref a Chymuned. Nid oes modd cynnwys holl argymhellion y 

Panel yn yr adroddiad hwn ond bydd swyddogion yn medru ymhelaethu yng 

nghyfarfod y Pwyllgor.  

5. Sut mae’r penderfyniad yn cyfrannu at y Blaenoriaethau 
Corfforaethol? 

5.1. Nid yw’r adroddiad yn cyfrannu at y Blaenoriaethau Corfforaethol.  

6. Faint fydd hyn yn ei gostio a sut y bydd yn effeithio ar 
wasanaethau eraill? 

6.1. Byddai’r cyflogau sylfaenol ac uwch a gynigir yn adroddiad y Panel yn golygu 

cynnydd o £161,000.  

7. Beth yw prif gasgliadau’r Asesiad o’r Effaith ar Les? 

7.1. Nid oes angen asesiad ar gyfer yr adroddiad hwn. 

8. Pa ymgynghoriadau sydd wedi’u cynnal gyda Chraffu ac 
eraill? 

8.1. Ymgynghorir â’r Pwyllgor ynghylch argymhellion y Panel. Ni chynhaliwyd 

unrhyw ymgynghoriad arall. 

9. Datganiad y Prif Swyddog Cyllid 

9.1. Testun yma 

10. Pa risgiau sydd ac a oes unrhyw beth y gallwn ei wneud i'w 
lleihau? 

10.1. Ceir risg y byddai rhai pobl yn methu â fforddio cymryd rhan mewn 

democratiaeth leol a sefyll mewn etholiad os na phennir cyflogau digonol ar 

gyfer aelodau etholedig. 

Tudalen 89



 
 

11. Pŵer i wneud y penderfyniad 

11.1. Mesur Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2011 

Tudalen 90



Appendix 2 

Table 4: Salaries payable to Basic, Senior, Civic and Presiding Members of Principal Councils: 

 

Basic salary (payable to all elected members) £16,800 

 Group A Group B Group C 

Cardiff, 

Rhondda 

Cynon Taf, 

Swansea 

Bridgend, 

Caerphilly, 

Carmarthenshire, 

Conwy, Flintshire, 

Gwynedd, Newport, 

Neath Port Talbot, 

Pembrokeshire, 

Powys, 

Vale of Glamorgan, 

Wrexham 

Blaenau Gwent, 

Ceredigion, 

Denbighshire, 

Merthyr Tydfil, 

Monmouthshire, 

Torfaen, Isle of 

Anglesey 

Senior salaries (inclusive of basic salary) 

Band 1 

Leader 

 

Deputy Leader 

 

 

£63,000 

 

£44,100 

 

 

 

£56,700 

 

£39,690 

 

 

 

£53,550  

 

£37,485 

 

Band 2 

Executive Members 

 

£37,800  

 

 

£34,020 

 

£32,130 

 Band 3 

Committee Chairs (if remunerated): 

 

 

 

£25,593 

 

Band 4 

Leader of Largest Opposition Group3 

  

£25,593 

 

Band 5 

Leader of Other Political Groups 

  

£20,540 

 

Tudalen 91



 

Tudalen 92



 
 

0  Tudalen 93



 
 

1  

ANNUAL REPORT 
2022/2023 
 

FOREWORD 

The Covid pandemic continues to impact on the work of the Panel in that we have 
been unable to meet with authorities and their representative organisations face to 
face. However, we have continued to meet regularly and have meaningful 
discussions to meet our statutory obligations via Microsoft Teams or Zoom. 
 
It has been a difficult time for the public sector but local authorities in Wales have 
demonstrated their resilience and capabilities over the past 18 months. 2022 is an 
election year for local government and the new five year term provides the 
opportunity to reset the basic salaries of elected members to align with the average 
earnings in Wales. This has been eroded in successive years, primarily as a result of 
austerity measures. We consider that it is important that the payments to elected 
members of principal councils be fair and at a level that is not a disincentive to 
potential candidates for election.  
 
We have undertaken a major consultation exercise in respect of the Remuneration 
Framework for community and town councils and the outcome is contained in 
Section 13 of this draft Report. I would like to express my appreciation to all the 
councils and individual members and officers for their involvement in the exercise. 
 
There have been changes to the membership of the Panel. Ruth Glazzard joined the 
Panel in April and Helen Wilkinson replaced Claire Sharp in July. My personal thanks 
to Claire for her contribution to the work of the Panel. 
 
The consultation period for this draft Report ends on 26 November 2021. The Panel 
would appreciate comments which will be considered prior to the production of the 
final Report. 
 
 
John Bader 
Chair 
 
Panel Membership 
John Bader, Chair 
Saz Willey, Vice Chair 
Joe Stockley 
Ruth Glazzard 
Helen Wilkinson 
 
Detailed information about the members can be found on the website: Panel 

website 

Tudalen 94

http://irpw.gov.wales/
http://irpw.gov.wales/


 

2  

Contents 

Implementation of the Panel’s Determinations 3 

Executive Summary 4 

1. The Panel’s Framework: Principles of Members’ Remuneration 8 

2. Annual Report Summary Page 10 

3. Payments to Elected Members of Principal Councils: Basic, Senior and  
Civic Salaries 11 

4. Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees (JOSC) 24 

5. Pension Provision for Elected Members of Principal Councils 25 

6. Entitlement to Family Absence 26 

7. Payments to Members of National Park Authorities 27 

8. Payments to Members of Welsh Fire and Rescue Authorities 30 

9. Payments to Co-opted Members of Principal Councils, National Park 
Authorities and Fire and Rescue Authorities 33 

10. Contribution towards Costs of Care and Personal Assistance 35 

11. Sickness Absence for Senior Salary Holders 39 

12. Reimbursement of Travel and Subsistence Costs when on Official  41
 Business  

13. Payments to Members of Community and Town Councils 43 

14. Compliance with Panel Requirements 52 

15. Salaries of Heads of Paid Service of Principal Councils and Fire and 
Rescue Authorities and Chief Officers of Principal Councils 53 

Annex 1: The Panel’s Determinations for 2022/23 55 

Annex 2: Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (IRPW) Regulations 61 

Annex 3: Schedule of Member Remuneration 76 

Annex 4: Publication of Remuneration – the Panel’s Requirements 78 

Annex 5: Summary of new and updated determinations contained in this    80 
report 

Tudalen 95



 

3  

Timescale for Implementation of the Panel’s Determinations 
 

The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 requires the Panel’s Annual Report to 
take effect from 1 April. In most years, this is in line with financial and administrative 
arrangements of all authorities. However, when new councils are elected some of the 
Panel’s determinations are to be effective for the new municipal term.  

 

On 9 May 2022, new municipal arrangements will come into effect following local 
government elections. This Annual Report therefore has two different effective dates 
as set out below: 

 

1. For the period 1 April 2022 to 8 May 2022, all of the Determinations 
contained in the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales’ Annual Report 
2021/2022 will continue to apply in respect of principal councils and 
community and town councils. 

 

2. For national park authorities and Welsh fire and rescue authorities the 
determinations in Sections 7 and 8 of this Report will apply from the new 
financial year, 1 April 2022. 

 

3. With effect from 9 May 2022, (the new municipal year) the determinations set 
out in this Report in Sections 3 and 13 will apply to principal councils and 
community and town councils. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudalen 96

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-annual-report-2021-2022
https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales-annual-report-2021-2022


 

4  

Executive Summary  
 
This is the fourteenth Annual Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel for 
Wales (the Panel), published under the requirements of the Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2011 (as amended). 

 
1. As Wales emerges from the Covid pandemic, local democracy and public services 

will have a vital role to play in strengthening the resilience of our local communities 
and economies. 2022 is a milestone year because of this overarching context.  

 
2. As a Panel our firm belief is that this is a reset moment for Welsh democracy and 

for valuing our public services; an important opportunity to future proof our 
democracy and public services. We have therefore taken time to engage with 
stakeholders, pause and reflect on the impact of the decisions we take and the 
messages we are communicating in making this year’s determinations.  

 
3. From inception, the Panel has consistently and vigorously expressed that local 

democracy and the governance of public services are not cost free and need to be 
valued if we are to enable everyone to participate. Levels of remuneration need to 
be set at a level sufficient to encourage a diversity of willing and able people to 
undertake local governance through elected, appointed or co-opted roles. It is 
important to promote a culture which encourages take up of remuneration to 
ensure that people from all walks of life can participate confidently in our 
democracy. However, the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 requires the 
Panel to have regard to the financial implication of its decisions. We have 
discussed the issue of affordability with representatives of the WLGA and the 
general consensus is that in the context of a council’s income and expenditure the 
Panel’s determinations do not have a significant impact. We consider that the 
proposals set out in this draft Report meet the legislative requirement. 

 
4. Since 2009, remuneration of elected members of local government in Wales has 

not kept pace with measures of inflation or other possible comparators. These 
include Retail Prices Index, Consumer Prices Index, NJC (public sector 
employees), National Living Wage (NLW), the Living Wage Foundation’s Living 
Wage (LWF) rates, Members of Senedd Cymru, and MPs and also the Annual 
Survey of Hourly Earnings (ASHE). This is the result of austerity and pressure on 
public finances. This has the potential to perpetuate socio-economic disadvantage, 
adding to perceptions of a democratic deficit.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 97

https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage
https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage


 

5  

Yearly percentage increases to basic salary, benchmarks and alternative 
measures 2013 to 2021  
 

Annual 
Report Year 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

IRPW Basic 0.00 0.00 0.95 0.00 0.00 0.75 3.49 2.52 1.06 

ASHE* 4.00 0.60 1.00 2.70 1.00 2.10 5.10 0.60 Oct-21 

NLW  1.90 3.00 3.10 7.50 4.20 4.40 4.90 6.20 2.18 

LWF 3.47 2.68 2.61 5.10 2.42 3.55 2.86 3.33 2.15 

 
5. During this period, decision-making and local governance has increased in 

complexity with increased responsibilities flowing from legal, social, economic, 
cultural and technological changes. People’s lifestyles (and expectations) have 
also changed in the last decade with increased requirements and expectations for 
a flexible approach to support people with family and care pressures to participate 
and contribute at work and in public life, through job sharing, flexibility and family 
leave. The diversity in democracy agenda has gained traction, underpinned by the 
Equality Act with an increased expectation that people with protected 
characteristics should be encouraged and empowered to participate. Future 
proofing our democracy and governance also means that young people, those in 
work and those who are socially and economically disadvantaged are positively 
encouraged and empowered to participate as it is clear that our public services 
should be accountable to and delivered by people who reflect the communities 
they serve. There is evidence that greater diversity will ensure decision-making 
takes account of a wide variety of perspectives.   

 
6. The Covid pandemic has put unprecedented pressure on our politicians and public 

servants. It has also highlighted the importance of our local and community 
infrastructure in developing rapid and innovative solutions. As Wales emerges from 
the pandemic, there is increased awareness that our nation needs to draw on a 
diverse talent pool to meet the scale of the ongoing challenges facing the nation. 
Local governance needs to engage lived experience and knowledge of local 
people. 

 
7. As noted in this report, payments for councillors in the 22 principal councils in 

Wales have not kept pace with comparators such as ASHE. Financial constraints 
on the public sector and particularly on local authorities over many years meant 
that the link with average Welsh earnings could not be maintained. The Panel 
considers that this has undervalued the worth of elected members and that it is 
now time to restore this link as the most appropriate comparator. Members in these 
22 principal councils will receive, proportionately, the same as the overall average 
amount that a Welsh constituent received in 2020. We believe this puts a fair value 
on the contribution made by local politicians. We hope that over time this will 
encourage greater diversity and enable potential candidates to consider putting 
themselves forward for election. 

 
8. Local elections in Wales will take place on 5 May 2022 for a new municipal term 

and potentially many new local politicians. The 9 May 2022 is therefore the best 
date in our view to enact this ‘significant reset’ and invest in local democracy in 

Tudalen 98



 

6  

Wales. Our proposed increase in remuneration levels will therefore come into 
effect on this date. Further details can be found in Section 3.  

 
9. As a Panel, we are concerned that payment information provided by relevant 

authorities shows that very few members are utilising the provision in the 
framework for financial support in respect of care. We believe it is vital that 
Democratic Services Committees continue to encourage and facilitate greater use 
of this element of the Remuneration Framework so that members are not 
financially disadvantaged.  

 
10. We also believe that encouraging take up of this financial support for members with 

caring responsibilities will send a positive signal that members with these 
responsibilities are welcome and valued. We hope that it will encourage others with 
caring responsibilities to consider standing for election.  

 
11. Payments for members of national park authorities and Welsh fire and rescue 

authorities will increase as a result of the uplift proposed for elected members of 
principal councils. As indicated above these increases will be effective from 1 April 
2022, the new financial year. The Panel considered the alternative for 
implementation following the annual meeting of each authority, but this could mean 
a significant delay in individuals receiving the new payments. This would not be 
equitable. 

 
12. Early in 2021 the Panel commenced a major review of the Remuneration 

Framework in respect of community and town councils and undertook a 
comprehensive consultation exercise with the sector. We appreciated the level of 
engagement from individual councils and their representative organisations. The 
Covid pandemic limited the Panel’s opportunities for face to face engagement in 
2020/2021. However, the Panel’s digital engagement was considerable. The Panel 
recognises a wide variation in geography, scope and scale across the 735 
community and town councils in Wales, from small community councils with 
relatively minimal expenditure and few meetings to large town councils with 
significant assets and responsibilities. Our recommendations for reform and the 
proposed new framework are set out in Section 13.  

 
13. In reaching our conclusions we have also taken account of: 
 

 the overarching framework of the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act;  

 the ethos and principle of the socio-economic duty, implemented in Wales in 
2020; 

 Welsh Government’s ongoing commitment to equality and diversity in 
democracy;  

 
2022-2023 Determinations 
 
14. The table below summarises the new and updated determinations in this year’s 

Annual Report informed by our belief and rationale for investing in local democracy 
and public services and by the principles outlined above.  

 
 
 

Tudalen 99

https://www.futuregenerations.wales/about-us/future-generations-act/
https://gov.wales/socio-economic-duty-overview
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-04/strategic-equality-plan-equality-aims-objectives-actions-2020-2024.pdf
https://gov.wales/written-statement-phase-two-diversity-democracy-programme-action-plan
https://gov.wales/written-statement-phase-two-diversity-democracy-programme-action-plan


 

7  

Annex 1 outlines all of the Panel’s determinations for 2022/23. 
 

Summary of new and updated determinations contained in this report 

Principal Councils 

Determination 1: 
The basic salary in 2022/23 for elected members of principal councils shall be £16,800. 

Determination 2:  
Senior salary levels in 2022/23 for members of principal councils shall be as set out in 
Table 4. 

Determination 3:  
Where paid, a civic head must be paid a Band 3 salary of £25,593 in accordance with 
Table 4. 

Determination 4:  
Where paid, a deputy civic head must be paid a Band 5 salary of £20,540 in accordance 
with Table 4. 

Determination 5:  
Where appointed and if remunerated, a presiding member must be paid £25,593 in 
accordance with Table 4. 

Assistants to the Executive 

Determination 13:   
The Panel will decide on a case-by-case basis the appropriate senior salary, if any, for 
assistants to the executive. 

National Park Authorities 

Determination 23:  
The basic salary for NPA ordinary members shall be £4,738 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 24:  
The senior salary of the chair of a NPA shall be £13,531 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 25: 
A NPA senior salary of £8,478 must be paid to a deputy chair where appointed.  

Determination 26: 
Committee chairs or other senior posts can be paid. This shall be paid at £8,478. 

Fire and Rescue Authorities 

Determination 30:  
The basic salary for FRA ordinary members shall be £2,369 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 31:  
The senior salary of the chair of a FRA shall be £11,162 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 32:  
A FRA senior salary of £6,109 must be paid to the deputy chair where appointed. 

Determination 33: 
Chairs of committees or other senior posts can be paid. This shall be paid at £6,109.  
 

Community and Town Councils 

Determination 48:  
Each council can decide to introduce an attendance allowance for members. The amount 
of each payment must not exceed £30.  
A member in receipt of financial loss will not be entitled to claim attendance allowance for 
the same event. 
 
Councils that intend to introduce a system of attendance allowances must set out the 
details of the scheme and publish on their website.  

Tudalen 100



 

8  

1. The Panel’s Framework: Principles of Members’ 
Remuneration 

 
Upholding trust and confidence 

 
1.1 Citizens rightly expect that all those who choose to serve in local authorities 

uphold the public trust by embracing the values and ethics implicit in such 
public service. These principles underpin the contribution that the work of the 
Panel and its Framework make towards upholding public trust and confidence. 

 

Simplicity 
 
1.2 The Framework is clear and understandable. This is essential for the Panel to 

be able to communicate its Determinations effectively to all those who are 
affected by, or who have an interest in its work. 

 

Remuneration 
 
1.3 The Framework provides for payment to members of authorities who carry a 

responsibility for serving their communities. The level of payment should not 
act as a barrier to taking up or continuing in post. There should be no 
requirement that resources necessary to enable the discharge of duties are 
funded from the payment. The Framework provides additional payments for 
those who are given greater levels of responsibility. 

 

Diversity 

 
1.4 Democracy is strengthened when the membership of authorities adequately 

reflects the demographic and cultural make-up of the communities such 
authorities serve. The Panel will always take in to account the contribution its 
Framework can make in encouraging the participation of those who are 
significantly under-represented at local authority level. 

 

Accountability 
 
1.5 Taxpayers and citizens have the right to receive value for money from public 

funds committed to the remuneration of those who are elected, appointed or 
co-opted to serve in the public interest. The Panel expects all authorities to 
make information readily and appropriately available about the activities and 
remuneration of their members. 

 

Fairness 
 
1.6 The Framework will be capable of being applied consistently to members of all 

authorities within the Panel’s remit as a means of ensuring that levels of 
remuneration are fair, affordable and generally acceptable. 

Tudalen 101



 

9  

Quality 
 
1.7 The Panel recognises that the complex mix of governance, scrutiny and 

regulatory duties incumbent upon members requires them to engage with a 
process of continuous quality improvement. The Panel expects members to 
undertake such training and personal development opportunities as 
required to properly discharge the duties for which they are remunerated. 

 

Transparency 
 
1.8 Transparency of members’ remuneration is in the public interest. Some 

members receive additional levels of remuneration by virtue of being elected 
or appointed to more than one public body. The Framework serves to ensure 
that knowledge of all members’ remuneration is made easily available to the 
public. 

 
Remuneration of Heads of Paid Service 

 
1.9 The Panel applies these principles of fairness, accountability and transparency 

in all its determinations in relation to remuneration of members of all the 
authorities that fall within its remit. The same principles also apply when the 
Panel is required to make recommendations in relation to the remuneration of 
the heads of paid service of these authorities. 

Tudalen 102



 

10  

2. Annual Report Summary Page 
 

Type of Payment 

Type of Authority 

Principal 

Councils 

National Park 

Authorities 

Fire and 

Rescue 

Authorities 

Community and 

Town Councils 

Basic Salary page 13 page 28 page 32 N/A
2

 

Senior Roles page 16 page 28 page 32 page 45 

Committee Chairs page 14 page 28 page 32 N/A 

Opposition Groups page 16 N/A N/A N/A 

Civic Heads and Deputies page 17 N/A N/A page 47 

Presiding Members page 18 N/A N/A N/A 

Mileage page 41 page 41 page 41 page 46 

Other Travel Costs page 41 page 41 page 41 page 46 

Subsistence Costs page 42 page 42 page 42 page 46 

Contribution towards Costs of 
Care and Personal Assistance 

page 35 page 35 page 35 page 35 

Family Absence page 26 N/A N/A N/A 

Sickness Absence page 39 page 39 page 39 N/A 

Joint Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees 
page 24 N/A N/A N/A 

Pension page 25 N/A N/A N/A 

Co-optees page 33 page 33 page 33 N/A 

Specific or Additional 

Allowances 
page 20 N/A N/A N/A 

Payments to Community and 

Town Councillors 
N/A N/A N/A page 43 

Compensation for Financial Loss  N/A N/A N/A page 46 

Statement of Payments page 78 page 78 page 78 page 78 

Schedule of Remuneration Page 76 Page 76 Page 76 N/A 

Salaries of Head of Paid 

Services  
Page 53 N/A Page 53 N/A 

 
2 

Not Applicable 
 

Tudalen 103



 

11  

3. Payments to Elected Members of Principal Councils: 
Basic, Senior and Civic Salaries 
 

Basic salary for elected members of principal councils 
 

3.1  In 2009 the Panel decided the average work commitment of an elected 
councillor of a principal council was three working days. The maximum basic 
salary was set at £13,868. This reflected three fifths of the then median gross 
earnings of full-time male employees resident in Wales as reported in the 
Annual Survey of Hourly Earnings (ASHE) published by the Office of National 
Statistics. The Panel considered it was appropriate to use this figure, as it was 
comparable with constituents’ pay, adjusted for the part-time nature of the work 
of a member with no senior responsibilities. At the introduction of austerity 
measures, the basic salary was reduced to £13,175 and the link to ASHE was 
broken. Since then, there has been no connection between councillor and 
constituent pay. In 2019, the Panel took steps to stop the gap widening and 
reviewed options to move towards reinstating the link with ASHE or another 
suitable benchmark. A detailed explanatory paper setting out the historical 
context and analysis is available on the Panel’s website. The key issues are:  

 
3.1.1 Since 2009, the Panel has met its duty to take account of affordability and 

acceptability and set amounts for the basic salary that varied but have not 
kept pace with measures of inflation or other comparators. Table 1 shows 
the percentage increases to the basic salary and a selection of alternative 
benchmarks from 2013 to 2021. 

 
3.1.2 From 2013 to 2020 the basic salary of other Welsh elected members 

increased by 9% (£13,175 to £14,368). A Senedd Cymru member’s salary 
increased by 28.6% (£53,852 to £69,272) and an MP’s salary increased by 
23.4% (£66,396 to £81,932). MS salaries were realigned in 2017 and MPs 
in 2015. 

 
3.1.3 Examining other parts of the United Kingdom, councillors in Scotland 

receive £18,604 a year and in 2018 councillors in Northern Ireland 
received £15,486. Comparison with England is more difficult as the 
structure of local government is different, although there are examples 
where members are paid significantly more than their Welsh counterparts. 

 
3.1.4 Table 1 shows the basic salary of backbench councillors has fallen 

significantly behind the Welsh average (median) salary and public sector 
pay. 

 
  

Tudalen 104

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-02/an-historical-overview-of-irpw-determinations-on-members-salaries.pdf


 

12  

Table 1 – Yearly percentage increases to basic salary, benchmarks and 
alternative measures 2013 to 2021  

 

Annual 
Report Year 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 

IRPW Basic 0.00 0.00 0.95 0.00 0.00 0.75 3.49 2.52 1.06 

ASHE* 4.00 0.60 1.00 2.70 1.00 2.10 5.10 0.60 Oct-21 

NJC **  1.00 0.43 2.05 1.00 1.00 2.00 2.60 2.75  1.75 

MS 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.00 17.70 2.10 3.50 0.00 2.40 

MP 1.00 1.00 10.30 1.30 1.40 1.80 2.70 3.10 0.00 

RPI*** 3.00 2.40 1.00 1.80 3.60 3.30 2.60 1.50  3.80 

CPI **** 2.60 1.50 0.00 0.70 2.70 2.50 1.80 0.90  2.00  

NLW 1.90 3.00 3.10 7.50 4.20 4.40 4.90 6.20 2.18 

LWF 3.47 2.68 2.61 5.10 2.42 3.55 2.86 3.33 2.15 

 
** NJC final employers offer July 2021; *** RPI and CPI**** are for July 2021. 
 
Wales Median Average (median) gross weekly earnings by Welsh local areas and year (£) (gov.wales)  
MS Remuneration Board  
MP Independent Parliamentary Standards Authority  
RPI all items Retail Price Index  
CPI Consumer Price Inflation 
NLW National Living Wage 
LWF  Living Wage Foundation 

 
 
Table 2 - Basic yearly salary and actual full time and 3 day (60%) equivalents of 

Welsh national average pay 2013 to 2021 
 

Year IRPW basic salary Wales Median ASHE  

  full time 3 day 

2013 13,175 24,499 14,699 

2014 13,175 24,655 14,793 

2015 13,300 24,915 14,949 

2016 13,300 25,643 15,386 

2017 13,300 25,904 15,542 

2018 13,400 26,476 15,886 

2019 13,868 27,828 16,697 

2020 14,218 27,974 16,784 

2021 14,368 October 2021 October 2021 

 
 

Tudalen 105

https://www.remunerationboard.wales/news
https://www.theipsa.org.uk/publications/consultations/review-of-mps-pay-and-pensions/
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/timeseries/czbh/mm23
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/inflationandpriceindices/bulletins/consumerpriceinflation/august2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/national-living-wage-increase-to-protect-workers-living-standards
https://www.livingwage.org.uk/


 

13  

3.2 When making determinations for this Annual Report, the Panel considered the 
progression of the variety of benchmark figures outlined above for the period 
from 2013 to 2021 and the increases. 

 
3.3 As outlined in the Executive Summary, the Panel believes that local elections in 

May 2022 provide an opportune time to rectify the imbalance between the basic 
salary of councillors and the average salaries of their constituents. The basic 
salary of councillors of principal councils elected in the May 2022 local elections 
will be reset to align with the 2020 ASHE. This will be £16,800. 

 

 
Senior Salaries 
 
Senior salaries are payments to members who are executive, chairs of committees and 
the leader of the opposition. 
 
 
Number of Senior Salaries  
 
3.4 The limit on the number of senior salaries payable (“the cap”) will remain in place 

and remains unchanged. In 2022-2023 the maximum number of senior salaries 
payable within each council will be as set out in Table 3.  
 
 

Senior Salary Payments 
 
3.5  All senior salaries include the basic salary payment. 
 
3.6 The Panel recognises that years of no or low increases has meant the pay of 

senior salary holders is significantly and increasingly lower than many relevant 
comparators. 

 
 
Leaders 
 
3.7 It is widely recognised that the role of leader of a principal council is highly 

complex and carries a large and increasing level of responsibility. Leaders’ pay is 
at the lower end of sector market comparators. 

 
3.8 The Panel has heard arguments that a leader’s pay should be at or above a 

backbench MS or a Health Board Chair. The Panel has considered these 
arguments, but has concluded that although the roles have some similarities, 
there are significant and crucial differences which are not helpful in making 
comparisons.  

 
3.9 The Panel is very concerned that the current payment levels are often financially 

Determination 1: The Basic Salary in 2022/23 for elected members of 
principal councils shall be £16,800. 

Tudalen 106



 

14  

unattractive and are seen as a barrier to participation. For many willing and well-
qualified people, a senior salary might necessitate a significant reduction in 
earnings. This is not in the spirit of diversity, inclusion, or democracy, or efficient 
for the effective running of principal councils. To start to address this, the Panel 
has re-set all senior salary payments for 2022-2023. The salary of a leader of the 
largest (Group A) council will be £63,000. All other payments have been decided 
in reference to this and are set out in Table 4. 

 
 
Executive 
 
3.10  The Panel continues to take the view that executive members should be 

considered to be working the equivalent of full time (around 40 hours per week) 
but flexibly, and not necessarily nine to five. Continued discussions with members 
and officers in recent years have reinforced this conclusion. 

 
 
Chairs of Committees 
 
3.11 The Panel recognises that there is a significant variance in the responsibilities 

and functions of chairing different committees. Councils do not have to pay chairs 
of committees. Each council can decide which, if any, chairs of committees they 
pay. This allows councils to take account of differing levels of responsibility. 

 
3.12 The Panel has considered the role element of the chair’s salary. The move to a 

single level of chair payment in 2019 reduced the differentials with other senior 
payments. To reset this, the Panel has decided not to change the role element at 
the 2021 figure of £8,793 for 2022-2023. The basic salary increase will apply.  

 
 

 
  

Determination 2: Senior salary levels in 2022/23 for members of principal 
councils shall be as set out in Table 4. 

Tudalen 107



 

15  

 

Table 3: Maximum numbers of council membership eligible for payment of a senior 
salary 

 

Council Number of councillors Number of senior salaries 

Group A (populations over 200,000) 

Cardiff 
Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Swansea 

75 
75  
72 

19 
19 
19 

Group B (populations of 100,000 to 200,000) 

Bridgend 54 18 
Caerphilly 73 18 
Carmarthenshire 74 18 
Conwy 59 18 
Flintshire 70 18 
Gwynedd 75 18 
Neath Port Talbot 64 18 
Newport 50 18 
Pembrokeshire 60  18 
Powys 73 18 
Vale of Glamorgan 47 18 
Wrexham 52 18 

Group C (populations of up to100,000) 

Blaenau Gwent 42 17 
Ceredigion 42 17 
Denbighshire 47 17 
Isle of Anglesey 30 16 
Merthyr Tydfil 33 16 
Monmouthshire 43 17 
Torfaen 44 17 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Tudalen 108



 

16  

Table 4: Salaries payable to Basic, Senior, Civic and Presiding Members of Principal 
Councils: 

 

Basic salary (payable to all elected members) £16,800 

 
Group A Group B Group C 
Cardiff, 
Rhondda 
Cynon Taf, 
Swansea 

Bridgend, 
Caerphilly, 
Carmarthenshire, 
Conwy, Flintshire, 
Gwynedd, Newport, 
Neath Port Talbot, 
Pembrokeshire, 
Powys, 
Vale of Glamorgan, 
Wrexham 

Blaenau Gwent, 
Ceredigion, 
Denbighshire, 
Merthyr Tydfil, 
Monmouthshire, 
Torfaen, Isle of 
Anglesey 

Senior salaries (inclusive of basic salary) 

Band 1 
Leader 
 
Deputy Leader 

 
 
£63,000 
 
£44,100 
 

 
 
£56,700 
 
£39,690 
 

 
 
£53,550  
 
£37,485 
 

Band 2 

Executive Members 

 
£37,800  
 

 
£34,020 

 
£32,130 
 

Band 3 
Committee Chairs (if 
remunerated): 

 
 

 
£25,593 

 

Band 4 

Leader of Largest Opposition 

Group3
 

  
£25,593 

 

Band 5 
Leader of Other Political Groups 

  
£20,540 

 

 
3 
Leader of largest opposition group. See IRPW Regulations, Annex 2, Part 1(2) for a definition of 

“largest opposition group” and “other political group”. 

 
 

Table 4 notes: 
 

a. The Panel considers that leadership and executive roles (Band 1 and 2 
salaries respectively) carry the greatest individual accountability. A deputy 
leader salary is set at 70% of their leader and an executive member at 60% 
of their leader.  

 

b.  The Panel considered arguments for and against changing council 
groupings. Options included removing or increasing the number of groups 

Tudalen 109



 

17  

and changing the banding levels. The Panel concluded that ‘size of 
population’ remains a major factor in influencing levels of responsibility and 
has retained the three population groups (A, B and C). For information: Group 
A Population 200,000 and above; Group B Population 100,001 to 199,999; 
Group C Population up to 100,000. 

 

c. Salaries for B group councils will be at 90% of Group A salaries. Salaries for C 
group councils have been set at around 80% of Group A. Although Group C 
councils have significantly smaller populations and budgets they face similar 
duties and challenges as Group A and B councils and they do so with fewer 
resources. The Panel has therefore decided to reduce the Group differentials. 
In 2022/2023 salaries for Group C will be at 85% of Group A salaries. The 
salaries are set out in Table 4. 

 
d.  Committee chairs will be paid at Band 3. A council can decide which, if any, 

chairs of committees are remunerated. This allows councils to take account of 
differing levels of responsibility. 

 

e.  The stipulation that an opposition group leader or any other group leader 
must represent at least 10% of the council membership before qualifying for 
a senior salary remains unchanged. 
 

f. The Panel has determined that a council must make a senior salary available 
to the leader of the largest opposition group. 
 

g. The Panel has determined that, if remunerated, a Band 5 senior salary must 
be paid to leaders of other political groups. 

 

 

Payments to Civic Heads and Deputies (Civic Salaries) 
 
3.13 A council may decide not to pay any civic salary to the posts of civic head 

and or deputy civic head. If paid, civic heads must be remunerated at Band 
3 level and deputy civic heads at Band 5. (Determinations 5, 6, 7 and 8). 
 

3.14 The posts of civic head and deputy civic head are not included in the cap 
(with the exception of Isle of Anglesey and Merthyr Tydfil Councils). 
 

3.15 Civic heads are senior posts within councils which are distinct from political 
or executive leadership. In addition to chairing major meetings the civic 
head is the authorities’ ‘first citizen’ and ‘ambassador’ representing the 
council to a wide variety of institutions and organisations. The Panel’s 
requirement that members should not have to pay for the cost of the 
support (see Determination 10) needed to carry out their duties applies 
also in respect of deputy civic heads. 

 

 

Determination 3: Where paid, a Civic Head must be paid a Band 3 salary of 
£25,593 in accordance with Table 4. 

Tudalen 110



 

18  

 

 

 
3.16 In many instances civic heads receive secretarial support and are provided 

with transport for official duties and can access a separate hospitality budget 
which is managed and controlled by council officers. 
 

3.17 The Panel recognises the wide range of provision made for civic heads in 
respect of transport, secretarial support, charitable giving and official clothing. 
Funding decisions in relation to levels of such additional support are not 
matters of personal remuneration, but of the funding required to carry out the 
tasks and duties. These matters remain entirely a decision for individual 
councils. Councils remain free to invest in support at whatever levels they 
deem appropriate for the levels of civic leadership they have in place. 

 

3.18 The Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 allows councils to 
appoint a presiding member whose role is to chair meetings of the whole 
council. Where appointed, there would be a consequential reduction in the 
responsibilities of the respective civic head. 

 
Presiding Members 
 

3.19 Councils are reminded that, if a presiding member is appointed, they do not 
have to be remunerated. If they are remunerated the post will count towards 
the cap and be paid at a Band 3 senior salary. 

 

 

 
Key factors underpinning the Panel’s determinations: 

 
3.20 The basic salary, paid to all elected members, is remuneration for the 

responsibility of community representation and participation in the scrutiny, 
regulatory and related functions of local governance. It is based on a full time 
equivalent of three days a week.  

 
3.21 The prescribed salary and expenses must be paid in full to each member 

unless an individual has independently and voluntarily opted in writing to the 
authority’s proper officer to decline all or any element of the payment. It is 
fundamental there is transparency in this process so any possible suggestion 
that members are put under pressure to decline salaries is avoided. 

Determination 4: Where paid, a Deputy Civic Head must be paid a Band 5 
salary of £20,540 in accordance with Table 4. 

Determination 5: Where appointed and if remunerated, a presiding 
member must be paid £25,593 in accordance with Table 4.  

Determination 6: The post of deputy presiding member will not be 
remunerated. 

Tudalen 111



 

19  

 

The following must be applied: 
 

Determination 7:  
 
a) An elected member must not be remunerated for more than one senior 

post within their authority.  
 
b) An elected member must not be paid a senior salary and a civic salary. 
 
c) All senior and civic salaries are paid inclusive of basic salary. 
 
d) If a council chooses to have more than one remunerated deputy leader, 

the difference between the senior salary for the deputy leader and other 
executive members should be divided by the number of deputy leaders 
and added to the senior salary for other executive members in order to 
calculate the senior salary payable to each deputy leader. 

 

 
 

Determination 8: Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary 
cannot receive a salary from any NPA or FRA to which they have been 
appointed. They remain eligible to claim travel and subsistence 
expenses and contribution towards costs of care and personal 
assistance from the NPA or FRA. 

 

 

 

Determination 9: Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 salary cannot 
receive any payment from a community or town council of which they are a 
member. They remain eligible to claim travel and subsistence expenses 
and contribution towards costs of care and personal assistance from the 
community or town council. Where this situation applies, it is the 
responsibility of the individual member to comply.  

 
 
Supporting the work of local authority elected members 

3.22 The Panel expects support provided should take account of the specific needs 

of individual members. Democratic Services Committees are required to 

periodically review the level of support provided to members to carry out their 

duties. The Panel would expect these committees to carry this out and bring 

forward proposals to the full council as to what is required. Any proposals 

should be made with due regard to Determinations 10 and 11 below. For 

example, the Panel does not consider it appropriate that elected members 

should be required to pay for any telephone usage to enable them to discharge 

their council duties. 

3.23 The Panel considers it is necessary for each elected member to have ready use 

of email services, and electronic access to appropriate information via an 

internet connection. The Panel does not consider it appropriate that elected 

members should be required to pay for internet related services to enable them 

to discharge their council duties. Access to electronic communications is 

Tudalen 112



 

20  

essential for a member to be in proper contact with council services and to 

maintain contact with those they represent. Councils are committed to 

paperless working and without electronic access members would be 

significantly limited in their ability to discharge their duties. It is inappropriate for 

facilities required by members only to be available within council offices within 

office hours. 

3.24 The responsibility of each council, through its Democratic Services Committee, 

to provide support should be based on an assessment of the needs of its 

members. When members’ additional needs or matters of disability apply, or 

there are specific training requirements indicated, each authority will need to 

assess any particular requirements of individual members. 

3.25 As a result of their role as a councillor an elected member’s personal security 

may become adversely affected. It is the duty of Democratic Services 

Committees to fund or provide support necessary to enable a councillor to 

discharge their role reasonably and safely. This may require funding 

appropriate security measures to protect councillors from personal risk or 

significant threat. Risk assessment and liaison with relevant bodies such as the 

police and security services would normally inform the selection of required 

provision.  

3.26 For co-opted members the support requirements are set out in Section 9 and 

Determination 42. 

 

 

Determination 11: Such support should be without cost to the individual 
member. Deductions must not be made from members’ salaries by the 
respective authority as a contribution towards the cost of support which the 
authority has decided necessary for the effectiveness and or efficiency of 
members. 

 
Specific or additional senior salaries 

 
3.27 The Panel has allowed for greater flexibility which allows for authorities to 

apply for specific or additional senior salaries that do not fall within the current 
remuneration framework, or which could not be accommodated within the 
maximum number of senior salaries relating to the authority. If the proposed 
addition is approved and results in the council exceeding its cap, this will be 
included in the approval (with exception of Merthyr Tydfil and the Isle of 
Anglesey Councils – see footnote 4). Some councils have raised the possibility 
of operating some senior salary posts on a job share arrangement. The Panel 
is supportive of this principle, on the basis that it supports diversity and 

Determination 10: Each authority, through its Democratic Services 
Committee, must ensure that all its elected members are given as much 
support as is necessary to enable them to fulfil their duties effectively. All 
elected members should be provided with adequate telephone, email and 
internet facilities giving electronic access to appropriate information. 

Tudalen 113



 

21  

inclusion, and the process is set out in Paragraph 3.29. 

 
Determination 12: Principal councils can apply for specific or additional 
senior salaries that do not fall within the current Framework. 

 

3.28 Guidance to local authorities on the application process was issued in April 
2014 and incorporated the following principles: 

 
a. The total number of senior salaries cannot exceed fifty percent4 of the 

membership. 

 
b. Applications will have to be approved by the authority as a whole 

(unless this has been delegated within Standing Orders) prior to 
submission to the Panel. 

 
c. There must be clear evidence that the post or posts have additional 

responsibility demonstrated by a description of the role, function and 
duration. 

 
d. Each application will have to indicate the timing for a formal review of the 

role to be considered by the authority as a whole. 

 
4 
Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 Section 142 (5). The proportion fixed by the Panel in 

accordance with subsection (4) may not exceed fifty percent unless the consent of the Welsh 
Minister has been obtained. 

 

Tudalen 114



 

22  

3.29  Job Sharing Arrangements 
 

 

Section 58 of the Local Government and Elections Act (Wales) 2021 established 
new arrangements for job sharing for executive leaders and executive 
members. The Act makes provision: 

 
a) requiring local authorities to include in their executive arrangements 

provision for enabling two or more councillors to share an office on an 
executive, including the office of executive leader 

 
b) changing the maximum number of members of an executive when 

members of the executive share an office and 

 
c) about voting and quorum where members of an executive share office. 
 
 
For members of an executive: Each job sharer will be paid an appropriate 
proportion of the salary group as set out in Table 3. 
 
The statutory maximum, as set out in the Act, for cabinets cannot be exceeded 
so each job sharer will count toward the maximum. 
 
Under the Measure, it is the number of persons in receipt of a senior salary, 
not the number of senior salary posts that count towards the cap. Therefore, 
for all job share arrangements the senior salary cap will be increased subject 
to the statutory maximum of 50% of the council’s membership. Where the 
arrangements would mean that the statutory maximum would be exceeded the 
Panel would need to seek the approval of Welsh Ministers. 
 
 

3.30  Assistants to the Executive 
 
The Local Government and Elections Act also provides for principal councils to 
be able to appoint elected members to assist the executive in discharging its 
functions.  
 
Such appointments are made by the leader of the council and can include: 
 

 the number of assistants that may be appointed 

 the term of office of the assistants 

 the responsibility of the assistants 
 

There are exclusions to the appointments as set out in the legislation and 
assistants are not members of the cabinet. 
 
The Panel has given initial consideration to matters of remuneration for 
members appointed as assistants to the executive but has concluded that until 
there is more information in respect of the responsibilities attached to the posts 
it is not possible to decide on additional payments, if any. It is therefore 

Tudalen 115



 

23  

proposed that this will be further considered when a council decides to make 
appointments and details of the specific responsibility is available. 
 
To give effect to this without the requirement for a further formal report the 
following determination will apply. 
 

 

Determination 13: The Panel will decide on a case-by-case basis the 
appropriate senior salary, if any, for assistants to the executive. 
 

 

Note: If a senior salary payment is made, each will count towards the cap, 
however, the cap will be increased by the number of assistants receiving 
payments subject the statutory maximum of 50 per cent of the council’s 
membership. 
 
 
 

 

 

Tudalen 116



 

24  

 4. Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees (JOSC) 

 
4.1 Little use has been made of the arrangements for JOSCs. Therefore, the 

Panel has decided to delete the payment from the Framework. If, in future, a 
JOSC is formed by an individual council and it wishes to remunerate, it can 
apply using the arrangements contained in paragraphs 3.27 and 3.28. The 
current JOSCs in operation will continue without need for further 
confirmation. The applicable salaries are set out in the following 
determinations. 

 
 

Determination 14: The salary level for a chair of a Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee shall be £8,793. 
 

 

Determination 15: The salary level for a vice chair of a Joint Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee shall be £4,396.  
 

 
  

Tudalen 117



 

25  

5. Pension Provision for Elected Members of Principal 
Councils 

 
5.1 The Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 provides a power to the Panel 

to make determinations on pension entitlement for elected members of 
principal councils. 

 
 

Determination 16: The entitlement to join the Local Government Pension 
Scheme (LGPS) shall apply to all eligible elected members of principal 
councils. 

 

Tudalen 118



 

26  

 6.  Entitlement to Family Absence 

This section applies to elected members of principal authorities. 

 
6.1 The Regulations relating to Family Absence for elected members of principal 

councils were approved by the National Assembly for Wales in November 

20135 and cover maternity, new-born, adoption and parental absences from 
official business. 

 
6.2 The Panel considered the implications for the remuneration of such members 

who are given absence under the terms of the Welsh Government 
Regulations and the Panel’s determinations are set out below. 

 

 

 

5 
The Family Absence for Members of Local Authorities (Wales) Regulations 2013  

Determination 13: An elected member is entitled to retain a basic salary 
when taking family absence under the regulations irrespective of the 
attendance record immediately preceding the commencement of the 
family absence. 

Determination 17: An elected member is entitled to retain a basic salary 
when taking family absence under the original regulations or any 
amendment to the regulations irrespective of the attendance record 
immediately preceding the commencement of the family absence. 

Determination 18: When a senior salary holder is eligible for family 
absence, they will continue to receive the salary for the duration of the 
absence. 

Determination 19: It is a matter for the authority to decide whether or not 
to make a substitute appointment. The elected member substituting for a 
senior salary holder taking family absence will be eligible to be paid a 
senior salary, if the authority so decides. 
 

Determination 20: If the paid substitution results in the authority 
exceeding the maximum number of senior salaries which relates to it, 
as set out in the Panel's Annual Report, an addition to the maximum 
will be allowed for the duration of the substitution. However, this will 
not apply to the Isle of Anglesey or Merthyr Tydfil Councils if it would 
result in the number of senior salaries exceeding fifty percent of the 
Council membership. Specific approval of Welsh Ministers is required 
in such circumstances. 

Determination 21: When a Council agrees a paid substitution for family 
absence the Panel must be informed within 14 days of the date of the 
decision, of the details including the particular post and the duration 
of the substitution. 

 

Determination 22: The Council’s schedule of remuneration must be 
amended to reflect the implication of the family absence. 

Tudalen 119

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2013/2901/pdfs/wsi_20132901_mi.pdf


 

27  

7. Payments to Members of National Park Authorities 
(NPAs) 

 
Structure of National Park Authorities 

 
7.1 The three national parks in Wales - Brecon Beacons, Pembrokeshire Coast 

and Snowdonia were formed to protect spectacular landscapes and provide 
recreation opportunities for the public. The Environment Act 1995 led to the 
creation of a National Park Authority (NPA) for each park.  

 

7.2 National park authorities comprise members who are either elected members 
nominated by the principal councils within the national park area or are 
members appointed by the Welsh Government through the Public 
Appointments process. Welsh Government appointed and council nominated 
members are treated equally in relation to remuneration. 

 

7.3 The structure of the members’ committee at each of the three national 
parks is set out in Table 5. 

 

Table 5: Membership of Welsh National Park Authorities 

 
National Park 
Authority 

Total 
Member 
ship 

Principal Council Members Welsh 
Government 
appointed 
Members 

Brecon 18 12: 6 
Beacons  Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council – 1  

  Carmarthenshire County Council – 1  
  Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council – 1  
  Monmouthshire County Council – 1  
  Powys County Council – 6  
  Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council - 1  
  Torfaen County Borough Council – 1  

Pembrokeshire 
Coast 

18 12: 
Pembrokeshire County Council – 12 

6 

Snowdonia 18 12: 
Conwy County Borough Council – 3 
Gwynedd Council – 9 

6 

 
 

7.4 Standards Committees of NPAs also have independent co-opted 
members whose remuneration is included in the Framework as set out 
in Section 9. 

 

7.5 The Panel has based its determinations on the following key points: 

 
 NPAs manage their work via formal authority meetings, committees and 

task and finish groups. Each has a Development, Management and or 
Planning Committee, and other committees include Performance and 

Tudalen 120



 

28  

Resources and Audit and Scrutiny. Ordinary NPA members are 
members of at least one committee as well as being involved in site 
visits and inspection panels. 

 
 There is an expectation that members will participate in training and 

development. 

 

 The chair of an NPA has a leadership and influencing role in the authority, 
a representational role similar in some respects to that of a civic head and 
a high level of accountability. The chair is not only the leader of the 
authority but is also the public face of the particular national park and is 
the link with the Minister and MS’ with whom they have regular meetings. 
The role requires a high level of commitment and time. 

 

Basic and senior salaries 
 
7.6  The time commitment on which the remuneration of members is based is 44 

days. The salary for members of NPAs will increase to £4,738. 
 
7.7 The Panel has determined that the remuneration of a NPA chair should be 

aligned to that part of a Band 3 senior salary received by a committee chair of 
a principal council. This salary will increase to £13,531. 

 
7.8  NPAs can determine the number of senior posts it requires as appropriate to 

its governance arrangements.  
 
7.9  The Panel has made the following determinations: 
 

Determination 23: The basic salary for NPA ordinary members shall be 
£4,738 with effect from 1 April 2022. 
 

 

Determination 24: The senior salary of the chair of a NPA shall be £13,531 
with effect from 1 April 2022. 
 

 

Determination 25: A NPA senior salary of £8,478 must be paid to a 
deputy chair where appointed.  

 

 

Determination 26: Committee chairs or other senior posts can be paid. 
This shall be paid at £8,478. 

 

Determination 27: Members must not receive more than one NPA 
senior salary. 

 

 

Tudalen 121



 

29  

Determination 28: A NPA senior salary is paid inclusive of the NPA 
basic salary. 

 

 

Determination 29: Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 1 
or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any NPA to which 
they have been appointed. Where this situation applies, it is the 
responsibility of the individual member to comply. 

 

 
Note: Family absence does not apply to Welsh Government appointed members and 

local authority nominees are covered by their principal council so NPAs are not 
required to make any arrangements in this respect.

Tudalen 122



 

30  

8. Payments to Members of Welsh Fire and Rescue 
Authorities (FRAs) 

 
Structure of Fire and Rescue Authorities 

 
 8.1  The three fire and rescue services (FRAs) in Wales: Mid and West Wales, North 

  Wales and South Wales were formed as part of Local Government re-
organisation in 1996. 

 
 8.2 FRAs comprise elected members who are nominated by the Principal 

Councils within each fire and rescue service area. 

 
 8.3 The structure of the each of the three FRAs is set out in Table 6. 
 

 
Table 6: Membership of Fire and Rescue Authorities 

 
Name of Fire and Rescue 
Authority 

Number of Local Authority Members 

Mid and West Wales 25: 
Carmarthenshire County Council – 5 
Ceredigion County Council – 2 

Neath Port Talbot County Borough Council – 4 
Pembrokeshire County Council – 3 
Powys County Council – 4 
Swansea City and County Council – 7 

North Wales 28: 
Conwy County Borough Council – 5 
Denbighshire County Council – 4 
Flintshire County Council – 6 
Gwynedd Council – 5 
Isle of Anglesey County Council – 3 
Wrexham County Borough Council – 5 

South Wales 24: 
Bridgend County Borough Council – 2 
Blaenau Gwent County Borough Council – 1 
Caerphilly County Borough Council – 3 
Cardiff City Council – 5 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council – 1 
Monmouthshire County Council – 2 
Newport City Council - 2 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council - 4 
Torfaen County Borough Council – 2 
Vale of Glamorgan Council -2 

 

 8.4 In addition, Standards Committees of FRAs have independent co-opted 
members whose remuneration is included in the Framework as set out in 
Section 9. 

Tudalen 123



 

31  

8.5 In considering remuneration of members of FRAs, the Panel has based its 
determinations on the following key points: 

 

• The Chair has a leadership and influencing role in the authority, and a high 
level of accountability especially when controversial issues relating to the 
emergency service arise. In addition to fire authority meetings, all FRAs 
have committees that include in different combinations: audit, performance 
management, scrutiny, human resources, resource management as well 
as task and finish groups and disciplinary Panels. As well as attending 
formal meetings of the authority and committees, members are 
encouraged to take on a community engagement role, including visiting 
fire stations.

 
• There is a strong training ethos in FRAs. Members are expected to 

participate in training and development. Induction programmes are 
available as well as specialist training for appeals and disciplinary 
hearings.

 
• Training sessions often follow on from authority meetings to make the 

training accessible.
 

Basic and Senior Salaries 

 
8.6  The time commitment on which remuneration is based is 22 days. The salary 

for members of FRAs will increase to £2,369. 
 
8.7 The Panel determined that the remuneration of a FRA chair should be aligned 

to that part of a Band 3 senior salary received by a committee chair of a 
principal council. This salary will increase to £11,162. 

 

8.8 The Panel determined that the remuneration of a FRA deputy chair will be 
aligned with the Band 5 senior salary for principal councils. This will increase 
to £6,109 and must be paid if the authority appoints a deputy chair. 
 

8.9 FRAs determine the number of senior posts it requires as appropriate to its 
governance arrangements. Committee chairs and any other senior post if 
remunerated will be aligned with Band 5. This will increase to £6,109. 
 

Local Pension Boards 
 
8.10 The Panel has considered requests from FRAs to allow them to pay salaries to 

chairs of local pension boards established under the Firefighters’ Pension 
Scheme (Wales) Regulations 2015. Those Regulations already give FRAs the 
power to decide how local pension boards are to work and to pay the chair and 
members if they wish. Therefore, it is not appropriate for the Panel to make a 
determination empowering FRAs to pay salaries to local pension board chairs. 
The senior salaries in Determination 31 or 32 cannot be used exclusively for 
this role. 

 

8.11 The Panel has made the following determinations: 
 

Tudalen 124



 

32  

Determination 30: The basic salary for FRA ordinary members shall be 
£2,369 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

 

 

Determination 31: The senior salary of the chair of an FRA shall be 
£11,162 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

 

 

Determination 32: A FRA senior salary of £6,109 must be paid to the 
deputy chair where appointed. 

 

 

Determination 33: Chairs of committees or other senior posts can be paid. 
This shall be paid at £6,109.  

 

 

Determination 34: Members must not receive more than one FRA 
senior salary. 

 

 

Determination 35: A FRA senior salary is paid inclusive of the FRA 
basic salary and must reflect significant and sustained responsibility. 

 

 

Determination 36: Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 
1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary from any FRA to 
which they have been nominated. Where this situation applies, it is 
the responsibility of the individual member to comply 

 

 
  

Tudalen 125



 

33  

9. Payments to Co-opted Members of Principal Councils, 
National Park Authorities and Fire & Rescue Authorities

6
 

 
9.1 The Panel has determined that a daily or half daily fee is appropriate 

remuneration for the important role undertaken by co-opted members of 
authorities with voting rights.  

 
9.2  The number of days in any one year for which co-opted members may be paid 

varies and reflects the specific work discharged by the relevant committee. This 
context for payment therefore differs from that for elected members of principal 
councils which provides a monthly payment. Many elected members of 
principal councils report that they rely on this as part of a core income without 
which they would be unable to continue in the role.  

 
9.3 In dialogue with the Panel, co-opted members acknowledge the importance of 

fees they receive but do not identify these payments as an income for living 
upon which they depend. Panel determinations in relation to co-opted member 
fees occur in this context and any uplifts are therefore not comparable with the 
changes to salaries of elected members. 

 

9.4 Recognising the important role that co-opted members discharge, payment 
must be made for travel and preparation time; committee and other types of 
meetings as well as other activities, including training, as set out in 
Determinations 38 to 41. 

 

9.5 The determinations are set out below. Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must 
tell co-opted members the name of the appropriate officer who will provide them 
with the information required for their claims; and make the appropriate officer 
aware of the range of payments that should be made. 

 

Determination 37: Principal Councils, NPAs and FRAs must pay the 
following fees to co-opted members who have voting rights (Table 7). 

 

Table 7: Fees for co-opted members (with voting rights) 

 

Chairs of standards, and audit committees £268 
(4 hours and over) 
£134 (up to 4 hours) 

Ordinary Members of Standards Committees who also 
chair Standards Committees for Community and Town 
Councils 

£238 daily fee 
(4 hours and over) 
£119 (up to 4 hours) 

Ordinary Members of Standards Committees; Education 
Scrutiny Committee; Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
Committee and Audit Committee 

£210 
(4 hours and over) 
£105 (up to 4 hours) 

Community and Town Councillors sitting on Principal 
Council Standards Committees 

£210 
(4 hours and over) 
£105 (up to 4 hours) 

Tudalen 126



 

34  

 

Determination 38: Reasonable time for pre-meeting preparation is to be 
included in claims made by co-opted members the extent of which can be 
determined by the appropriate officer in advance of the meeting. 

 

Determination 39: Travelling time to and from the place of the meeting is 
to be included in the claims for payments made by co-opted members (up 
to the maximum of the daily rate). 

 

 
 

 

 Support for co-opted members 
 

 

6 
This section does not apply to co-opted members to community and town councils. 

Determination 40: The appropriate officer within the authority must 
determine in advance whether a meeting is programmed for a full day and 
the fee will be paid on the basis of this determination even if the meeting 
finishes before four hours has elapsed. 

Determination 41: Fees must be paid for meetings and other activities 
including other committees and working groups (including task and finish 
groups), pre-meetings with officers, training and attendance at conferences 
or any other formal meeting to which co-opted members are requested to 
attend. 

Determination 42: Each authority, through its Democratic Services 
Committee or other appropriate committee, must ensure that all voting co-
opted members are given as much support as is necessary to enable them 
to fulfil their duties effectively. Such support should be without cost to the 
individual member. 

 

 

Co-opted members must receive the same support and communications as 
elected members in order to enable them to fully discharge their role; as set 
out in determinations 6 and 7 

Tudalen 127



 

35  

10. Contribution towards Costs of Care and Personal 
Assistance (CPA) 

 
10.1 This section applies to all members of principal councils, NPAs, FRAs   

and to co-opted members of these authorities. The same provision applies to 
community and town councils. 

 
10.2 The purpose of this section is to enable people who have personal support 

needs and or caring responsibilities to carry out their duties effectively as a 
member of an authority. The Panel believes that additional costs of care 
required to carry out approved duties should not deter any individual from 
becoming and remaining a member of an authority or limit their ability to 
carry out the role. The Panel has adopted specific principles related to 
support for the costs of care which were the subject of a Supplementary 
Report published in February 2020. These principles are set out in Table 8. 

 
10.3  The Panel reviewed the arrangements for this financial support and has 

made the following changes: 
 

a)   As payments are taxable under the current HMRC rules, full 
reimbursement is not possible so for clarity this is retitled to “contribution 
towards the costs of care and personal assistance”. It will still require 
receipts to accompany claims. 

 
b)   Claims can be made in respect of a dependant under 16 years of age, or 

a minor or adult who normally lives with the member as part of their family 
and who cannot be left unsupervised. 

 
c)   Reimbursement may be claimed for member’s own care or support needs 

where the support and/or cost of any additional needs are not available or 
are not met directly by the authority such as Access to Work, Personal 
Independence Payments, insurance. These could arise when the needs 
are recent and or temporary.  

 
10.4  Members, including co-opted members are entitled to claim towards the 

costs of care and personal assistance, for activities that the individual 
council has designated official business or an approved duty which might 
include appropriate and reasonable preparation and travelling time. It is a 
matter for individual authorities to determine specific arrangements to 
implement this. Each authority must ensure that any payments made are 
appropriately linked to official business or approved duty. 

 
10.5 The Panel reviewed the maximum monthly payment in recognition that this 

has not changed for several years. Information indicates that monthly costs 
and claims vary considerably. These can depend on the number of 
dependants, their ages and other factors. Therefore the monthly cap will be 
replaced with the following arrangements: 

 

 Formal (registered with Care Inspectorate Wales) care costs to be 
paid as evidenced. 

Tudalen 128

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-05/supplementary-report-2020.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-05/supplementary-report-2020.pdf


 

36  

 Informal (unregistered) care costs to be paid up to a maximum rate 
equivalent to hourly rates as defined by the Living Wage Foundation 
at the time the costs are incurred. 
 

For clarification, care costs cannot be paid to someone who is a part of a 
member’s household. 
 

10.6  The Panel continues to recognise the issues relating to the publication of this 
legitimate expense and has retained the requirements for publication set out 
in Annex 4. To support current members and to encourage diversity the Panel 
urges authorities to promote and encourage greater take-up of the 
contribution towards costs of care and personal assistance. 

 

Table 8 
 
The Panel’s principles relating to Care and Personal Assistance (CPA) 

 

 The Minimum Authorities should do How this could be done 

Be clear who 
it is for 

Members with primary caring 
responsibilities for a child or adult and/or 
personal support needs where these are 
not covered by statutory or other 
provision.  
 
Claims for personal support might also 
include a short term or recent condition 
not covered by the Equality Act 2010, 
access to work, Personal Payments, 
insurance or other provision. 
 

A confidential review of 
the needs of individual 
members annually and 
when circumstances 
change  

Raise 
Awareness 

Ensure potential candidates, candidates 
and current members are aware that 
financial support is available to them 
should their current or future 
circumstances require.  

 
 

Ensure clear and easily 
accessible information is 
available on website and 
in election and 
appointment materials, at 
Shadowing and at 
induction and in the 
members’ “handbook”. 
Remind serving members 
via email and or training. 
Signpost to Panel’s 
Payments to Councillors 
leaflets. 

Promote a 
Positive 
Culture 

Ensure all members understand the 
reason for CPA and support and 
encourage others to claim where needed. 

 

Encouragement within 
and across all parties of 
relevant authorities to 
support members to 
claim.  
 

Tudalen 129

https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2020-02/community-and-town-councils-payments-to-councillors_0.pdf


 

37  

 The Minimum Authorities should do How this could be done 

Agree not to advertise or 
make public individual 
decisions not to claim. 

Set out the 
approved 
duties for 
which CPA 
can be 
claimed 

 

Meetings – formal (those called by the 
authority) and those necessary to 
members’ work (to deal with constituency 
but not party issues) and personal 
development (training, and appraisals.) 
 
Travel – in connection with meetings.  
 
Preparation – reading and administration 
are part of a member’s role. Some 
meetings and committees require large 
amounts of reading, analysis or drafting 
before or after a meeting. 
 
Senior salary holders with additional 
duties may have higher costs. 
 

Approved duties are 
usually a matter of fact. 
Interpretation of the 
Panel’s Regulations are 
set out in the Annual 
Report.  
 
“Any other duty approved 
by the authority, or any 
duty of class so 
approved, undertaken for 
the purpose of, or in 
connection with, the 
discharge of the functions 
of the authority or any of 
its committees.” 

Be as 
enabling as 
possible 
about the 
types of care 
that can be 
claimed 

Members should not be out of pocket 
subject to the limit set in the Annual 
Report. 
 
Models of care and needs vary.  
Members may use a combination of 
several care options. 
 
Patterns of care may alter over the civic 
and academic year.  
 
Not all care is based on hourly (or part 
hourly) rates. 
 
Where a whole session must be paid for, 
this must be reimbursed even where the 
care need is only for part of a session.  
 
Members may need to: 

 book and pay for sessions in 
advance 

 commit to a block contract: week, 
month or term 

 pay for sessions cancelled at short 
notice 

 
Where care need straddles two sessions 
both should be reimbursed. 

 

Tudalen 130



 

38  

 The Minimum Authorities should do How this could be done 

Have a simple 
and effective 
claim process 

Members should know how to claim. 
 
The claim process should be clear, 
proportionate and auditable. 

Check members 
understand how to claim 
and that it is easy to do 
so. 
 
Flexibility to accept 
paperless invoices 
 
Online form 
 
Same or similar form to 
travel costs claim 
 

Comply with 
Panel’s 
Publication 
rules 

The Panel’s Framework states:  
 
“In respect of the publication of the 
reimbursement of the costs of care, the 
Panel has decided that relevant authorities 
should only publish the total amount 
reimbursed during the year. It is a matter 
for each authority to determine its 
response to any Freedom of Information 
requests it receives. However, it is not 
intended that details of individual claims 
should be disclosed.” 
 

 

 

 

Determination 43: All relevant authorities must provide a payment towards 
necessary costs for the care of dependent children and adults (provided by 
informal or formal carers) and for personal assistance needs as follows: 
 

 Formal (registered with Care Inspectorate Wales) care costs to be paid 

as evidenced. 

 Informal (unregistered) care costs to be paid up to a maximum rate 

equivalent to the hourly rates as defined by the Living Wage 

Foundation at the time the costs are incurred. 

 
This must be for the additional costs incurred by members to enable them to 
carry out official business or approved duties. Each authority must ensure that 
any payments made are appropriately linked to official business or approved 
duty. Payment shall only be made on production of receipts from the care 
provider. 

 
 

Tudalen 131

https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage
https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage


 

39  

11.  Sickness Absence for Senior Salary Holders 

 

11.1 The Family Absence Regulations (approved by the National Assembly in 
2014) are very specific relating to entitlement and only available for elected 
members of principal councils. Absence for reasons of ill-health is not 
included. 

11.2 Instances have been raised with the Panel of senior salary holders on long term 
sickness and the perceived unfairness in comparison with the arrangements 
for family absence. In consequence, councils are faced with the dilemma of: 

 operating without the individual member but still paying them the 
senior salary. 

 replacing the member who therefore loses the senior salary (but 
retains the basic salary). 

11.3 The Panel’s Framework provides specific arrangements for long term 
sickness as set out below: 

a) Long term sickness is defined as certified absences in excess of 4 
weeks. 

b) The maximum length of sickness absence within these proposals is 26 
weeks or until the individual’s term of office ends, whichever is sooner 
(but if reappointed any remaining balance of the 26 weeks will be 
included). 

c) Within these parameters a senior salary holder on long term sickness 
can, if the authority decides, continue to receive remuneration for the 
post held. 

d) It is a decision of the authority whether to make a substitute 
appointment, but the substitute will be eligible to be paid the senior 
salary appropriate to the post. 

e) If the paid substitution results in the authority exceeding the maximum 
number of senior salaries payable for that authority, as set out in the 
Annual Report, an addition will be allowed for the duration of the 
substitution. (However, this would not apply to Merthyr Tydfil or the Isle 
of Anglesey councils if it would result in more than 50% of the 
membership receiving a senior salary. It would also not apply in respect 
of a council executive member if it would result in the cabinet exceeding 
10 posts - the statutory maximum). 

f) When an authority agrees a paid substitution, the Panel must be 
informed within 14 days of the decision of the details including the 
specific post and the estimated length of the substitution. The authorities’ 
Schedule of Remuneration must be amended accordingly. 

g) It does not apply to elected members of principal councils who are not 
senior post holders as they continue to receive basic salary for at least 

Tudalen 132



 

40  

six months irrespective of attendance and any extension beyond this 
timescale is a matter for the authority. 

11.4 This arrangement applies to members of principal councils, NPAs and 
FRAs who are senior salary holders, including Welsh Government 
appointed members, but does not apply to co-opted members. 

Note: 

The Family Absence Regulations apply to elected members in cases of 
maternity, new-born, adoption and parental absences from official business. 
They do not apply to Welsh Government appointed members of NPAs. 

Tudalen 133



 

41  

12. Reimbursement of Travel and Subsistence Costs 
when on Official Business 

 

12.1 This section applies to members of principal councils, NPAs, FRAs and to 
co-opted members of these authorities. (Similar provision for community 
and town councils is contained in Section 13 as there is a different 
approach to such members, principally that the provision is permissive.) 

 
12.2  Members may claim reimbursement for travel and subsistence (meals 

and accommodation) costs where these have arisen as a result of 
undertaking official business or approved duties.  

 
12.3 Expenses reimbursed to members of principal councils, by their 

principal council are exempt from Income Tax and employee NICs. 
Members of NPAs and FR As may be subject to other arrangements as 
determined by HMRC. 

 
12.4 The Panel is aware that in some instances members with disabilities 

have been reluctant to claim legitimate travel expenses because of an 
adverse response following the publication of their travel costs. As an 
alternative, travel arrangements could be made directly by the 
authority in such circumstances. 

 
12.5 The Panel has determined there will be no change to mileage rates 

which members are entitled to claim. All authorities may only reimburse 
travel costs for their members undertaking official business within and or 
outside the authority’s boundaries at the current HM Revenue and 
Customs (HMRC) rates which are: 

 
Reimbursement of mileage costs 

 

45p per mile Up to 10,000 miles in a year by car 

25p per mile Over 10,000 miles in a year by car 

5p per mile Per passenger carried on authority business 

24p per mile Motorcycles 

20p per mile Bicycles 

 

12.6 Where a member who is on official business or an approved duty is driven 
by a third party (not a member or officer of that authority), the member can 
claim mileage at the prescribed rates plus any parking or toll fees provided 
the authority is satisfied that the member has incurred these costs. 

 
Reimbursement of other travel costs 

 
12.7 All other claims for travel, including travel by taxi if this is the only, or most 

appropriate, method of transport, must only be reimbursed on production 

Tudalen 134



 

42  

of receipts showing the actual cost and will be subject to any requirement 
or further limitation that an authority may determine. Members should 
always be mindful of choosing the most cost-effective method of travel. 

 
Reimbursement of subsistence costs 

 

£28 per day Day allowance for meals, including breakfast, where not 
provided in the overnight charge 

£200 per night London 

£95 per night Elsewhere 

£30 per night Staying with friends and or family 
 

12.8  These rates are in line with Welsh Government rates. Recommended 
practice is that overnight accommodation should usually be reserved and 
paid for on behalf of members by the relevant authority, in which case an 
authority may set its own reasonable limits and the limits which apply when 
an individual member claims in arrears for overnight accommodation costs 
do not then apply. 

 

12.9 All authorities must continue to reimburse subsistence expenses for 
their members up to the maximum rates set out above on the basis of 
receipted claims except for occasions when members stay with friends 
and or family. 

 
12.10   There may be instances where an authority has determined that travel 

costs within its boundaries are payable and require a journey to be 
repeated on consecutive days. Where it is reasonable and cost effective to 
reimburse overnight accommodation costs, instead of repeated daily 
mileage costs, then it is permissible to do so. 

 

12.11 It is not necessary to allocate the maximum daily rate (£28 per day) 
between different meals as the maximum daily rate reimbursable covers 
a 24-hour period and can be claimed for any meal if relevant, provided 
such a claim is accompanied by receipts. 

 
Car Parking for Members 

 
Several councils have specific arrangements for their members in respect of car 
parking. The Panel considers that it is a matter for individual councils to determine 
arrangements including payments to and from members providing that it is a 
decision made formally by the council. 
 
  

Tudalen 135



 

43  

13. Payments to Members of Community and Town Councils 

 
13.1   The Panel recognises a wide variation in geography, scope and scale across 

the 735 community and town councils in Wales, from small community 
councils with relatively minimal expenditure and few meetings to large town 
councils with significant assets and responsibilities. This and the fact that not 
all electoral areas have councils, has made establishing remuneration 
arrangements more difficult to achieve than for other relevant authorities. For 
this reason, the Panel decided to undertake a fundamental review ready for 
implementation effective from the elections on 5 May 2022. 

 

13.2   The Panel decided that in carrying out the review it was vital to engage 
comprehensively with community and town councils and representative 
organisations together with a commitment to consult on the proposals 
emanating from the review. The result of this consultation was a significant 
degree of support for the new proposals and therefore the Panel has decided 
to introduce the new Framework as set out in this section. 

 
13.3 In order to act and carry out duties as a member of a community or town 

council all persons are required to make a formal declaration of acceptance of 
office. Following this declaration, members of community or town councils are 
then holders of elected office and occupy a role that is part of the Welsh local 
government structure. It is important to note that a person who follows this 
path is in a different position to those in other forms of activity, for example 
such as volunteering or charitable work, typically governed by the Charity 
Commission for England and Wales.  
 

13.4 Under the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011, community and town 
councils are relevant authorities for the purpose of remuneration.  
 

13.5 Consequently, individuals who have accepted office as a member of a 

community or town council are entitled to receive payments as determined by 

the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales. It is the duty of the proper 

officer of a council (usually the Council Clerk) to arrange for correct payments 

to be made to all individuals entitled to receive them. 

 

13.6 Members should receive monies to which they are properly entitled as a 

matter of course.  

 

13.7 An individual may decline to receive part, or all, of the payments if they so 

wish. This must be done in writing and is an individual matter. A community or 

town council member wishing to decline payments must themselves write to 

their proper officer to do so.  

 
13.8 The Panel considers that any member who has personal support needs or 

caring responsibilities should be enabled to fulfil their role. Therefore, the 

Panel continues to make the contribution towards costs of care and personal 

allowance mandatory for all members of community and town councils as set 

Tudalen 136



 

44  

out in Determination 43. 

 
13.9 Each community and town council must ensure that it does not create a 

climate which prevents persons accessing any monies to which they are 

entitled that may support them to participate in local democracy. Payments 

should be made efficiently and promptly. 

 

13.10 Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary from a principal 
council cannot receive any payment from any community or town council, 
other than travel and subsistence expenses and contribution towards costs 
of care and personal assistance. However, this does not preclude them from 
holding a senior role (Leader, Deputy Leader) without payment. 

 
13.11 Table 12 sets out the actions that community and town councils must take 

annually in respect of each determination that follows. 

 

Table 9: Community and Town Council Groupings 
 

The current groups are: 

 

Community and Town 
Council Group 

Income or Expenditure in 
2020-2021 of: 

A £200,000 and above 

B £30,000 - £199,999 

C Below £30,000 

 

13.12 These are based solely on finance. We acknowledge the view of many 

respondents that this was restrictive and limiting. Therefore 5 Groups will be 

established based on the size of the council’s electorate.  

 

Table 10 
 

Group number Size of Electorate 

Group 1 Electorate in excess of 14,000 

Group 2 10,000 to 13,999 

Group 3 5,000 to 9,999 

Group 4 1,000 to 4,999 

Group 5 Under 1,000 

 

13.13 In addition, there will be a second factor for determining which group the 

council will be placed. Where income or expenditure exceeds £200,000 a 

year, it will be moved upwards to the next group. 

 
Payments towards costs and expenses 

 
13.14 The Panel continues to mandate a payment of £150, except for councils in 

Tudalen 137



 

45  

Group 5 where it will be optional, as a contribution to costs and expenses for 
members of community and town councils.  
 

13.15 Receipts are not required for these payments. 

 

Determination 44: Community and town councils must make available a 
payment to each of their members of £150 per year as a contribution to 
costs and expenses, with the exception of those councils in Group 5 where 
the payment is optional.  

 
 Taxation 
 

13.16 The issue of the taxation of the £150 payment has been raised on many 
occasions and included in the responses to the recent consultation. As has been 
made clear the Panel has no remit in respect of matters of taxation but has been 
kept informed of the discussions between the Welsh Government and HMRC to 
establish a possible exemption applying to all community and town councils. If 
there is a positive outcome, it will not be within the timescale of this draft Report. 
However, if it is achieved before the publication of the final Report the Panel will 
take the opportunity to restructure the arrangements for this payment and if 
appropriate adjust by determination the amount to be paid. 

 
Senior roles 

 
13.17 The Panel recognises that specific member roles especially within the larger 

community and town councils, for example a committee chair, will involve 
greater responsibility. It is also likely that larger councils will have a greater 
number of committees, reflecting its level of activity. The Panel has 
therefore set out the determinations for senior role in table 11 below.  

 
13.18 In all cases, a councillor can only have one payment of £500 regardless of 

how many senior roles they hold within their Council. 
 
 

13.19 Where a person is a member of more than one community or town council, 
they are eligible to receive the £150 and, if appropriate, £500 from each 
council of which they are a member. 

 
Contribution towards costs of Care and Personal Assistance 

 
13.20 The purpose of this is to enable people who have personal support needs and or 

caring responsibilities to carry out their duties effectively as a member of an 
authority. The Panel’s determinations in Section 10 apply to Community and 
Town Councils. 

 
Reimbursement of travel costs and subsistence costs 

 
13.21 The Panel recognises there can be significant travel and subsistence costs 

associated with the work of community and town council members, especially 

Tudalen 138



 

46  

where the council area is geographically large and/or when engaging in 
duties outside this area. Each council has an option to pay travel and 
subsistence costs including travel by taxi if this is the only, or most 
appropriate, method of transport. Where a council does opt to pay travel and 
subsistence costs, the following determinations apply. 
 

Determination 45: Community and town councils can make payments to 
each of their members in respect of travel costs for attending approved 

duties. 
7 

Such payments must be the actual costs of travel by public 
transport or the HMRC mileage allowances as below: 
 

 45p per mile up to 10,000 miles in the year. 

 25p per mile over 10,000 miles. 

 5p per mile per passenger carried on authority business. 

 24p per mile for private motor cycles. 

 20p per mile for bicycles. 

 
Determination 46: If a community or town Council resolves that a 
particular duty requires an overnight stay, it can authorise reimbursement 
of subsistence expenses to its members at the maximum rates set out 
below on the basis of receipted claims: 
 

 £28 per 24-hour period allowance for meals, including breakfast 
where not provided. 

 £200 – London overnight. 

 £95 – elsewhere overnight. 

 £30 – staying with friends and/or family overnight. 
 

 
 

Compensation for financial loss 
 

13.22 The Panel has retained the facility which councils may pay as 
compensation to their members where they incur financial loss when 
attending approved duties. Members must be able to demonstrate that the 
financial loss has been incurred. Each council has an option to pay 
compensation for financial loss and where it does the following 
determination applies. 

 

 

Determination 47: Community and town councils can pay financial loss 
compensation to each of their members, where such loss has occurred, 
for attending approved duties as follows: 
 

 Up to £55.50 for each period not exceeding 4 hours 
 

 Up to £110.00 for each period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 
24 hours 

 

 
7 Where a member who is on official business or an approved duty is driven by a third party (not a member or officer of that 

Tudalen 139



 

47  

authority), the member can claim mileage at the prescribed rates plus any parking or toll fees provided the authority is satisfied 
that the member has incurred these costs. 
 

Attendance Allowance 
 

13.23 One of the points raised in the responses to the consultation should be the 
inclusion of an attendance allowance. The Panel acknowledges that in some 
cases this might be a valuable addition to support the work of a council. It is 
therefore included as an option for all councils. 

 

Determination 48: Each council can decide to introduce an attendance 
allowance for members. The amount of each payment must not exceed £30.  
A member in receipt of financial loss compensation will not be entitled to 
claim attendance allowance for the same event. 
 
Councils that intend to introduce an attendance allowance must set out the 
details of the scheme and publish them on their website.  

 
Civic Head and Deputy Civic Head  
 

13.24 Civic heads are senior posts within community and town councils. In addition 
to chairing major meetings the civic head is the ambassador representing 
the council to a variety of institutions and organisations. The Panel requires 
that members should not have to pay themselves for any cost associated 
with carrying out these duties. This requirement also applies in respect of 
deputy civic heads. 

  
13.25 The Panel recognises the wide range of provision made for civic heads in 

respect of transport, secretarial support, charitable giving and official clothing 
– we consider these to be the council’s civic budgets.  

 
13.26 Funding decisions in relation to these civic budgets are not matters of 

personal remuneration for the post holder but relate to the funding required 
for the tasks and duties to be carried out. Councils remain free to set civic 
budgets at whatever levels they deem appropriate for the levels of civic 
leadership they have in place. 

 
13.27 For the avoidance of doubt, costs in respect of, for example, transport 

(physical transport or mileage costs), secretarial support, charitable giving 
(purchasing tickets, making donations or buying raffle tickets) and official 
clothing are not matters of personal remuneration for the individual holding 
the senior post. These should be covered by the civic budget. 

  
13.28 Recognising that some mayors and chairs of community and town councils 

and their deputies are very active during their year of office, the Panel has 
determined that community and town councils can make a payment to the 
individuals holding these roles.  

13.29 This is a personal payment to the individual and is entirely separate from 
covering the costs set out above. 

13.30 The Panel has determined that the maximum payment to a chair or mayor of 

Tudalen 140



 

48  

a community or town council is £1,500. The maximum payment to a deputy 
mayor or chair is £500. 

 
Determination 50: Community and town councils can provide a payment to 
the deputy mayor or deputy chair of the council up to a maximum of £500. 
This is in addition to the £150 payment for costs and expenses and the 
£500 senior salary if these are claimed. 

 

 

Determination 51: The application of the Remuneration Framework by 

relevant Group.  

 
 
Table 11  
 

Type of payment  Requirement  

Group 1  (Electorate over 14,000) 

Basic Payment Mandatory for all Members 

Senior Role Payment Mandatory for 1 member; optional for up to 7 

Attendance Allowance Optional 

Financial Loss  Mandatory 

Travel and Subsistence Optional 

Costs of Care Mandatory 

Group 2                                      (Electorate 10,000 to 13,999) 

Basic Payment Mandatory for all members 

Senior Role Payment Mandatory for 1 member; optional up to 5 

Attendance Allowance Optional 

Financial Loss  Mandatory 

Travel and Subsistence Optional 

Cost of Care Mandatory 

Group 3  (Electorate 5,000 to 9,999) 

Basic Payment Mandatory for all members 

Senior Role Payment Optional up to 3 members 

Attendance Allowance Optional 

Financial Loss  Mandatory 

Travel and Subsistence Optional 

Cost of Care Mandatory 

Group 4  (Electorate 1,000 to 4,999) 

Basic Payment Mandatory for all members 

Senior Role Payment Optional up to 3 members 

Attendance Allowance Optional 

Financial Loss  Mandatory 

Determination 49: Community and town councils can provide a payment to 
the mayor or chair of the council up to a maximum of £1,500. This is in 
addition to the £150 payment for costs and expenses and the £500 senior 

salary if these are claimed. 
 

Tudalen 141



 

49  

Type of payment  Requirement  

Travel and Subsistence Optional 

Cost of Care Mandatory 

Group 5  (Electorate less than 1,000) 

Basic Payment Optional 

Senior Role Payment Optional 

Attendance Allowance Optional 

Financial Loss  Mandatory 

Travel and Subs Optional 

Cost of Care Mandatory 

 
 
Making Payments to Members 

 
13.31 Table 12 sets out each of the above determinations and if a decision is 

required by the council in respect of each one.  
 

13.32 In respect of the mandated payments where no decision is required by a 
council, members should receive monies to which they are properly entitled 
as a matter of course. 

 
13.33 Where a decision is required by the council, this should be done at the first 

meeting following receipt of the Annual Report.  
 

13.34 A council can adopt any, or all, of the non-mandated determinations but if it 
does make such a decision, it must apply to all its members. 

 
13.35 When payments take effect from is set out in paragraphs 13.37 to 13.39 

below. 
 

13.36 On receipt of the draft Annual Report the previous autumn, councils should 
consider the determinations for the next financial year and use this to inform 
budget plans. 

 
Table 12 

 

Determination Number Is a decision required by council? 

44 Community and town councils must 
make available a payment to each 
of their members of £150 per year 
as a contribution to costs and 
expenses, with the exception of 
those councils in Group 5 where 
the payment is optional. 

 
 

No - the payment of £150 is mandated 
for every member unless they advise the 
appropriate officer that they do not want 
to take it in writing.  
 
This does not apply to councils in Group 
5. The council must decide whether to 
adopt the payment and if so, it must be 
available for all members. 

45 Community and town councils can 
make payments to each of their 
members in respect of travel costs 
for attending approved duties. 

Yes – the payment of travel costs is 
optional. 

Tudalen 142



 

50  

Determination Number Is a decision required by council? 

46 If a community or town council 
resolves that a particular duty 
requires an overnight stay, it can 
authorise reimbursement of 
subsistence expenses to its 
members. 

Yes – the payment of overnight 
subsistence expenses is optional. 

47 Community and town councils can 
pay financial loss compensation to 
each of their members, where 
such loss has actually occurred, 
for attending approved duties. 

Yes – the payment of financial loss 
compensation is mandatory if claimed 

48 Determination 47: Each council can 
decide to introduce an attendance 
allowance for members. The 
amount of each payment must not 
exceed £30. 

  
A member in receipt of financial 
loss will not be entitled to claim 
attendance allowance for the 
same event. 
 
Councils that intend to introduce a 
system of attendance allowances 
must set out the details of the 
scheme and publish on their 
website.  

 Yes – the payment of attendance 
allowance is optional. 

49 Community and town councils can 
provide a payment to the mayor or 
chair of the council up to a 
maximum of £1,500. 

Yes – the payment to a civic head is 
optional. 

50 Community and town councils can 
provide a payment to the deputy 
mayor or deputy chair of the 
council up to a maximum amount 
of £500. 

Yes – the payment to a deputy civic head 
is optional. 

51 The application of the 
Remuneration Framework by 
relevant Group 

 

52 Members in receipt of a Band 1 or 
Band 2 senior salary from a 
principal council (that is leader, 
deputy leader or executive 
member) cannot receive any 
payment from any community or 
town council, other than travel and 
subsistence expenses and 
contribution towards costs of care 
and personal assistance. 

No - Members in receipt of a Band 1 or 
Band 2 senior salary from a principal 
council (that is leader, deputy leader or 
executive member) can only receive 
travel and subsistence expenses and 
contribution towards costs of care and 
personal assistance; if they are eligible to 
claim, and wish to do so. 

Tudalen 143



 

51  

 
 
 
 

13.37 All members are eligible to be paid the £150 as set out in Determination 44 and 
Table 11 from the start of the financial year; unless they are elected later in the 
financial year, in which case they are eligible for a proportionate payment from 
that date.  

 
13.38 Other amounts payable to members in recognition of specific responsibilities or 

as a civic head or deputy civic head as set out in Determinations 49 and 50 are 
payable from the date when the member takes up the role during the financial 
year. 

 
13.39 It is a matter for each council to make, and record, a policy decision in respect of: 

 

 when the payment is actually made to the member; 

 how many payments the total amount payable is broken down into; 

 and whether and how to recover any payments made to a member who 
leaves or changes their role during the financial year.  

 
13.40 Payments in respect of Determinations 45, 46, 47 and 48 are payable when the 

activity they relate to has taken place.  
 

13.41 As stated in paragraph 13.7 any individual member may make a personal 
decision to elect to forgo part or all of the entitlement to any of these payments 
by giving notice in writing to the proper officer of the council. 

 

Determination 52: Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary 
from a principal council (that is Leader, Deputy Leader or Executive 
Member) cannot receive any payment from any community or town 
Council, other than travel and subsistence expenses and contribution 
towards costs of care and personal assistance. 

 
Publicity requirements 

 
13.42 There is a requirement on community and town councils to publish details of 

all payments made to individual members in an annual Statement of 
Payments for each financial year. This information must be published on 
council noticeboards and or websites (with easy access) and provided to the 
Panel by email or by post no later than 30 September following the end of 
the previous financial year. The Panel draws attention to the requirements 
stipulated at Annex 4. The Panel is concerned that a significant number of 
councils are still in breach of this requirement. 

Tudalen 144



 

52 
 

14. Compliance with Panel Requirements 
 
The Panel’s remit under the Measure 

 
14.1 Section 153 of the Measure empowers the Panel to require a relevant 

authority8 to comply with the requirements imposed on it by an Annual Report 
of the Panel and further enables the Panel to monitor the compliance of 
relevant authorities with the Panel’s determinations. 

 
14.2 A relevant authority must implement the Panel’s determinations in this report 

from the date of its annual meeting or a date specified within the Annual 
Report. 

 

Monitoring compliance 
 
14.3 The Panel will monitor compliance with the determinations in this Annual 

Report by relevant authorities against the following requirements: 
 

(i) A relevant authority must maintain an annual Schedule of Member 
Remuneration (IRPW Regulations 4 and 5). Guidance at Annex 3 sets 
out the content which must be included in the Schedule. 

(ii) A relevant authority must make arrangements for the Schedule’s 
publication within the authority area (IRPW Regulation 46) and send 
the Schedule to the Panel as soon as practicable and not later than 31 
July in the year to which it applies. Annex 4 provides further details of 
the publicity requirements. 

(iii) Any amendments to the Schedule made during the year must be 
notified to the Panel as soon as possible after the amendment is 
made. 

 

Note: The above requirements do not apply to Community and Town 
Councils at this time.  
 
The following applies to all authorities including Community and Town 
Councils. 

 
(iv) A relevant authority must make arrangements for publication within the 

authority area of the total sum paid by it in the previous financial year 
to each member and co-opted member in respect of salary (basic, 
senior and civic), allowances, fees and reimbursements in a 
Statement of Payments (in accordance with Annex 4 that sets out the 
content that must be included in the Publicity Requirements). This 
must be published as soon as practicable and no later than 30 
September following the end of the previous financial year- and must 
also be submitted to the Panel no later than that date. 

 

8 
Interpretation of “Relevant Authority” provided in the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 

(IRPW) Regulations, Part 1, ‘Interpretation’. 

Tudalen 145



 

53  

15. Salaries of Heads of Paid Service of Principal Councils 
and Fire and Rescue Authorities and Chief Officers of 
Principal Councils 

 
15.1 Section 63 of the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 amended 

the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 by inserting section 143A. This 
enables the Panel to take a view on anything in the Pay Policy Statements of 
these authorities that relates to the salary of the head of paid service 
(normally the Head of Paid Service or chief fire officer). Section 39 of the 
Local Government (Wales) Act 2015 further amended the Measure extending 
this function to include Chief Officers of Principal Councils. However, this 
function ceased on 31 March 2020. 

 
15.2 The Welsh Government issued amended guidance to the Panel which can be 

found at Amended Guidance to the Independent Remuneration Panel for 
Wales under Section 143A of the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011 
and Section 39 of the Local Government (Wales) Act 2015. This sets the 
basis on which the Panel will carry out the function contained in the legislation. 

 

15.3 The functions of the Panel and the requirements on authorities established 
by the legislation and the subsequent guidance are: 

 

a) If a principal council intends to change the salary of the head of paid 
service, or if a fire and rescue authority intends to change the salary of 
its head of paid service it must consult the Panel unless the change is in 
keeping with changes applied to other officers of that authority (whether 
the change is an increase or decrease). ‘Salary’ includes payments 
under a contract for services as well as payments of salary under an 
employment contract. 

 
b) The authority must have regard to the recommendation(s) of the Panel 

when reaching its decision. 
 

c) The Panel may seek any information that it considers necessary to reach 
a conclusion and produce a recommendation. The authority is obliged to 
provide the information sought by the Panel. 

 

d) The Panel may publish any recommendation that it makes as long 
as these comply with any guidance issued by the Welsh 
Government. It is the intention that, in the interests of 
transparency, it will normally do so. 

 

e) The Panel's recommendation(s) could indicate: 

 approval of the authority's proposal 

 express concerns about the proposal 

 recommend variations to the proposal 
 

 
15.4 The Panel also has a general power to review the Pay Policy Statements of 

Tudalen 146

https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/local-government-regulations-guidance-for-the-independent-remuneration-panel.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/local-government-regulations-guidance-for-the-independent-remuneration-panel.pdf
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/local-government-regulations-guidance-for-the-independent-remuneration-panel.pdf


 

54  

authorities so far as they relate to the heads of paid service.  

 
15.5 It is important to note the Panel will not decide the amount an individual head 

of paid service will receive. 
 

15.6 The Panel is very aware that this function is significantly different from its 
statutory responsibilities in relation to members' remuneration. However, it 
undertakes this role with clarity and openness, taking into account all the 
relevant factors in respect of specific individual cases. Authorities are 
encouraged to consult the Panel at an early stage in their decision-making 
on such matters. This will enable the Panel to respond in a timely manner. 

 
Pay Policy Statements 

 
Paragraph 3.7 of the guidance to the Panel from the Welsh Government states that 
“The legislation does not restrict the Panel to a reactive role”. It allows the Panel to 
use its power to make recommendations relating to provisions within local 
authorities’ Pay Policy Statements.  
 
Changes to the salaries of chief executives of principal councils – Panel 
decisions 2021 
 
Letters issued to the Local Authorities notifying them of the Panel decision can be 
found on the Panel website.   
 

Name of Local Authority Proposal Panel 
decision 

Wrexham County Borough 
Council 

Chief Executive pay proposal Approved 

Ceredigion County Council  Review of Chief Executive 
salary 

Approved 

 
 
 
 

Tudalen 147

https://gov.wales/independent-remuneration-panel-wales


 

55  

Annex 1: The Panel’s Determinations for 2022/23 
 

Principal Councils 

1. The Basic Salary in 2022/23 for elected members of principal councils shall be 

£16,800. 

2. Senior salary levels in 2022/23 for members of principal councils shall be as set 

out in Table 4. 

3. Where paid, a civic head must be paid a Band 3 salary of £25,593 in 

accordance with Table 4. 

4. Where paid, a deputy civic head must be paid a Band 5 salary of £20,540 in 

accordance with Table 4. 

5. Where appointed and if remunerated, a presiding member must be paid 

£25,593 in accordance with Table 4.  

6. The post of deputy presiding member will not be remunerated. 

7. a) An elected member must not be remunerated for more than one senior 

post within their authority.  

 

b) An elected member must not be paid a senior salary and a civic salary. 

 

c) All senior and civic salaries are paid inclusive of basic salary. 

 

d) If a council chooses to have more than one remunerated deputy leader, 

the difference between the senior salary for the deputy leader and other 

executive members should be divided by the number of deputy leaders 

and added to the senior salary for other executive members in order to 

calculate the senior salary payable to each deputy leader. 

8. Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary cannot receive a salary 

from any NPA or FRA to which they have been appointed. They remain eligible 

to claim travel and subsistence expenses and contribution towards costs of care 

and personal assistance from the NPA or FRA. 

9. Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 salary cannot receive any payment 

from a community or town council of which they are a member. They remain 

eligible to claim travel and subsistence expenses and contribution towards costs 

of care and personal assistance from the community or town council. Where this 

situation applies, it is the responsibility of the individual member to comply. 

10. Each authority, through its Democratic Services Committee, must ensure that all 

its elected members are given as much support as is necessary to enable them 

to fulfil their duties effectively. All elected members should be provided with 

adequate telephone, email and internet facilities giving electronic access to 

appropriate information. 

Tudalen 148



 

56  

11. Such support should be without cost to the individual member. Deductions 

must not be made from members’ salaries by the respective authority as a 

contribution towards the cost of support which the authority has decided 

necessary for the effectiveness and or efficiency of members. 

Specific or Additional Senior Salaries 

12. Principal councils can apply for specific or additional senior salaries that do not 

fall within the current Remuneration Framework. 

Assistants to the Executive 

13. The Panel will decide on a case-by-case basis the appropriate senior salary, if 

any, for assistants to the executive. 

Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees (JOSC) 

14. The salary level for a chair of a JOSC shall be £8,793. 

15. The salary level for a vice chair of a JOSC shall be £4,396. 

Local Government Pension Scheme 

16. The entitlement to join the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) shall 

apply to all eligible elected members of principal councils. 

Family Absence 

17. An elected member is entitled to retain a basic salary when taking family 
absence under the original regulations or any amendment to the regulations 
irrespective of the attendance record immediately preceding the 
commencement of the family absence. 

18. When a senior salary holder is eligible for family absence, they will continue to 
receive the salary for the duration of the absence. 

19. It is a matter for the authority to decide whether or not to make a substitute 
appointment. The elected member substituting for a senior salary holder taking 
family absence will be eligible to be paid a senior salary, if the authority so 
decides. 

20. If the paid substitution results in the authority exceeding the maximum number 
of senior salaries which relates to it, as set out in the Panel's Annual Report, an 
addition to the maximum will be allowed for the duration of the substitution. 

However, this will not apply to the Isle of Anglesey or Merthyr Tydfil Councils if it 
would result in the number of senior salaries exceeding fifty percent of the 
Council membership. Specific approval of Welsh Ministers is required in such 
circumstances. 

21. When a Council agrees a paid substitution for family absence the Panel must 
be informed within 14 days of the date of the decision, of the details including 
the particular post and the duration of the substitution. 

Tudalen 149



 

57  

22. The Council’s schedule of remuneration must be amended to reflect the 
implication of the family absence. 

National Park Authorities 

23. The basic salary for NPA ordinary members shall be £4,738 with effect from 1 
April 2022. 

24. The senior salary of the chair of a NPA shall be £13,531 with effect from 1 April 
2022. 

25. A NPA senior salary of £8,478 must be paid to a deputy chair where 
appointed. 

26. Committee chairs or other senior posts can be paid. This shall be paid at 
£8,478. 

27. Members must not receive more than one NPA senior salary. 

28. A NPA senior salary is paid inclusive of the NPA basic salary. 

29. Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary 

cannot receive a salary from any NPA to which they have been appointed. 

Where this situation applies, it is the responsibility of the individual member 

to comply. 

Fire and Rescue Authorities 

30. The basic salary for FRA ordinary members shall be £2,369 with effect from 1 
April 2022. 

31. The senior salary of the chair of a FRA shall be £11,162 with effect from 1 April 
2022. 

32. A FRA senior salary of £6,109 must be paid to the deputy chair where 

appointed. 

33. Chairs of committees or other senior posts can be paid. This shall be paid at 

£6,109. 

34. Members must not receive more than one FRA senior salary. 

35. A FRA senior salary is paid inclusive of the FRA basic salary and must reflect 

significant and sustained responsibility. 

36. Members of a principal council in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary 

cannot receive a salary from any FRA to which they have been nominated. 

Where this situation applies, it is the responsibility of the individual member to 

comply. 

Co-opted Members 

37. Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must pay the fees to co-opted members 

(who have voting rights) as set out in Table 7. 

Tudalen 150



 

58  

38. Reasonable time for pre meeting preparation is to be included in claims made by 

co-opted members the extent of which can be determined by the appropriate 

officer in advance of the meeting. 

39. Travelling time to and from the place of the meeting is to be included in the 

claims for payments made by co-opted members (up to the maximum of the 

daily rate). 

40. The appropriate officer within the authority must determine in advance whether 

a meeting is programmed for a full day and the fee will be paid on the basis of 

this determination even if the meeting finishes before four hours has elapsed. 

41. Fees must be paid for meetings and other activities including other committees 

and working groups (including task and finish groups), pre-meetings with 

officers, training and attendance at conferences or any other formal meeting to 

which co-opted members are requested to attend. 

42. Each authority, through its Democratic Services Committee or other appropriate 

committee, must ensure that all voting co-opted members are given as much 

support as is necessary to enable them to fulfil their duties effectively. Such 

support should be without cost to the individual member. 

Contribution towards costs of Care and Personal Assistance 

43. All relevant authorities must provide a payment towards necessary costs for the 
care of dependent children and adults (provided by informal or formal carers) and 
for personal assistance needs as follows: 

 Formal (registered with Care Inspectorate Wales) care costs to be paid 

as evidenced. 

 Informal (unregistered) care costs to be paid up to a maximum rate 

equivalent to hourly rates as defined by the Living Wage Foundation at 

the time the costs are incurred. 

This must be for the additional costs incurred by members to enable them to 

carry out official business or approved duties. Each authority must ensure 

that any payments made are appropriately linked to official business or 

approved duty. Payment shall only be made on production of receipts from 

the care provider. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Community and Town Councils 

44. Community and town councils must make available a payment to each of their 
members of £150 per year as a contribution to costs and expenses, with the 
exception of those councils in Group 5 where the payment is optional. 
 

Tudalen 151

https://www.livingwage.org.uk/what-real-living-wage


 

59  

45. Community and town councils can make payments to each of their members in 

respect of travel costs for attending approved duties. 9 Such payments must be 
the actual costs of travel by public transport or the HMRC mileage allowances as 
below: 

 45p per mile up to 10,000 miles in the year. 

 25p per mile over 10,000 miles. 

 5p per mile per passenger carried on authority business. 

 24p per mile for private motor cycles. 

 20p per mile for bicycles. 

46. If a community or town council resolves that a particular duty requires an 
overnight stay, it can authorise reimbursement of subsistence expenses to its 
members at the maximum rates set out below on the basis of receipted claims: 

 
 £28 per 24-hour period allowance for meals, including breakfast where not 

provided. 

 £200 – London overnight. 

 £95 – elsewhere overnight. 

 £30 – staying with friends and or family overnight. 

47. Community and town councils can pay financial loss compensation to each of 

their members, where such loss has occurred, for attending approved duties as 

follows: 

 Up to £55.50 for each period not exceeding 4 hours. 

 Up to £110.00 for each period exceeding 4 hours but not exceeding 

24 hours. 

48. Each council can decide to introduce an attendance allowance for members. The 
amount of each payment must not exceed £30.  
A member in receipt of financial loss will not be entitled to claim attendance 
allowance for the same event. 
 
Councils that intend to introduce a system of attendance allowances must set 

out the details of the scheme and publish on their website.  

49. Community and town councils can provide a payment to the mayor or chair of 

the council up to a maximum of £1,500. This is in addition to the £150 payment 

for costs and expenses and the £500 senior salary if these are claimed. 

50. Community and town councils can provide a payment to the deputy mayor or 

deputy chair of the council up to a maximum of £500. This is in addition to the 

£150 payment for costs and expenses and the £500 senior salary if these are 

claimed. 

 
51. The application of the Remuneration Framework by relevant Group. 

Tudalen 152



 

60  

52. Members in receipt of a Band 1 or Band 2 senior salary from a principal council 
(that is leader, deputy leader or executive member) cannot receive any payment 
from any community or town council, other than travel and subsistence expenses 
and contribution towards costs of care and personal assistance. 
 

 
9 

Where a member who is on official business or an approved duty is driven by a third party (not a member or officer of that authority), 
the member can claim mileage at the prescribed rates plus any parking or toll fees provided the authority is satisfied that the member 
has incurred these costs.

Tudalen 153



 

61  

Annex 2: Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
(IRPW) Regulations: 

 
a) For the remuneration of members and co-opted members of relevant 

authorities 
 

b) For functions relating to the salaries of Heads of Paid Service of Principal 
Councils and Fire and Rescue Authorities 

 
 

Introduction 

 
Part 8 (sections 141 to 160) and schedules 2 and 3 of the Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 2011 (the Measure) set out the arrangements for the payments and 
pensions for members of relevant authorities and the functions and responsibilities of 
the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales (the Panel). 

 
Sections 62 to 67 of the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) Act 2013 amends 
sections 142, 143, 144, 147, 148 and 151 of the Measure and confers additional 
powers on the Panel. 

 
The powers contained in part 8 and schedules 2 and 3 of the Measure (as amended) 
have replaced the following Statutory Instruments: 

 
 The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of County and 

County Borough Councils and National Park Authorities) (Wales) 
Regulations 2002 (No. 1895 (W.196)). 

 The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of Fire Authorities) 
(Wales) Regulations 2004 (No. 2555 (W.227)). 

 The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members) (Wales) Regulations 2007 
(No.1086 (W.115)). 

 

The Measure also has replaced the sections of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and the Local Government Act 2000 
relating to payments to councillors in Wales. 

 
Payments for members of community and town councils are set out in Part 5 of 
these Regulations. The Local Authorities (Allowances for Members of Community 
Councils) (Wales) Regulations 2003 (No. 895(W.115)) were revoked from 1April 
2013. 

 
Part 1 

 
General 

 
1. a. The short title of these Regulations is: “IRPW Regulations”. 

b. These IRPW Regulations came into force on 1 April 2021 and replace 

Tudalen 154



 

62  

those in force from 1 April 2012. The implementation date for each of 
the relevant authorities is set out in the Annual Report or 
Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

c. Authorities are required to produce a schedule of payments to members 
and co-opted members no later than the 31 July each year, for 
submission to the Panel and publication (see paragraph 46). 

 

Interpretation 
 

2. In the IRPW Regulations: 

 

 “The 1972 Act” means the Local Government Act 1972. 

 “The 2000 Act” means the Local Government Act 2000. 

 “The 2013 Act” means the Local Government (Democracy) (Wales) 
Act 2013. 

 “Payment” means the actual or maximum amount which may be paid 
to members and co-opted members of a relevant authority for 
expenses necessarily incurred when carrying out the official business 
of the relevant authority. 

 “Annual Report” means a report produced by the Panel in accordance 
with section 145 of the Measure. 

 “Approved duty” in relation to community and town councils has 
the meaning as set out in Part 5 of these Regulations. 

 “Authority” means a relevant authority in Wales as defined in 
Section 144(2) of the Measure and includes a principal council 
(county or county borough council), a national park authority and a 
Welsh fire and rescue authority, a community or town council. 

 “Basic Salary” has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 6 of 
these Regulations, and may be qualified as “LA Basic Salary” to refer to 
the basic salary of a member of a principal council; “NPA Basic Salary” 
to refer to the basic salary of a member of a national park authority; and 
“FRA Basic Salary” to refer to the basic salary of a member of a Welsh 
fire and rescue authority. 

 “Chief Officer” of a principal council has the meaning as defined in 
the Localism Act 2011. 

  “Civic Head” is the person elected by the council to carry out the 
functions of the chair of that council and is designated as mayor or 
chair. 

 “Committee” includes a sub-committee. 

 “Community or town council” means in relation to Part 8 of the 
Measure, a community council as defined in section 33 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 or a town council in accord with section 245B of 
the same Act. 

Tudalen 155



 

63  

 “Consultation draft” means the draft of an Annual or Supplementary report 
under Section 146 (7) or 147(8) of the Measure. The Panel must take 
account of these representations. 

 “Constituent authority” – for national park authorities this is a principal 
council falling within the area of a national park authority; for Welsh fire 
and rescue authorities it is a principal council falling within the area of a 
fire and rescue authority. 

 “Contribution to Costs of Care and Personal Assistance” has the same 
meaning as set out in paragraph 21 of these Regulations. 

 “Controlling group” means a political group in a principal council where 
any of its members form part of the executive. 

 “Co-opted Member” has the meaning contained in section 144 (5) of the 
Measure, that is those with the right to vote on matters within the remit of 
the committee on which they serve. 

 “Co-opted Member payment” has the same meaning as set out in 
paragraph 19 of these Regulations. 

 “Democratic Services Committee” means the principal council 
committee established under section 11 of the Measure. 

 “Deputy Civic Head” is a person elected by the council to deputise for the 
mayor or chair of that council. 

 “Executive” means the executive of an authority in a form as specified in 
sections 11(2) to (5) of the 2000 Act, as amended by section 34 of the 
Measure. 

 “Executive arrangements” has the meaning given by section 10(1) of the 
2000 Act. 

 “Family absence” as defined in Section 142 (2) (b) of the Measure has the 
meaning given to it by Part 2 of the Measure, and the related Regulations 

 “Financial Loss Allowance in relation to community or town councils has 
the meaning as set out in Part 5 of the Regulations. 

 “Fire and rescue authority” means an authority constituted by a scheme 
under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to 
which section 4 of that Act applies. 

 “Head of paid service” means as designated under section 4(1) of the 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

 Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committee means a committee or 
subcommittee set up by two or more principal councils under the Local 
Authority (Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees) (Wales) Regulations 
2013. 

 “Largest opposition group” means a political group other than a controlling 
group which has a greater number of members than any other political 
group in the authority.

Tudalen 156



 

64  

 “Member” means a person who serves on an authority.  

 For a principal council or a community or town council a “Member” 
may be:  

 An “Elected Member” which means a person who has been elected to 
serve as a councillor for that authority. It is possible for a person to 
hold an elected office if, further to the completion of an election, no 
candidate has presented and a person holds that office subject to 
proper process. 

 A “Co-opted Member”’ which means a person who has been placed 
into membership of a council committee or to discharge a function 
subject to proper process. 

 For a national park authority, a “Member” means a person appointed 
by a constituent authority and a person appointed by Welsh Ministers.  

 For Welsh fire and rescue authorities a “Member” means a person 
appointed by a constituent authority. 

 

 “National Park Authority” means a national park authority established 
under section 63 of the Environment Act 1995. 

 “Official business” has the meaning contained in Section 142 (10) of the 
Measure in relation to the reimbursement of care, travel and subsistence 
costs necessarily incurred by members and co-opted members of a 
relevant authority (excluding community and town councils) when: 

 
a. Attending a meeting of the authority or any committee of the authority or 

any other body to which the authority makes appointments or nominations 
or of any committee of such a body. 

b. Attending a meeting of any association of authorities of which the 
authority is a member. 

c. Attending a meeting the holding of which is authorised by the authority or 
by a committee of the authority or by a joint committee of the authority 
and one or more other authorities. 

d. Attending any training or development event approved by the authority or 
its executive. 

e. A duty undertaken for the purpose of or in connection with the discharge 
of the functions of an executive within the meaning of Part 2 of the 2000 
Act, as amended. 

f. A duty undertaken in pursuance of a standing order which requires a 
member or members to be present when tender documents are 
opened. 

g. A duty undertaken in connection with the discharge of any function of 
the authority to inspect or authorise the inspection of premises. 

h. A duty undertaken by members of principal councils in connection with 
constituency or ward responsibilities which arise from the discharge of 
principal council functions. 

Tudalen 157



 

65  

i. Any other duty approved by the authority, or any duty of class so 
approved, undertaken for the purpose of, or in connection with, the 
discharge of the functions of the authority or any of its committees. 

 
 “Other political group” means a political group other than a controlling 

group or the largest opposition group (if any) which comprises not less 
than ten per cent of the members of that authority. 

 “Overview and Scrutiny Committee” means a committee of the authority 
which has the powers set out in sections 21(2) and (3) of the 2000 Act, as 
amended by Part 6 of the Measure. 

 “Panel” means the Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales as set out in 
section 141(1) and schedule 2 of the Measure. 

 “Pay policy statement” means a statement produced by a relevant 
authority under section 38 of the Localism Act 2011. 

 ‘Political group’ may be formed from members of a recognised political party 
or be a group of independent members unaffiliated to any recognised 
political party. “Presiding Member” means a member of a principal council 
who has been designated by that council to carry out functions in relation to 
the chairing of its meetings and proceedings. 

 “Principal Council” is as defined by the 1972 Act and means a county or county 
borough council. 

 “Proper officer” has the same meaning as in section 270(3) of the 1972 Act In 
community and town councils, the ‘Proper Officer’ may be the clerk or other 
official appointed for that purpose. “Public body” means a body as defined in 
section 67(b) of the 2013 Act. 

 “Qualifying provision” means a provision that makes a variation to a 
previous decision of the Panel. (Section 65 (c) of the 2013 Act). 

 “Qualifying relevant authority” is an authority within the meaning of section 63 
of the 2013 Act, required to produce a pay policy statement. 

 “Relevant authority” is set out in Section 144(2) of the Measure (as amended) 
and in section 64 of the 2013 Act and, for the purposes of these Regulations, 
includes a principal council, a community or town council, a national park 
authority and a Welsh fire and rescue authority. 

 “Relevant matters” are as defined in Section 142(2) of the Measure. 

 “Schedule” means a list setting out the authority’s decisions in respect of 
payments to be made during the year (as relating to that authority) to all 
members and co-opted members of that authority. 

 “Senior Salary” has the same meaning as set out in paragraph 11 of these 
Regulations and may be qualified as “Principal council Senior Salary” to refer 
to the senior salary of a member of a principal council; “National Park Senior 
Salary” to refer to the senior salary of a member of a national park authority; 
or “Fire and Rescue authority Senior Salary” to refer to the senior salary of a 
member of a Fire and Rescue authority. 

 “Sickness absence” means the arrangements as set out in the Annual 
Report. 

Tudalen 158



 

66  

 “Supplementary report” has the meaning contained in section 146(4 to 8) of 
the Measure. 

 “Travelling and subsistence payment” has the same meaning as set out in 
paragraph 25 of these Regulations. 

 “Year” has the following meanings: 

“financial year” – the period of twelve months ending 31 March; 

“calendar year” – the period of twelve months ending 31 December; 

“municipal year” – the year commencing on the date of the annual 
meeting of the authority and ending the day before the annual meeting 
of the following year; for national park authorities and Welsh fire and 
rescue authorities it is the period of up to twelve months following the 
annual meeting of the authority. 

 

Part 2: Schedule of member or co-opted member payments 
 
Commencement of term of office 

 
3. The term of office of: 

 
 An elected member of a principal council or community or town 

council begins 4 days following the election subject to making the 
declaration of acceptance of that office under section 83(1) of the 
1972 Act. 

 A councillor member of a national park authority begins on the date on 
which that member is appointed as such by a constituent authority and 
the term of office of a Welsh Government appointed member begins on 
the date of that appointment. The term of office of the chair and deputy 
chair of the national park authority begins on their acceptance of that 
office further to being either elected or appointed as a chair or deputy 
chair of a national park authority. 

 A councillor member of a Welsh fire and rescue authority begins on the 
date on which that member is appointed as such by a constituent 
authority and the term of office of the chair and deputy chair of the fire 
and rescue authority begins on the date of election by that authority to 
that office. 

 A co-opted member of a relevant authority begins on the 
date of appointment by the relevant authority. 

 

Schedule of payments to members (the Schedule) (does not apply to 
community or town councils – see Part 5) 

 
4. An authority must produce annually, a schedule of payments it intends to 

make to its members and co-opted members. The amount of those payments 
must accord with the Panel’s determinations made for that year in its Annual 
or Supplementary Reports. The Schedule must be produced no later than four 
weeks following the annual meeting of the authority. 

 

Tudalen 159



 

67  

Amendment to the Schedule 
 
5. An authority may amend the Schedule at any time during the year (as relating 

to the authority) provided that such amendments accord with the Panel’s 
determinations for that year. 
 

Basic salary 
 

6. An authority must provide for the payment of a basic salary, as determined by 
the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports, to each of its members. 
The amount of the salary must be the same for each member. For principal 
councils only, this salary remains payable during a period of family absence. 

 

7. A member may not receive more than one basic salary from a relevant 
authority, but a member of one relevant authority may receive a further basic 
salary by being appointed as a member of another relevant authority (except 
in the case as indicated in paragraph 16). 

 
8. The amount of the basic salary will be set in accordance with Section 142(3) 

of the Measure and will be one of the following: 

 

 The amount the authority must pay to a member of the authority. 

 The maximum amount that the authority may pay to a member of 
the authority. 

 

9. Where the term of office of a member begins or ends other than at the 
beginning or end of the year (as relating to the authority), the entitlement of 
that member is to such proportion of the basic salary as the number of days 
during which the member’s term of office subsists during that year bears to 
the number of days in that year. 

 
10. Where a member is suspended or partially suspended from being a member 

of an authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the part of the basic salary 
payable to that member in respect of the responsibilities or duties from which 
that member is suspended or partially suspended must be withheld by the 
authority. Payment must also be withheld if directed by the Welsh Ministers 
(Section 155(1) of the Measure). 

 

Senior salary 
 
11. Subject to paragraphs 12 to 18 an authority can make payments of a senior 

salary to members that it has given specific responsibilities. Such payments 
must accord with the Panel’s determination for the year (as relating to the 
authority) that the payments are made and must be set out in the Schedule of 
that authority. For principal councils only, a senior salary will remain payable 
during the family absence of the office holder. 

 
12. The Panel will prescribe in its Annual or Supplementary Reports the following: 

 
 The categories of members eligible for the payment of a senior salary 

Tudalen 160



 

68  

which may not be the same for all authorities or categories of 
authorities. 

 The discretion available to authorities in relation to the payment of 
senior salaries which may not be the same for all authorities or 
categories of authorities. 

 
13. The amount of the senior salaries payable will be in accordance with 

section 142(3) of the Measure and specify: 

 The amount that a relevant authority must pay to a member of 
the authority. 

 The maximum amount that a relevant authority may pay to a member 
of the authority. 

 

14. The Senior Salary will comprise an amalgam of the basic salary and an 
additional amount for the relevant specific responsibility determined by the 
Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. This may not be the same for 
all authorities or categories of authorities. 

 
15. The Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports will determine either the 

maximum proportion of its membership or the total number of members that 
an authority can pay as senior salaries. The percentage may not exceed fifty 
percent without the express approval of Welsh Ministers (Section 142(5) of 
the Measure). For principal councils only, the maximum proportion or number 
may be exceeded to include payment of a senior salary to an additional 
member who is appointed to provide temporary cover for the family absence 
of a senior salary office holder (subject to the 50% limit). 

 

15(a). For, Fire and Rescue Authorities and National Park Authorities the maximum 
proportion or number may be exceeded to include the payment of a senior 
salary to an additional member who is appointed to provide temporary cover 
for the sickness absence of a senior salary holder as determined in the 
Annual Report or a Supplementary Report. 

 
15(b). Payments to chairs of Joint Overview and Scrutiny Committees or Sub 

Committees are additional to the maximum proportion of its membership that 
an authority can pay as senior salaries subject to the overall maximum of fifty 
percent as contained in Section 142(5) of the Measure. The Panel will 
determine the amounts of such payments in an Annual or Supplementary 
Report. 

 

16. An authority must not pay more than one senior salary to any member. A 
principal council member in receipt of a senior salary as leader or executive 
member of an authority (determined as full-time by the Panel) may not 
receive a second salary as a member appointed to serve on a national park 
authority or a Welsh fire and rescue authority. 

 

16(a). Paragraph 16 does not apply to payments made to a chair of a Joint Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee or Sub Committee who is in receipt of a senior salary 
for a role that is not classified as full time equivalent. It continues to apply to 
leaders or members of the executive. 

Tudalen 161



 

69  

 

17. Where a member does not have, throughout the year specific responsibilities 
that allow entitlement to a senior salary, that member’s payment is to be such 
proportion of the salary as the number of days during which that member has 
such special responsibility bears to the number of days in that year. 

 
18. Where a member is suspended or partially suspended from being a member 

of the authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the authority must not make 
payments of the member’s senior salary for the duration of the suspension 

(Section 155(1) of the Measure). If the partial suspension relates only to the 
specific responsibility element of the payment, the member may retain the 
basic salary. Payment must also be withheld if directed by the Welsh 
Ministers. 

 

Co-opted member payment 
 
19. A relevant authority must provide for payments to a co-opted member as 

determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. In relation 
to this regulation ‘co-opted member’ means a member as determined in 
Section 144(5) of the Measure and set out in paragraph 2 of these 
Regulations. 

 

20. Where a co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended from an 
authority (Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the authority must not make payment 
of a co-opted member fee for the duration of the suspension (Section 155(1) 
of the Measure). 

 
Payments Contribution to Costs of Care and Personal Assistance 

 
21. Authorities must provide for the payment to members and co-opted members 

of an authority the reimbursement in respect of such expenses of arranging 
the care of children or dependants or for the individual member as are 
necessarily incurred in carrying out official business as a member or co-opted 
member of that authority. Payments under this paragraph must not be made: 

 
 In respect of any child over the age of fifteen years or dependant 

unless the member or co-opted member satisfies the authority that 
the child or dependant required supervision which has caused the 
member to incur expenses that were necessary in respect of the 
care of that child or dependant in the carrying out of the duties of a 
member or co-opted member. 

 To more than one member or co-opted member of the authority in 
relation to the care of the same child or dependant for the same 
episode of care. 

 Of more than one reimbursement for care to a member or co-opted 
member of the authority who is unable to demonstrate to the 
satisfaction of the authority that the member or co-opted member has to 
make separate arrangements for the care of different children or 
dependants. 

 

Tudalen 162



 

70  

22. The arrangements in respect of the contribution to cost of care and 
personal assistance payable by an authority is to be determined by the 
Panel in its Annual or Supplementary Reports. 

 

23. Where a member or co-opted member is suspended or partially 
suspended from being a member or co-opted member of the authority 
(Part 3 of the 2000 Act refers) the part of the contribution to the cost of 
care and personal assistance payable to that member or co-opted 
member in receipt of the responsibilities or duties from which that member 
or co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended must be 
withheld by the authority. Payment must also be withheld if directed by the 
Welsh Ministers for reasons other than suspension (Section 155(1) of the 
Measure). 

 

24. An authority’s Schedule must stipulate the arrangements regarding the 
contribution towards costs of care and personal assistance payable and its 
arrangements for making claims, taking full account of the Panel’s 
determinations in this respect. 

 

Travel and subsistence payments 
 
25. Subject to paragraphs 26 and 27 below a member or co-opted member is 

entitled to receive payments from the authority by way of travelling and 
subsistence payments at rates determined by the Panel in its Annual or 
Supplementary Reports. Such payments are in respect of expenditure 
incurred by a member or co-opted member in the performance of the official 
business within or outside the boundary of the authority. 

 

(Paragraphs 26 & 27 apply only to principal councils) 

 
26. Payment of a subsistence payment to a principal council member for the 

performance of official business within the boundaries of a county or county 
borough where they are a member should only be made when the authority 
is satisfied that it can be justified on economic grounds. This does not apply 
in respect of co-opted members of a council who live outside that authority. 

 
27. A principal council may make provision, subject to any limitations it thinks 

fit, for members to claim mileage expenses for official business in 
connection with constituency or ward responsibilities where they arise out 
of the discharge of the functions of the county or county borough. 

 

28. Where a member or co-opted member is suspended or partially suspended 
from being a member or co-opted member of the authority (Part 3 of the 2000 
Act refers), travelling and subsistence payments payable to that member or 
co- opted member in respect of the responsibilities or duties from which that 
member is suspended or partially suspended must be withheld by the 
authority. Payment must also be withheld if directed by the Welsh Ministers 
for reasons other than suspension (Section 155(1) of the Measure). 

  

Tudalen 163



 

71  

Part 3: Further provisions 
 
Pensions 

 
29. Under Section 143 of the Measure, the Panel may make determinations in 

respect of pension arrangements for principal council members in its Annual 
or Supplementary Reports. Such determinations may: 

 
 Define which members for whom the principal council will be 

required to pay a pension.  

 Describe the relevant matters in respect of which a local authority will 
be required to pay a pension. 

 Make different decisions for different principal councils. 

 
Payments to support the function of an authority member 

 
30. An authority must provide for the requirements of a member to undertake 

their role and responsibilities more effectively. The way in which this support 
should be provided is determined by the Panel in its Annual or Supplementary 
Reports. 

 

Arrangements in relation to family absence 

 
31. Part 2 of the Measure sets out the rights of principal council members in 

relation to family absence. The Panel will set out its determinations and the 
administrative arrangements in relation to these payments in its Annual or 
Supplementary Reports. 

 

Sickness Absence 

 
32.  Arrangements for long-term sickness absence of senior salary holders of 

principal councils, Fire and Rescue Authorities and National Park Authorities 
will be as set out in the Panel’s Annual Report or Supplementary Report. 

 

Part 4: Payments 
 

Repayment of payments 

 
33. An authority can require that such part of a payment be repaid where 

payment has already been made in respect of any period during which the 
member or co-opted member concerned: 

 
a. is suspended or partially suspended from that member’s or co-

opted member’s duties or responsibilities in accordance with 
Part 3 of the 2000 Act or Regulations made under that Act. 

b. ceases to be a member or co-opted member of the authority. 

Tudalen 164



 

72  

c. or in any way is not entitled to receive a salary, allowance or fee in 
respect of that period. 

 

Forgoing payments 

 
34. Under Section 154 of the Measure, any member or co-opted member may by 

notice in writing to the proper officer of the authority elect to forgo any part of 
their entitlement to a payment under the determination of the Panel for that 
particular year (as relating to the authority). 

 

Part 5: Specific provisions relating to community and town 
councils (“the council”) 
 
Interpretation 

 
35. For the purposes of this Part the term member means both an elected 

member and a co-opted member. 
 
Payments 

 
36. Payments  

 

a) The Annual Report or a Supplementary Report determines the 
arrangements and amount of an annual payment to members in respect of 
costs incurred in carrying out the role of a member and if appropriate take 
account of the variation in size or financial circumstances of different 
councils. 

b) The council may make payments to members in respect of costs of 
travel for attending approved duties within or outside the area of the 
council. The amounts claimable will be set out in the Annual or 
Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

c) The council may reimburse subsistence costs to its members when 
attending approved duties within or outside the area of the council. The 
arrangements for reimbursement will be set out in the Annual or 
Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

d) The council may pay compensation for Financial Loss to its members 
where such loss has occurred for attending approved duties within or 
outside the area of the council. The payments will be set out in the 
Annual or Supplementary Report of the Panel. 

e) The council may make a payment to the chair or mayor and deputy chair 
or mayor of the council for the purposes of undertaking the role of that 
office. The payment will be set out in the Annual or Supplementary 
Report of the Panel. 

 

f) The Annual Report or a Supplementary Report determines the 
arrangements for payments to members of a council who undertake 
senior roles and if appropriate take account of the variation in size or 
financial circumstances of different councils. 

Tudalen 165



 

73  

g) The council must reimburse the contribution to costs of care and 
personal assistance to a member if claimed, as determined in the 
Annual Report of the Panel. 

 

37. A member may elect to forgo any part of an entitlement to payment under 
these Regulations by giving notice in writing to the proper officer of the 
council. 

 

38. A member making a claim for compensation for Financial Loss must sign a 
statement that the member has not made and will not make any other claim in 
respect of the matter to which the claim relates. 

 

39. “Approved Duty” under this Part means 
 

i. Attendance at a meeting of the council or of any committee or sub- 
committee of the council or of any other body to which the council makes 
appointments or nominations or of any committee or sub-committee of 
such a body. 

ii. Attendance at any other meeting the holding of which is authorised by the 
council or a committee or sub-committee of the council, or a joint 
committee of the council and one or more councils, or a sub-committee of 
such a joint committee provided that at least two members of the council 
have been invited and where the council is divided into political groupings 
at least two such groups have been invited. 

iii. Attendance at a meeting of any association of councils of which the 
council is a member. 

iv. Attendance at any training or development event approved by the council. 

v. Any other duty approved by the council or duty of a class approved by the 
council for the discharge of its functions or any of its committees or 
sub-committees. 

 

Part 6: Miscellaneous 
 
Arrangements for payments 

 
40. The Schedule of an authority must set out the arrangements for payment to all 

members and co-opted members of that authority. Such payments may be 
made at such times and at such intervals as determined by the authority. 

 
Claims 

 
41. An authority must specify a time limit from the date on which an entitlement to 

travelling or subsistence payments arise during which a claim for must be 
made by the person to whom they are payable. However, this does not 
prevent an authority from making a payment where the allowance is not 
claimed within the period specified. 

Tudalen 166



 

74  

42. Any claim for payment of travelling, subsistence or care costs in 
accordance with these Regulations (excluding claims for travel by private 
vehicle or bicycle) shall be accompanied by appropriate receipts proving 
actual cost. 

 

Avoidance of duplication 
 
43. A claim for a payment of travelling, subsistence or care costs must include, 

or be accompanied by, a statement signed by the member or co- opted 
member that the member or co-opted member has not made and will not 
make any other claim in respect of the matter to which the claim relates. 

 

Records of payments 

 
44. An authority must keep a record of the payments made in accordance with 

these Regulations as set out in an Annual or Supplementary Report. 

 
 

Publicity requirements 
 
(The required content of publicity requirements is contained in an annex to the 
Annual Report) 

 

45. An authority must, as soon as practicable after determining its Schedule of 
Remuneration for the year under these Regulations and any Report of the 
Panel and not later than 31 July of the year to which the Schedule refers, 
arrange for the Schedule’s publication within the authority’s area and to notify 
the Panel. (This section does not apply to community and town 
councils). 

 
46. As soon as practicable and no later than 30 September following the end of 

the financial year all relevant authorities must publicise within the authority’s 
area and notify the Panel:  

 

 the total sum paid by it to each member or co-opted member in respect 
of basic salary, senior salary, co-opted member fee, travel and 
subsistence payments. 

 

 the total expenditure on contribution towards costs of care and 
personal assistance.  

 

47. In the same timescale and in the same manner, an authority must publicise 
any further remuneration received by a member nominated or appointed to 
another relevant authority. (This section applies only to principal 
councils). 

Tudalen 167



 

75  

Publicising the reports of the Panel 
 
48. Under Section 146(7) (a) and (b) of the Measure, the Panel will send a 

consultation draft of its Annual Report or Supplementary Report to all relevant 
authorities for circulation to authority members and co-opted members, so that 
representations can be made by members and co-opted members to the 
Panel, normally in a period of eight weeks. 

 
49. The Panel will determine in its Annual or Supplementary Reports the 

arrangements publicising its Reports in accordance with Section 151 and 152 
of the Measure. 

 

Monitoring compliance with the Panel’s determinations 

 
50. Section 153 of the Measure determines that relevant authorities must comply 

with the requirements imposed by the Panel in its Annual Reports. It also 
empowers the Panel to monitor the payments made by relevant authorities 
and for it to require the provision of information that it specifies. The 
requirements under this section will be set out in the Annual Report of the 
Panel. 

 

Tudalen 168



 

76  

Annex 3: Schedule of Member Remuneration 

 
1. Principal councils, national park authorities (NPAs) and Welsh fire and rescue 

authorities (FRAs) (but not community and town councils) must maintain an 
annual Schedule of Member Remuneration (the ‘Schedule’) which is in accord 
with the Panel’s determinations on member salary and co-opted member 
payments and which must contain the following information: 

 

In respect of a principal council: 
 

a. Named members who are to receive only the basic salary and the amount 
to be paid. 

b. Named members who are to receive a Band 1 and Band 2 senior salary, 
the office and portfolio held and the amount to be paid. 

c. Named members who are to receive a Band 3, Band 4 and Band 5 senior 
salary, the office and portfolio held and the amount to be paid. 

d. Named members who are to receive a civic salary and the amount to be 
paid. 

e. Named members who are to receive the co-opted member fee and whether 
chair or ordinary member and the amount to be paid. 

f. Named members who are to receive a senior salary as a chair of a Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Sub Committee and the amount to 
be paid. 

 

g. Named members in receipt of a specific or additional senior salary 
approved by the Panel and the amount to be paid. 

 

In respect of National Park and Fire and Rescue Authorities: 

 
a. Named members who are to receive a basic salary and the amount to be 

paid. 
 

b. Named member who is to receive a senior salary as a chair of the 
authority and the amount to be paid. 

 

c. Named members who are to receive a senior salary as deputy chair of 
the authority or a committee chair and the amount to be paid.  

 
d. Named members who are to receive the co-opted member fee and 

whether a chair or ordinary member and the amounts to be paid. 
 

2. Amendments made to the Schedule during the municipal year must be 
communicated to the Panel as soon as it is practicable. 

 
3. Principal councils must confirm in their annual Schedule that the maximum 

limit of senior salaries set for the council has not been exceeded. 

Tudalen 169



 

77  

4. Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must include a statement of allowable 
expenses and the duties for which they may be claimed for care, travel and 
subsistence in their annual Schedule which is in accord with the Panel’s 
determinations. 

 

5. The Schedule must set out the arrangements for the payment of salaries, 
allowances and fees to all members and co-opted members of the relevant 
authority (IRPW Regulation 35); arrangements for making claims for care and 
personal assistance, travel and subsistence expenses (IRPW Regulations 24 
and 36-37); arrangements for the avoidance of duplication (IRPW Regulation 
38) and arrangements for re-payment of salaries, allowances and fees (IRPW 
Regulation 33). This schedule must also include the duties for which members 
and co-opted members are able to claim reimbursement towards travel, 
subsistence and care and personal assistance costs. 

 
6. Principal councils must declare in the Schedule whether: 

 

 A statement of the basic responsibility of a councillor is in place. 

 Role descriptors of senior salary office holders are in place. 

 Records are kept of councillor attendance. 

 

7. Principal councils, NPAs and FRAs must make arrangements for the 
publication of the Schedule of Member Remuneration as soon as practicable 
after its determination and no later than 31 July of the year to which it applies. 
The Schedule should be published in a manner that provides ready access for 
members of the public. 

 

8. The Schedule must also be sent to the Panel Secretariat to be received by 31 

July. 

 

9.  Any changes to the schedule during the year must be promptly publicised in the 

above manner and all changes notified to Panel Secretariat promptly. 

 

10. Retention. The time limit for the schedule to be retained should be consistent 

with the council’s policy on document retention.

Tudalen 170



 

78  

Annex 4: Publication of Remuneration – the Panel’s 
Requirements 

 
In accordance with Section 151 of the Wales (Local Government) Measure 2011 the 
Panel requires that: 

 

1. Relevant authorities must publish a Statement of Payments made to its 
members for each financial year. This information must be published in a 
form and location that is easily accessible to members of the public no later 
than 30 September following the end of the previous financial year and in the 
same timescale also provided to the Panel. The following information must 
be provided: 

 

a. The amount of basic salary, senior salary, civic salary and co-opted 
member fee paid to each named member or co-opted member of the 
relevant authority, including where the member had chosen to forego all or 
part of the salary, or fee for the municipal year in question. Where a senior 
salary has been paid, the title of the senior office held is to be provided. 

b. The payments made by community and town councils to named members 
as: 

 

 Payments in respect of telephone usage, information technology, 
consumables etc. 

 Responsibility payments 

 Allowances made to a mayor or chair and deputy mayor or deputy 

chair 

 Compensation for Financial Loss 

 Costs incurred in respect of travel and subsistence 
 

c. All travel and subsistence expenses and other payments received by 
each named member and co-opted member of the relevant authority, 
with each category identified separately. 

d. The amount of any further payments received by any named member 
nominated to, or appointed by, another relevant authority or other public 
body as defined by Section 67 of the Local Government (Democracy) 
(Wales) Act 2013, namely: 

 a local health board 

 a police and crime panel 

 a relevant authority 

 a body designated as a public body in an order made by the Welsh 
Ministers. 

e. Names of members who did not receive basic or senior salary because 
they were suspended for all or part of the annual period to which the 
Schedule applies. 

f. In respect of the publication of the contribution towards costs of care 
and personal assistance, relevant authorities are only required to 

Tudalen 171



 

79  

publish the total amount reimbursed during the year. It is a matter for 
each authority to determine its response to any Freedom of 
Information requests it receives. However, it is not intended that details 
of individual claims should be disclosed. 

 
 

2. Nil returns are required to be published and provided to the Panel by 

30 September. 

 

3. Retention. The time limit for the publications to be retained should be 

consistent with the council’s policy on document retention. 

  

Tudalen 172



 

80  

Annex 5: Summary of new and updated determinations 
contained in this report 

 
The numbers of most of the determinations contained within this report have changed 
from previous reports. 
 
To assist authorities, this table sets out the determinations in this report which are 
entirely new or have been updated.  
 

Summary of new and updated determinations contained in this report 

Principal Councils 

Determination 1: 
The basic salary in 2022/23 for elected members of principal councils shall be £16,800. 

Determination 2:  
Senior salary levels in 2022/23 for members of principal councils shall be as set out in 
Table 4. 

Determination 3:  
Where paid, a civic head must be paid a Band 3 salary of £25,593 in accordance with 
Table 4. 

Determination 4:  
Where paid, a Deputy Civic Head must be paid a Band 5 salary of £20,540 in accordance 
with Table 4. 

Determination 5:  
Where appointed and if remunerated, a presiding member must be paid £25,593 in 
accordance with Table 4. 

Assistants to the Executive 

Determination 13:  
The Panel will decide on a case-by-case basis the appropriate senior salary, if any, for 
Assistants to the Executive. 

National Park Authorities 

Determination 22:  
The basic salary for NPA ordinary members shall be £4,738 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 23:  
The senior salary of the Chair of a NPA shall be £13,531 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 24: 
A NPA senior salary of £8,478 must be paid to a Deputy Chair where appointed.  

Determination 25: 
Committee Chairs or other senior posts can be paid. This shall be paid at £8,478. 

Fire and Rescue Authorities 

Determination 29:  
The basic salary for FRA ordinary members shall be £2,369 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 30:  
The senior salary of the Chair of a FRA shall be £11,162 with effect from 1 April 2022. 

Determination 31:  
A FRA senior salary of £6,109 must be paid to the Deputy Chair where appointed. 

Determination 32: 
Chairs of Committees or other senior posts can be paid. This shall be paid at £6,109.  
 

Community and Town Councils 

Determination 47:  

Tudalen 173



 

81  

Summary of new and updated determinations contained in this report 

Each council can decide to introduce an attendance allowance for members. The amount 
of each payment must not exceed £30.  
A member in receipt of financial loss will not be entitled to claim attendance allowance for 
the same event. 
 
Councils that intend to introduce a system of Attendance Allowances must set out the 
details of the scheme and publish on their website.  

Determination 51:  
The application of the Remuneration Framework by relevant Group. 

 
 

Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales  
Room N.03 
First Floor  
Crown Buildings  
Cathays Park  
Cardiff 
CF10 3NQ 
 
Telephone: 0300 0253038 
E-mail irpmailbox@gov.wales 
 
The Report and other information about the Panel and its work are available on 
our website at: 

 
Independent Remuneration Panel for Wales 
 

Tudalen 174

mailto:irpmailbox@gov.wales
http://irpw.gov.wales/


Cynllun Gwaith i’r Dyfodol Gwasanaethau Democrataidd   

 

Cyfarfod Eitem (Disgrifiad / Teitl) Pwrpas yr Adroddiad Awdur Dyddiad 
Cyflwynwyd 

25 Mawrth 
2022 

     

  RhGD Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd 

I ystyried RhGD y Pwyllgor  Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd 

Eitem sefydlog 

  Paratoadau ar gyfer y Cyngor 
newydd 

I ystyried y paratoadau gan gynnwys gwybodaeth 
i ymgeiswyr, cyfarfod sefydlu aelodau a’r rhaglen 
hyfforddiant aelodau 
 

Steve Price Mawrth 2021  

      

30 Medi 2022      

  RhGD Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd 

I ystyried RhGD y Pwyllgor  Gwasanaethau 
Democrataidd 

Eitem sefydlog 

      

      

      

T
udalen 175

E
item

 A
genda 9



Cynllun Gwaith i’r Dyfodol Gwasanaethau Democrataidd   

 
 
Ar gyfer y dyfodol 
 

Deddf Galluedd Meddyliol (Diwygio) 
2019 Nodyn: parheir i aros am 
wybodaeth ar y Ddeddf (oedi pellach 
yn sgil Covid-19 a phenderfyniad LlC 
mewn perthynas â Threfniadau 
Diogelu Rhyddid  
 

Adolygu cynnwys y Ddeddf a rheoliadau 
statudol cysylltiol a chod ymarfer (disgwylir 
cyhoeddi yn Ebrill 2020). 

Adolygu’r goblygiadau i’r Cyngor a 
phreswylwyr. 

Phil 
Gilroy/David 
Soley 

Rhagfyr 
2019 
(aildrefnwyd 
Ebrill 2020 
yn sgil 
Covid-19) 

Materion y Dyfodol     
     

Eitem (disgrifiad / teitl) Pwrpas yr Adroddiad Canlyniadau Disgwyliedig  Awdur Dyddiad 
Cyflwynwyd 

     

Prosiect Peilot Natur er Budd 
Iechyd 

Archwilio’r prosiect peilot ac ystyried a 
ddylai prosiect tebyg fod yn rhan o’r 
rhaglen Blaenoriaethau Corfforaethol 
o brosiectau 

Asesiad o fanteision y prosiect 
peilot ac unrhyw gyflawniadau 
mesuradwy a dderbyniwyd drwy 
Wasanaethau yn gweithio mewn 
partneriaeth ac o fewn cyllidebau 
presennol i benderfynu pa un a 
ddylai prosiect tebyg gael ei 
gyflwyno ar draws y sir a'i gynnwys 
yn y rhaglen Blaenoriaeth 
Gorfforaethol o brosiectau i 
gyflawni'r Cynllun Corfforaethol 

Howard Sutcliffe Erbyn GCIGC 
Gorffennaf 2019 
(gohiriwyd gyda 
chaniatâd y 
Cadeirydd Hydref 
2019, yn 
ddarostyngedig i 
waith pellach gael 
ei wneud ar y 
cynnig) 

Y wybodaeth ddiweddaraf yn 
dilyn casgliad ymchwiliad a 
gynhaliwyd gan yr Asiantaeth 
Troseddu Cenedlaethol i gam-
drin hanesyddol yng Nghartrefi 
Gofal Plant Gogledd Cymru 
 
 (o bosibl y Gwanwyn 2021?) 

Rhoi’r wybodaeth ddiweddaraf i’r 
Pwyllgor am ganlyniad ymchwiliad yr 
Asiantaeth Troseddu Cenedlaethol i 
gam-drin plant yng ngofal y cyn 
Gyngor Sir Clwyd, a phenderfynu a 
oes angen adolygu unrhyw 
weithdrefnau.  

Penderfynu pa un a oes angen 
adolygu unrhyw un o bolisïau a 
gweithdrefnau diogelu’r Cyngor yn 
sgil canfyddiadau’r Asiantaeth 
Troseddau Cenedlaethol 

Nicola Stubbins Tachwedd 2012 
 
 

 

T
udalen 176



Cynllun Gwaith i’r Dyfodol Gwasanaethau Democrataidd   

 -gwirio 
gyda’r 
swyddog 
arweiniol yn 
yr hydref 
2021 pa un a 
fydd ar gael 

 
 

    

 
 
 
Adroddiadau Gwybodaeth/Ymgynghori 
 

Gwybodaeth/Ymgynghori Eitem 
(disgrifiad / 

teitl) 

Pwrpas yr Adroddiad Awdur Dyddiad 
Cyflwynwyd 

Adroddiad er 
gwybodaeth 
 (i’w ddosbarthu Gorffennaf 
2021) 

Monitro 
Darparwyr Gofal 
Allanol yn 
Chwarterol 

Darparu manylion monitro rheolaidd darparwyr gwasanaeth gofal 
allanol a gomisiynwyd gan y cyngor ar gyfer gwasanaethau gofal 
cymdeithasol, gan nodi unrhyw bryderon sy’n codi neu feysydd eraill 
sy’n achosi pryder. 

Katie Newe/Ben 
Chandler 

Gan GCIGC 
2018 

ADRODDIAD ER 
GWYBODAETH 
 (Mehefin 2021) 

Adroddiad 
Blynyddol 
Gwasanaeth 
Caffael 
Cydweithredol 

Derbyn gwybodaeth ar weithgaredd y Gwasanaeth cydweithredol a 
pherfformiad yn erbyn targedau yn y Strategaeth Gaffael 2019/20 

Gary 
Williams/Sue 
Rees 

Gan GCIGC 
Mawrth 
2020 

ADRODDIAD ER 
GWYBODAETH 
 (i’w ddosbarthu ym mis 
Medi (C1) a Chwefror (C3) 
bob blwyddyn) 
 

Bwrdd Uchelgais 
Economaidd 
Gogledd Cymru 

Darparu gwybodaeth ar berfformiad a chynnydd y Bwrdd i gyflawni 
ei flaenoriaethau a phrosiectau yn unol â’r amodau rhwng y Bwrdd a 
Llywodraethau Cymru a’r DU. 

BUEGC Gan GCIGC 
Mawrth 
2021 

T
udalen 177



Cynllun Gwaith i’r Dyfodol Gwasanaethau Democrataidd   

Medi 2021 a Chwefror 
2022 

 
Rhaglen Waith Craffu ar Bartneriaethau.doc 
Diweddarwyd 10.9.2021 - SP 
 
  

T
udalen 178



Cynllun Gwaith i’r Dyfodol Gwasanaethau Democrataidd   

Nodyn i Swyddogion - Dyddiadau Cau Adroddiadau Pwyllgor 
 

Cyfarfod Erbyn pryd Cyfarfod Erbyn pryd Cyfarfod Erbyn pryd 

      

20 Mai 6 Mai 8 Gorffennaf 24 Mehefin  16 Medi  2 Medi  

 
Rhaglen Waith Craffu ar Bartneriaethau.doc 

T
udalen 179



M
ae tudalen hw

n yn fw
riadol w

ag


	Rhaglen
	2 DATGAN CYSYLLTIAD
	4 COFNODION
	Cofnodion

	5 CYNIGION I AELODAU FABWYSIADU FFYRDD NEWYDD O WEITHIO
	Appendix 1 NWoW 1a
	PROTOCOL Hybrid October 2021_V3

	6 AMRYWIAETH MEWN DEMOCRATIAETH
	Appendix 1 WLGA report diversity in democracy
	5 DIVERSITY IN DEMOCRACY
	210305 WLGA Working Group on Diversity in Local Democracy (00000002)
	107. Political parties were encouraged, through the Diversity in Democracy programme, to commit to gender targets at the 2017 elections and Welsh Labour, for example, committed to fielding women in 40% of winnable seats.
	108. Other initiatives, such as 50-50 by 2020 have previously adopted targets and the Welsh Government’s recently published ‘Diversity and inclusion strategy for public appointmentsP2F P’ includes an action for:
	‘Welsh Government to consult and if desired set overall targets across all Boards in Wales for BAME, disabled, LGBT+ and young people and socioeconomic groups, recognising that individual Boards have varying specific requirements.’



	Appendix 2 WLGA Letter re Diversity in Democracy
	Appendix 3 Diverse Council Declaration

	7 RÔL CEFNOGWR POBL IFANC
	Champions App 1
	Champions App 2
	Champions App 3
	Champions App 4
	Appendix 5 Young Person's Champion role description

	8 ADRODDIAD BLYNYDDOL DRAFFT AR BANEL ANNIBYNNOL CYMRU AR GYDNABYDDIAETH ARIANNOL 2022-2023
	Appendix 2 IRPW report to Committee Nov 21
	IRPW draft annual-report (3)

	9 RHAGLEN GWAITH I'R DYFODOL

